
Date Published: 29 October 2018     

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 6 November 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 30 
October 2018. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairman 

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 30 October 2018. Please send questions to the 
Chief Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairman 

6  Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 (Pages 5 - 42) Sarah Scott

7  Self Harm Update (Pages 43 - 74) Beth Bennett-
Britton

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

8  Proposal for loneliness/social isolation deep dive 

The Board to discuss whether to undertake a deep dive and how this could 
be structured.

For information HMG A connected society: A strategy for tackling loneliness – 
laying the foundations for change is available at this link 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/750909/6.4882_DCMS_Loneliness_Strategy_web_Update.pdf. 

 

Mary Hutton, 
Cllr Roger 
Wilson

9  Air Quality and health deep dive (Pages 75 - 144) Dave 
McConalogue, 
Philip Williams

10  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWBS) update (Pages 145 - 150) Zoe Clifford

INFORMATION ITEM

11  General Report on Activity on HWB matters in Gloucestershire (Pages 
151 - 156)

Mary Hutton

Membership – Ingrid Barker (Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust), Chris Brierley 
(Representing Police and Crime Commissioner), Andy Hermiston (Deputy Chief Fire Offcier), 
Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Peter Lachecki (Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), ACC Julian Moss (Representing Chief Constable), 
Rachel Pearce (NHS England), Pat Pratley (Cheltenham Borough Council), Dr Hein Le Roux 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), 
Dr Andy Seymour (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of 
Children's Services), PCC Martin Surl (Police and Crime Commissioner), Alan Thomas 
(Healthwatch Gloucestershire), Cllr Jennie Watkins (Leadership Gloucestershire) and 
Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Kathy Williams and Cllr Roger Wilson

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/750909/6.4882_DCMS_Loneliness_Strategy_web_Update.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/750909/6.4882_DCMS_Loneliness_Strategy_web_Update.pdf
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 17 July 
2018 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Ingrid Barker
Cllr Richard Boyles
Chris Brierley
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Peter Lachecki
ACC Julian Moss

Pat Pratley
Dr Hein Le Roux
Alan Thomas
Cllr Jennie Watkins
Margaret Willcox OBE
Cllr Roger Wilson

Substitutes: Chris Brierley (In place of the Police and Crime Commissioner)
ACC Julian Moss (In place of the Chief Constable)

Officers in attendance: Tim Browne – Head of Education
Alison Walker – Headteacher Moat Primary School
Zoe Clifford – Public Health Consultant
Charlotte Bigland – Public Health Speciality Registrar
Dr Tanya Richardson – Public Health Consultant
Kim Forey – Director of Integration

Apologies: Cllr Kathy Williams, Andy Seymour

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

18. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 20 March 2018 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

19. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions had been received.

20. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member questions had been received.

21. PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
STRATEGY FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

21.1 The Board had planned for a refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWBS) 
and the recent LGA Prevention System Peer Review supported this proposal. Zoe Clifford, 
Public Health Consultant, outlined the proposals, including the engagement activity, to take 
this matter forward, informed by the Board’s Development Meeting on 15 May 2018. 

21.2 With regard to the Leadership Model, Figure 1, members commented that there were a lot 
of Boards managing these areas and it would be important not to duplicate work that was 
already in process, but rather take the opportunity to influence and inform. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

21.3 The Board welcomed the involvement of the district councils. It was commented that it 
could be helpful for the Board to review its membership to include all the district councils. 
The Director of Public Health acknowledged that the district councils were key to the 
delivery of the JHWBS; and that she would take away the membership question as an 
action.
ACTION: Sarah Scott

21.4 It was also agreed that the LEP was a valid partner in this work. 

21.5 It was commented that the Gloucestershire 2050 vision was focused on infrastructure and it 
was questioned where were the ideas relating to children? It was commented that the 
Board should aim to influence this work. The Chairman reminded the Board that following 
the Board Development meeting in May 2018 the Board agreed to send a response to the 
Vision 2050 consultation. The proposed response had been sent to members for 
comment/approval, and the Chairman urged members to respond to this email as soon as 
possible if they had any comments to add.

21.6 The Board agreed that it could support the principles and the leadership model, and the 
proposed timeline for the development of the strategy. Board Members Pat Pratley, Jennie 
Watkins, Mary Hutton, and Chris Brierley indicated that they would wish to be members of 
the steering group.

22. DRAFT CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP FRAMEWORK 
22.1 Charlotte Bigland, Public Health Registrar, informed the Board on the background and 

context to the development of the draft children, young people and families partnership 
framework. This would be a whole system approach, which placed the child at the centre, 
listened to their voice and ensured that their needs remained central to all activity. It was 
important to ensure that this framework was effective; delivering good outcomes for 
children and young people. 

22.2 The Director of Children’s Services informed the Board that he supported this work. The 
system has lacked an overall strategy from which to ‘hang’ significant interventions. He felt 
that this report outlined a good framework to take forward. 

22.3 It was agreed that it would be important to engage with children, and their families, on the 
development of this framework. The Board was assured that stakeholders and families 
would be involved, particularly to help test evidence, and identify priorities. 

22.4 It was commented that communities were a key stakeholder and partners in this work, 
particularly with regard to resilience and prevention. 

22.5 The Board agreed that it could support the draft framework, and approved it for county-
wide consultation.

23. ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES - UPDATE 
23.1 ACC Julian Moss and Dr Tanya Richardson, Public Health Consultant, gave a detailed 

presentation outlining the vision, strategy, communications plan, branding for the ACEs 
movement in Gloucestershire, and drew the Board’s attention to the seven key messages 
that everyone, panel members and Board members, could take to meetings. (For 
information the presentation slides were uploaded to the council website and included in 
the minute book.) 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

23.2 The Chairman thanked ACC Moss, Dr Richardson and the Panel, commenting that they 
had achieved a lot in the first six months of this work. Board members echoed the 
Chairman’s comments, and agreed that progress has been impressive.

23.3 It was suggested that this work was shared with the Integrated Locality Boards, and that 
this work would link with community connectors and social prescribing. It was important to 
be aware of how we could add to each other’s efforts. 

23.4 The Director of Children’s Services informed the Board that he felt that this was a great 
piece of work; particularly the message of hope. He informed members that the statement 
that resilience trumps ACEs was true; he never ceased to be surprised at how resilient 
children could be. He felt that this strategy gave real hope.

23.5 The Board agreed that how to link this work into schools was important. The level of 
exclusions (fixed term and permanent) in the county was high. The Board was informed 
that Restorative Practice could deliver change in schools. ACC Moss also informed the 
meeting that he has met with the Gloucestershire Association of Primary Headteachers, the 
Gloucestershire Association of Secondary Headteachers, and the Gloucestershire 
Association of Special School Headteachers. He has also arranged for information on 
ACEs to be included in the ‘What’s Up Gov’ and ‘Heads Up’ e-zines for Headteachers and 
School Governors.

23.6 A particular challenge for the Panel was the number of requests coming in to present to 
other bodies on this issue. 

23.7 The Board supported the branding messages, and agreed that positive supportive 
messages were the way to go. 

23.8 Cllr Jennie Watkins, a member of the Panel, informed the Board that it was a privilege to 
work on this Panel, and was clear that this was about starting a movement. She thought it 
likely that there would be challenge in the future regarding evidencing improved outcomes, 
but felt that with viral change it could be difficult to keep track of all outcomes. 

23.9 Board members therefore agreed: -
 To the Panel continuing its work and to receive a further update at the Board’s 

meeting on 6 November 2018,
 To share this update report with the attendees of the meeting on 28 November 

2017, 
 To approve the ACEs strategy, 
 To approve the ACEs Communications Strategy,  
 To become an ACEs Champion,  
 To identify the key people in their organisation to attend the ACEs Practitioner 

Conference,
 To consider what and how they could contribute to the ACEs movement.

24. PERMANENT EXCLUSION TASK GROUP REPORT 
24.1 Cllr Lesley Williams, Task Group member, presented the report.

24.2 The Board welcomed the report and agreed to the recommendations in the report relating 
to Adverse Childhood Experiences, in that the ACEs Panel would:- 

 Ensure that those officers, across all partners, that directly work with and support 
permanently excluded young people, and those at risk of permanent exclusion, are 
invited to the planned practitioner conference. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

 Within its ACEs and Communications Strategies, identify and realise opportunities 
for working with schools, early years settings, further education and higher 
education settings, to ensure that an ACEs informed approach was recognised by 
education leadership teams and reflected in their school policies and practice.  

 Deliver a Members Seminar to inform the wider council, and district council, 
membership of the aims and objectives of an ACEs informed approach. 

25. RESTORATIVE PRACTICE IN SCHOOLS 
25.1 Tim Browne, Head of Education, and Alison Walker, Headteacher Moat Primary School, 

presented on and discussed the principles and practice involved in a Restorative Practice 
approach in schools. (For information the presentation slides were uploaded to the council 
website and included in the minute book.) 

25.2 The Board was informed that being excluded from school brought with it a significant social 
cost to the child/young person; school exclusion could lead to social exclusion. The 
personal cost could be incalculable and tragic. Alongside this was the financial cost to the 
wider society; for every excluded child the additional costs (eg. health, criminal justice, 
social care) was around £370k. 

25.3 Ms Walker explained that Restorative Practice was not a behaviour strategy but rather an 
ethos; a complete change of mind-set. She felt that if the adults could change their mind-
set then everything could change. She was clear that this was not a simple or 
straightforward process; in her school there had been challenges from staff, pupils and 
parents. However the school was now starting to see real change. The Robinswood 
Academy Trust, which included Moat Primary School, was now rolling out Restorative 
Practice to the other three schools in the Trust.

25.4 The Board was impressed with what has been achieved at the Moat Primary School, and 
thanked Ms Walker for attending today’s meeting and sharing her experience. It was clear 
that strong leadership was an important factor in the success of Restorative Practice. 
Board members agreed that Restorative Practice should be considered as an option by all 
schools.

26. JOINT COMMISSIONING ANNUAL REPORT 
26.1 Kim Forey, Director of Integration, gave a detailed presentation of the report which 

demonstrated all the work undertaken by the joint commissioning teams in the previous 12 
months. She informed the Board that Gloucestershire was recognised nationally for its 
integrated commissioning practice, and that officers had been contributing to the 
development of the adult social care green paper. 

26.2 The Board welcomed the update and agreed to note progress on the integration of 
community based commissioning and aligned areas.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12:01

Page 4



LEADING  
THE WAY TO 
WELLBEING 
THE MENTAL WEALTH  
OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Report of the  
Director of Public Health  
2017/18

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 6



Foreword 3

What is mental wellbeing?  4

 Glow and the  
gloucestershire commitment 6

Promoting good mental health 
and wellbeing from the earliest age 9

Helping people build the five ways  
to wellbeing into their everyday lives 15

Creating and sustaining the  
conditions for good mental wellbeing 20

 Working in partnership to  
prevent self-harm and suicide 25

 Building mental health-friendly  
communities and workforces 31

Glossary 35

References 36

2Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

CONTENTS

My thanks go to members of the Gloucestershire 

County Council public health, communications 

and data analysis teams who have helped to 

draft and produce this year’s annual report:

Jennifer Taylor, Suzie Lane, Frances Clark-Stone, Nicky 

Maunder, Charlotte Bigland, Tanya Richardson, Di 

Billingham, Vicky Powell, Hannah Britton and Rowan 

Renow-Clarke with design by David at Whistle & Taylor.

I would also like to thank those partners who are 

already delivering positive actions to promote  

mental wellbeing and who have shared their  

good work in this report.

Finally, I’d like to thank those Gloucestershire  

residents who shared their own thoughts on  

mental wellbeing as part of this year’s report.

I welcome your thoughts on this report and  

hope it inspires you to get involved and to  

commit to promoting good mental health  

and wellbeing and preventing mental illness.

Please get in touch with me by emailing  

sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
AND CONTACT DETAILS

P
age 6



Ever since the mental health strategy for 

England, No Health Without Mental Health 1, 

was published in 2011, the subject has gained 

a growing profile, both within public services 

and amongst the population. 

Given that mental health problems are one of the  

main causes of the overall disease burden worldwide2, 

this is really positive.

Much of the attention and effort has, quite understandably, 

focused on the provision of good quality and timely 

treatment and support for people living with mental illness. 

These services are critical and there is always more to be 

done to continue to improve them, but it is now time to 

put greater emphasis on the promotion of good mental 

health and wellbeing and the prevention of mental illness.

The topic of my annual report this year is mental 

wellbeing. The World Health Organization defines 

this as “a state where everyone is able to realise their 

potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can 

work productively and fruitfully and is able to make 

a contribution to their community.”3 Good mental 

wellbeing can prevent self-harm, suicide and the onset 

or deterioration of mental illness and aid recovery.

My report sets out five mental wellbeing priorities for 

Gloucestershire’s Public Health team and our partners:

•  Promoting good mental health and wellbeing  

from the earliest age;

•  Helping people build the Five Ways  

to Wellbeing into their everyday lives;

•  Creating and sustaining the conditions  

for good mental wellbeing;

•  Working in partnership to prevent  

self-harm and suicide;

•  Building mental health-friendly  

communities and workforces.

Although this report covers mental wellbeing for all, 

we know that some people, including those living in 

areas of socioeconomic disadvantage, are more likely 

to have poor mental health and wellbeing than others4 

and that some of our work must be more targeted to 

address this.

This year, the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing 

Board launched GloW (Gloucestershire Wellbeing): 

Positive actions for better mental wellbeing. At the 

heart of GloW is a commitment: to promote good 

mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness.

I’m delighted that, at the time of writing, 29 

Gloucestershire organisations have signed this 

commitment and pledged actions to support it.

My role – and the role of the public health team 

– is to provide leadership to the GloW movement, 

but its success will require all of us to play a part: 

organisations, communities and individuals. 

As such, this report celebrates not only activity led 

by the county council, but by many of our partners. 

Equally, delivery of its recommendations should be 

considered a priority by everyone across the system.

I hope you find this report interesting and informative 

but also that it inspires you to work with us to make 

Gloucestershire a county where everyone has the 

opportunity, tools and support to have good  

mental wellbeing.

FOREWORD

Sarah Scott 

Director of Public Health 
October 2018

3Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

P
age 7



WHAT IS MENTAL 
WELLBEING?

The definition of mental wellbeing can be very 

personal. I asked people to tell me about what 

mental wellbeing means to them. 

You’ll find their responses throughout the report.  I was 

struck by the individuality of the responses, but also 

the many similarities.

“Mental is your head or 
brain and wellbeing is what 
emotions inside make you 
feel happy” 

(Jamie, 10, Gloucester)“To me, it means being happy, not 
stressed, comfortable in my own 
skin, at peace with myself and 
others around me, being able to 
stick to what is good for me and 
avoiding what isn’t, accepting 
what happens in life and moving 
on whether it’s good or bad.” 

 (Anonymous male, 40s, Gloucester)

“Good relationships, a balance 
achieved between what you have 
to do and what you want to do, 
avoiding unnecessary stress and 
capacity to manage life’s challenges 
and to have or know you can call 
upon support when need.” 

 (Anonymous male, late 50s, Gloucester)

“It’s about feeling good 
about yourself and being 
resilient enough to cope 
with the world.”  

(Deborah, 30s, Administrator,  

Forest of Dean)

“Mental wellbeing to me means that 
a person can think, make decisions 
and be themselves on a daily basis 
without feeling any type of anxiety 
or depression. Living life without 
any doubt or fear.” 

 (Ellie, 28, Self-Employed, Gloucester)

4Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

P
age 8



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 5

‘Mental wellbeing’ can seem  

like a difficult concept to define. 

I am using it in this report as distinct from – but related 

to – ‘mental health’, which is often considered to be 

defined by the absence of a mental illness. 

There is a lot of crossover between these concepts 

and this report touches on them all. It is important to 

make this distinction because it is possible to have a 

diagnosed mental illness and to experience mental 

wellbeing or vice versa, as described below.

The New Economics Foundation (NEF) 6 says:

“The concept of wellbeing comprises two main 

elements: feeling good and functioning well. 

“Feelings of happiness, contentment, enjoyment, 

curiosity and engagement are characteristic of 

someone who has a positive experience of their life. 

“Equally important for wellbeing is our functioning in  

the world. Experiencing positive relationships, having 

some control over one’s life and having a sense of 

purpose are all important attributes of wellbeing.”

Poor levels of mental wellbeing can also have  

an impact on a range of other aspects of our  

lives, including our social and family relationships;  

our achievements in school or work; and our  

health behaviours, such as what we eat and  

whether or not we exercise.

A focus on mental wellbeing is therefore a  

vital component of the work our whole system  

does to improve the health, wellbeing and  

quality of life of our population.

(Adapted from Keyes’s Languishing/Flourishing Continuum 5 )

LANGUISHING 
WITHOUT 
MENTAL 
ILLNESS

LANGUISHING 
WITH MENTAL 
ILLNESS

FLOURISHING 
WITHOUT 
MENTAL 
ILLNESS

FLOURISHING 
WITH 
MENTAL 
ILLNESS

LANGUISHING FLOURISHING

MENTAL  
HEALTH

MENTAL  
ILLNESS

P
age 9



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 66Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

GLOW AND THE  
GLOUCESTERSHIRE COMMITMENT 

Led by the Gloucestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Board, we are creating a 

countywide movement to promote good 

mental wellbeing and prevent mental illness. 

We’ve started this by launching GloW: a commitment 

to taking positive action to improve mental wellbeing 

for everyone in Gloucestershire. 

The aim of the campaign is to increase focus on the 

contributing factors of mental wellbeing – where 

we live, our education and employment, our social 

and community networks – and help organisations 

and communities recognise where they can make 

improvements to have a positive impact on our day to 

day wellbeing. 

By looking to make a difference to these, we are able 

to improve the mental wellbeing of Gloucestershire 

residents, and prevent mental illness in the future. 

This is a new approach for health and social care 

services as historically mental wellbeing has been 

considered only when a person feels they want to raise 

concerns with a professional or person of trust, and 

then treatment may follow. 

When we focus on the factors that affect our wellbeing 

day to day, we are in a better position to keep 

ourselves well and less likely to hit crisis point. 

At the heart of GloW is the Gloucestershire 

Commitment, signed by organisations in the public, 

private and voluntary sectors who want to pledge to be 

a part of the movement. 

This is based on the national Prevention Concordat for 

Better Mental Health, led by Public Health England -

The wide range of partners who have already signed 

the Gloucestershire Commitment can be seen at  

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow

www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health

P
age 10



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 7

1.  We agree that mental health and 

wellbeing is everyone’s business, and 

all organisations have a role to play 

in promoting a prevention-focussed 

approach towards improving the public’s 

mental health. 

2.  We understand that in order to make the 

biggest impact on the public’s mental 

health, we must commit to considering 

all factors that influence wellbeing, for 

all individuals, including influences that 

may not traditionally be thought of 

under the lens of mental health.

3.  We recognise the need for a shift 

towards prevention-focussed leadership 

and action throughout the system to 

promote better mental health. The 

use of more upstream interventions 

will ensure that wellbeing is promoted 

and protected earlier, preventing the 

development of mental ill health.   

4.  We agree that an increased focus on the 

prevention of mental health problems 

and the promotion of wellbeing for all 

should draw on the expertise of people 

with lived experience of mental health 

problems, and the wider community, to 

identify solutions.

5.  We will work collaboratively across 

organisational boundaries, disciplines 

and sectors, to continue to build and 

harness the assets of local communities 

which impact positively on mental 

health. This will ensure that place-

based initiatives and activities that 

already exist, as well as newly developed 

interventions, are sustainable and 

continue to benefit local communities’ 

mental wellbeing. 

6.  We will build a workforce that 

understands the wider determinants 

of mental health and what influences 

wellbeing. Our workforce will also 

understand the impact that we, as 

employees as well as residents and 

members of our own local communities, 

can have on promoting good mental 

wellbeing. We will build capacity and 

capability to ensure that the workforce 

demonstrates awareness of promoting 

wellbeing at every opportunity through 

everyday working practices.  

7.  We are committed to supporting each 

other to adopt this concordat and its 

approach.

THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE COMMITMENT
Signed-up organisations are committed to promoting good mental health and wellbeing and preventing mental illness.  

This means:

P
age 11



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 8

To sign up to the Gloucestershire 

Commitment, organisations are required  

to pledge an action to put it into practice. 

This can either be within their working practice with 

clients or service users, or within their staff or volunteer 

team. All of the actions pledged so far can be found at 

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow . 

Below are a few examples of actions pledged.  

Each year, those who have pledged actions are  

asked to give an update on their progress.

We know that there is already a great deal of activity 

going on in the county that could be considered  

under the GloW banner. 

Some of it is celebrated in this report. We’re starting to 

map this activity so that we can make positive connections 

and learn and share good practice but also so that we can 

identify any gaps where more work is needed.

This will inform our partnership plans for action over  

the coming years, based on local need and evidence  

of what works.

Age UK  
Gloucestershire

“Age UK Gloucestershire is committed to offering older 

people an opportunity to improve and sustain mental 

wellbeing through peer to peer support and activity.  

AUKG will further build on its Springboard Group  

hub model, promoting and supporting the growth  

of groups available to older people  

across Gloucestershire. 

Older people will gain opportunities to work within  

the Springboard Groups and with other local 

community organisations to rebuild their own 

resilience and offer encouragement to others.”

Gloucester  
City Council 

1.  “We will provide Mental Health First Aid  

training to our Members, Staff and Volunteers

2.  In continuing our journey to becoming a dementia 

friendly council, we commit to ensure that 70%  

of our staff and members are ‘Dementia Friends’  

by March 2019

3.  We will train appropriate front-line services to 

recognise and respond appropriately to Adverse 

Childhood Experiences (ACEs) by March 2019

4.  In designing our customer facing spaces, we will 

ensure that these are physiologically informed and 

meet the requirements of residents with mental 

health conditions.”

Gloucestershire  
Constabulary 

“The Constabulary is committed to promoting  

and supporting the positive physical and mental  

health and wellbeing of our staff and volunteers. 

We will achieve this through implementing a structured 

programme of evidence-based activity that develops 

supportive leaders and impacts positively on all aspects 

that contribute to the wellness of our people.  

Locally all activity will be co-ordinated through our 

Supportive Leadership & Wellbeing Steering Group and 

nationally all of our activity will be assessed through 

our MIND (mental health) action plan and through the 

Emergency Services Blue Light (Oscar Kilo) Wellbeing 

Framework.”

TAKING ACTION TO  
MAKE A DIFFERENCE

P
age 12



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 99Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

PROMOTING GOOD MENTAL HEALTH  
AND WELLBEING FROM THE EARLIEST AGE

“Being happy being you.” 

(Matilda, 10, Stroud)

“It’s how you are coping 
with what’s going on. If you 
let the stuff get you down, 
how you sort your stuff.” 

(Shayne, 16, Apprentice, Gloucester)

My last annual report focused on children  

and young people in Gloucestershire, setting 

out ambitious plans to secure their health  

and wellbeing. 

This includes plans to improve their mental health and 

wellbeing from the earliest age, including supporting 

the mental health and wellbeing of parents during the 

perinatal period.

Over half of mental health problems in adulthood begin 

by the age of 14 and 75% by the age of 18 7. 

This means it is imperative we focus on children and 

young people’s mental wellbeing and its determinants, 

not just to improve the quality of their life now,  

but also to prevent the longer lasting impact on  

their mental health.

Gloucestershire’s Online Pupil Survey (OPS) surveys 

thousands of school age children and young people  

in the county every two years. 

Included in this survey is the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental 

Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS), which pupils are asked to 

score themselves against, giving us an insight into self-

reported levels of mental wellbeing amongst the school 

aged population. 

“Having a snuggle with mummy. 
Or playing football.  Or pasta 
with cheese. Or Ninjago lego.  
Or Mario racing. But not when 
you have to have a shower if you 
are not muddy.”  

(Edward, 6, Stroud)

P
age 13



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 10

We can see that the average WEMWBS score declines 

in the older year groups and that this decline is sharper 

amongst girls, although these scores remain in the 

‘Average emotional mental wellbeing’ category.

Recent activity in Gloucestershire – including a pilot 

project to better link mental health services to schools 

and an improved counselling offer for young people – has 

highlighted anxiety as the most commonly reported issue, 

increasing as children grow into their teenage years.

Some young people use self-harm as a coping 

mechanism for emotional distress. In Gloucestershire, 

there is a higher rate of young people admitted to 

hospital for self-harm than in England. More recently, 

however, the Gloucestershire rate has improved against 

the South West rate.

However, hospital admissions only tell us part of the 

story; research suggests that amongst 15-17 year olds, 

there is a rate ratio for hospital-presenting self-harm to 

community self-harm of 1:7 8.  

The Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey (OPS) asks 

pupils in years 8 and 10 whether they have ever self-

harmed or taken an overdose (the most common 

reason for admission to hospital for self-harm).

WEMWBS scores can be 
categorised as:
SCORE 

59-70

41-59

33-40

 0-32

 High emotional  

and mental wellbeing 

Average emotional  

and mental wellbeing 

Below average emotional  

and mental wellbeing

Very low emotional  

and mental wellbeing 

Yr 1               Yr 5              Yr 8              Yr 10

Year Group

A
ve

ra
g

e
 W

E
M

W
B

S 
Sc

o
re

Boys

Girls

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Average WEMWBS Score by Year Group 
and Sex (Online Pupil Survey, 2016)

P
age 14



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 11

All      Girls      Boys

This graph shows that both self-harm and overdosing is 

more common in girls, with Year 10 girls most likely to 

report doing so. This is broadly in line with national trends, 

although estimates vary significantly.  

Section 7 outlines the work we have been doing with 

partners to reduce and prevent self-harm and improve the 

pathways to support those who do.

Prevalence of mental health conditions in children and 

young people in England is based on data from 2003, 

so is unlikely to accurately reflect the current situation. 

However, it suggests that 1 in 10 children between the 

ages of 5-16 years have a clinically diagnosed mental 

disorder 9. 

Based on 2017 population estimates, this means  

around 7,075 children aged 5-16 in Gloucestershire 

have a diagnosed mental health condition, which 

would require treatment in primary care or in specialist 

mental health services.

However, there are risk factors that mean some 

children and young people may be more likely to have 

or go on to develop poor mental health. 

These could include having a long-term physical 

illness; having a parent with mental health or 

substance misuse problems; being bereaved; 

experiencing abuse; living in poverty; experiencing 

discrimination; being a young carer; or having learning 

difficulties 10. 

Action to support these children and young people – 

helping them to build resilience and protective factors 

to improve and maintain their wellbeing and prevent 

the onset of poor mental health and mental illness – is 

a particular focus of our work. One aspect of this is our 

work on ACEs.

Year 8                           Year 10

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%

Year Group

% of young people reporting that they have 
never self-harmed or taken an overdose 
(Online Pupil Survey, 2016)P

age 15



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 12

In my last annual report, I highlighted 

our early thinking on Adverse Childhood 

Experiences (ACEs): how we can prevent 

them and how we can mitigate their impact 

so that ACEs don’t have to mean poor 

outcomes for the children and young people 

of Gloucestershire. 

A study by Public Health Wales 11 found that people 

who experienced 4 or more ACEs were 6.1 times more 

likely to have received treatment for mental illness 

and 9.5 times more likely to have self-harmed or felt 

suicidal. 

They also had increased likelihood of other, 

interconnected outcomes, such as substance misuse, 

incarceration and physical health conditions.

Since my last report, the Gloucestershire Health & 

Wellbeing Board has formed an Advisory Panel on 

ACEs, which has developed a local strategy, setting out 

what partners intend to do to prevent, intervene early 

and overcome the effects of ACEs. 

This complements and will be aligned with the work 

outlined in the forthcoming Children, Young People 

and Families Partnership Framework to:

• Reduce sources of stress;

• Support responsive relationships;

• Strengthen core life skills.

The Gloucestershire  
ACEs Strategy proposes to:

•  raise awareness and understanding of ACEs with 

communities and organisations through delivery of a 

co-ordinated local campaign;

•  implement training to equip communities and 

organisations to respond appropriately to ACEs;

•  continue to work in partnership with communities 

and organisations to build resilience through 

encouraging trusted relationships and developing 

core life skills;

•  develop relevant resources and information for 

people identified with ACEs who need signposting 

to further sources of support;

•  increase our understanding of the distribution of 

ACEs across Gloucestershire;

•  incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant 

organisational policies, strategies and contracts (to 

include safeguarding policies, referral screening 

tools, etc.); and

•  evaluate interventions and share good practice 

and positive outcomes from ACEs work across 

Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond.

SPOTLIGHT  
ON ACES

P
age 16



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 13

Future in Mind – making it easier for  

children and young people to access  

help as early as possible 

Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind Transformation Plan 

has seen increased focus on children and young 

people’s mental health and wellbeing across all levels 

of need. 

In particular, the plan has led to additional investment 

by Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) and county council in prevention and early 

intervention.

Following feedback from young people, the On Your 

Mind website (www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk) was 

launched to provide information and advice about a 

range of topics affecting young people’s mental health 

and wellbeing, how young people can help themselves 

and their friends and the local services and support 

they can access. 

The site is designed to be attractive and accessible to 

young people and includes artwork designed by them 

during a workshop with a professional illustrator. 

In 2016/17, there were 8,236 page users,  

rising to 18,832 in 2017/18.

To improve early intervention in the county, the CCG 

has also increased the availability of evidence based 

counselling for young people who are in emotional 

distress for a range of reasons. 

This is provided by the voluntary sector organisation, 

TIC+, through both face-to-face provision and a new 

online counselling service (www.ticplus.org.uk). 

TIC+ work closely with the Children and Young People 

Service (CYPS) and will ensure that young people with 

a higher level of need are supported by the specialist 

mental health service. In 2017/18 TIC+ saw 1,672 

children, young people and families for counselling. 

www.onyourmindglos.nhs.uk

WHAT’S ALREADY 
HAPPENING IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

The top ten issues reported by young 
people using TIC in 2017/2018

ANXIETY/WORRY/STRESS

FAMILY RELATIONSHIP 
PROBLEMS

ANGER

LOW SELF- ESTEEM

FRIENDSHIP PROBLEMS

DEPRESSION

SLEEP PROBLEMS

SCHOOL WORK

SUICIDAL THOUGHTS

85%

43%
43%
30%
28%
28%
26%
17%

60%

P
age 17



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 14

There is already a great deal of work going 

on in Gloucestershire to improve and sustain 

children and young people’s mental health 

and wellbeing. 

Much of this is not directly described as mental health 

and wellbeing work but will have a positive impact. 

However, there are some specific areas of focus for 

Public Health and our partners in the near future:

•  Rolling out the ACEs Strategy, so that partners and 

communities across Gloucestershire can understand, 

talk about and act on ACEs;

•  Influencing the new Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

for Gloucestershire, ensuring the mental wellbeing 

needs of children and young people are well 

understood and incorporated as appropriate;

•  Supporting the actions and strategy to create a 

child friendly county, ensuring children and young 

people’s mental wellbeing is a key consideration;

•  Continuing to support schools to implement early 

interventions to promote good mental health using 

whole school approaches;

•  Working with the CCG and other partners to 

continue to implement the Gloucestershire 

Transformation Plan for Children & Young 

People’s Mental Health & Wellbeing. This will 

include improving early intervention support in 

school settings for young people who have mild 

to moderate mental health needs and making 

information and advice more easily available to 

parents and carers.

Other priorities identified elsewhere in this report  

apply to children and young people; where this  

is the case, we will ensure that their needs are  

taken into consideration and our actions tailored  

to meet these needs. 

OUR PRIORITIES FOR  
THE FUTURE AND  
HOW YOU CAN HELP

P
age 18



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 1515Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

HELPING PEOPLE BUILD THE FIVE WAYS TO 
WELLBEING INTO THEIR EVERYDAY LIVES 

The Five Ways to Wellbeing are everyday 

activities that anyone can do to improve and 

maintain their own mental wellbeing. 

Developed by the New Economics Foundation (NEF)  

in 2008 12, they were selected on the basis that they:

• Are evidence-based;

• Have universal appeal;

• Target the individual, not society;

• Are distinct and provide variety.

Although they are simple statements –  

Connect, Keep Active, Take Notice, Keep Learning,  

Give – they can be interpreted in lots of ways  

and adapted to suit the individual.

“Looking after yourself: taking 
time out to sleep, eat good 
food, recognise when you are 
tired, being around people 
that value you and uplift you, 
exercising and having fun.” 

(Nasim, 50, mum and works, Gloucester)

“It’s about making sure you 

look after yourself, spending 

time with your friends and 

family, not working too hard 

and not getting yourself into 

too many stressful situations” 

(William, 59, Engineer, Forest of Dean)

“Regarding my volunteer work at 
Cirencester Library, I can assure 
you that the pleasure is all mine! 
… It gives me great satisfaction 
to tidy the children’s section and 
join in and help them as much as 
possible… It has been an absolute 
pleasure, and has given me a focus 
in my life which was lacking, so I 
should be thanking the library.” 

(Janet, Gloucestershire Libraries Volunteer)

P
age 19



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 16

CONNECT
This activity focuses on building connections to the 

people around you: family, friends, colleagues or 

neighbours. NEF identifies an evidence base that shows 

an association between social participation and mental 

wellbeing. It also identifies the importance of both the 

strength and breadth of social networks.

It can be difficult to measure social connection, but we 

can look at proxy measures, such as the percentage of 

people who live alone. 

In Gloucestershire, 13% of residents live in a household 

occupied by a single person (2011), which is higher 

than in England. Some people experience higher 

levels of isolation because of their circumstances. For 

example, 28.5% of adult carers in Gloucestershire say 

they get enough social contact, which is lower than the 

England rate of 35.5%.

KEEP ACTIVE
This is not just about taking part in organised sport but 

about finding a physical activity that you enjoy and suits 

your level of mobility, e.g. walking, running or cycling, 

playing a game or gardening. 

NEF highlights a broad evidence base for the 

relationship between physical activity and mental 

wellbeing. Gloucestershire residents are more active 

than the England average, with 69.2% of adults in 

the county doing enough physical activity to meet 

or exceed Chief Medical Officer recommendations, 

compared with 66% for England. 

However, rates of physical exercise are lower for those 

living in areas of higher deprivation, for black and 

minority ethnic groups and people with disabilities; 

factors which are also associated with a higher risk of 

developing poor mental health. .

TAKE NOTICE
For some, this activity means actively practicing 

mindfulness or meditation but, for others, it is simply 

about slowing down, being curious and noticing details 

in their own feelings and the world around them, such 

as the changing seasons or the taste of the food they 

are eating. 

There is also a strong relationship between taking notice 

and taking part in arts, culture and creative pursuits. 

NEF identifies a number of intervention studies that 

show that even 8-12 week programmes of behaviour 

change training that help people to be more aware of 

sensations and thoughts can have lasting impacts on 

wellbeing and the ability to choose positive behaviours.

There are no obvious measures to show how 

Gloucestershire residents are taking notice. However, 

we know that mindfulness is being practiced in a range 

of settings.

KEEP LEARNING
This activity is about learning throughout our whole 

lives, not just when we are at school, and through 

formal and informal learning.NEF highlights the positive 

impact of ongoing learning on self-esteem, social 

interaction and feelings of self-efficacy, life satisfaction 

and optimism. 

In 2017/18, the Gloucestershire Adult Education Service 

reached over 2,500 adult learners, with an emphasis on 

delivering learning in the most deprived communities 

and for people with moderate learning disabilities 

and difficulties, and/or very low levels of literacy and 

numeracy. 

In the last year the service has worked with increasing 

numbers of adults with mental ill-health ranging 

from anxiety and depression to more complex and 

serious conditions in partnership with 2gether Trust, 

Independence Trust, Recovery College and community 

partners. The service also provides community and 

family learning, to encourage parents and carers to 

re-engage with learning and promote confidence and 

raise aspirations for the whole family.

GIVE
Doing something nice for a friend or stranger – even 

giving them a smile or a kind word – or giving back to 

and participating in your community, including through 

formal volunteering, is good for your wellbeing.

NEF refers to studies that indicate that social 

cooperation is intrinsically rewarding. It is particularly 

important to note the connection between the 

individual’s wellbeing and the wellbeing of the wider 

community, so that inward-looking activities are less 

beneficial. There is no recent data on volunteering 

levels in Gloucestershire but there are many 

opportunities to volunteer in formal roles, such as 

school governors or parish councillors; in voluntary and 

community sector organisations; or for public services, 

such as local libraries:

P
age 20



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 17

In Gloucestershire, the county council and 

partners are developing ways to help people 

build these activities in to their everyday lives, 

so that they can take control of their own 

wellbeing, making it a normal part of their life. 

Gloucestershire Healthy Living &  
Learning – building the FIVE WAYS  
into the school environment

Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning (GHLL) is 

an umbrella organisation for Gloucestershire Healthy 

Schools and Gloucestershire Healthy FE (Further 

Education). 

Supported by funding from the county council and the 

Clinical Commissioning Group, GHLL has been working 

with schools to develop a Mental Health Champions 

schools award, which can be achieved if the school 

demonstrates that it is implementing interventions to 

promote staff or pupil mental wellbeing. 

One of the ways schools have been promoting mental 

wellbeing is by bringing the Five Ways to Wellbeing into 

the school day. 

Some schools have issued a task to complete each of 

the Five Ways to Wellbeing as alternative homework, 

called the OAKS challenge (One Act of Kindness 

Shared), which has resulted in increased self-reported 

happiness in pupils. 

Other schools have created colourful signage  

to display in the school playground, which has  

been accompanied with an innovative ‘Positive 

Playground Practice’ initiative that sets up pupils to 

bring the Five Ways to Wellbeing to life during their 

break and lunch times. 

A video showing these activities 

was recently produced:

To date, 19 Primary Schools, 6 secondary schools,  

3 independent and 3 special schools have achieved  

the Mental Health Champions award.

WHAT’S ALREADY HAPPENING 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 21

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AI9v1sPRQQE


Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 18

Active Gloucestershire –  
helping people KEEP ACTIVE

Research shows that short-term standalone sport and 

physical activity programmes don’t deliver long-term 

benefit. Gloucestershire Moves is a “whole system 

approach” to raise physical activity levels across the 

county and get everyone in Gloucestershire moving. 

Supported by all statutory partners, 

Gloucestershire Moves will use behaviour change 

theory to create a culture of daily physical activity, 

through interventions at individual, community and 

population levels, as part of a cycle of planning, 

implementation and evaluation.

The impact of physical activity on mental wellbeing is 

being embedded across Gloucestershire Moves and has 

been informed by research that Active Gloucestershire 

undertook to understand the relationship 

between physical activity and mental wellbeing in 

Gloucestershire. 

This research was funded by Gloucestershire  

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and  

identified key learning:

•  Being active where you want to be: moving away 

from traditional views and perceptions that physical 

activity has to be done in a gym or on a sports field. 

Everyone can be active wherever they are, and a lot 

of people prefer to be active in their own home 

•  Behavioural insight: focusing on motivation and 

using behavioural diagnosis to identify different 

interventions

•  Marketing and communication: getting the right 

content at the right time to the right person to 

increase motivation to be active. Using a mixture 

of ‘word of mouth’ and social media is essential to 

getting this right

•  Whole system approach – co-ordinated approach 

needed - all partners should work together to share 

consistent messages from policy to grassroots levels.

Active Gloucestershire, together with the Mental Health, 

Sport and Physical Activity Forum, will continue to 

explore these issues and feed into GloW ways in which 

physical activity can promote wellbeing. 

WHAT’S ALREADY HAPPENING 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 22



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 19

Support at the Cavern –  
an opportunity to CONNECT 

Funded by Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning 

Group, Support at the Cavern (run by Kingfisher Treasure 

Seekers) is an out of hours mental health support drop in, 

open every night of the year in a local café and tearoom 

in Gloucester City Centre. It offers a safe and supportive 

space as an alternative to isolation.

The drop in is a non-clinical offer, but instead focuses 

on social connections and listening support. 

Through activities, such as board games and adult 

colouring and inclusive activities such as quiz nights, it 

helps people feel less isolated, cope with anxiety, meet 

new people and provide support at a time of day when 

little low level or early intervention support is available 

from the statutory services. 

You can see a video about the support that was recently 

produced by the South West Zero Suicide Collaborative

Since it opened in July 2016, Support at the Cavern has 

seen 724 individuals walk through its doors, totalling 

21,510 visits

. 

Support at The Cavern has recorded a wide range of 

positive outcomes, including visitors reporting that 

attendance helped prevent over 200 instances of 

suicide attempts. 

It has an average service user rating of 9.11 out of 10 

with 86% of service users rating it 8 out of 10 or higher.

OUR PRIORITIES FOR  
THE FUTURE AND HOW  
YOU CAN HELP
The GHLL example outlined above shows that 

the Five Ways to Wellbeing can be adapted 

and embedded in different settings, helping 

individuals to practice them as a normal part 

of their day to day routine.

As part of the GloW campaign, we want to encourage 

workplaces, community groups and other settings – 

as well as individuals – to take up this challenge and 

share with us stories of how they’ve lived the Five Ways 

everyday.

We will also continue to work with organisations who 

can help Gloucestershire residents to practice one or 

more of the Five Ways so that these are promoted and 

taken up, particularly in areas where people may be at 

higher risk of developing poor mental health.

WHAT’S ALREADY HAPPENING 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 23

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aRpR_j2W-kc&feature=youtu.be


Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 2020Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

In the last chapter, I referred to the actions 

that an individual can take to improve or 

maintain their own mental wellbeing. 

However, there are other social, economic and 

environmental factors that can affect our mental health 

and wellbeing both positively and negatively. 

Many will be familiar with the concept of these wider 

determinants of health, described in the well-known 

model by Dahlgren and Whitehead, but importantly, 

these factors are just as relevant to our mental health 

and wellbeing as our physical health.

CREATING AND SUSTAINING THE  
CONDITIONS FOR GOOD MENTAL WELLBEING 

K: I think it’s being happy with 
yourself, in yourself and happy  
with your environment. 

B: I don’t know, I was thinking  
more along the lines of being  
able to cope, you know…

K: That goes with being happy  
with your environment…  
work/life balance…

B: Yeah, yeah I believe mental 
wellbeing is the ability to cope… 
to cope with everyday life, to fit in, 
to be a part of society… to not be 
struggling.

(Both male, 40s, Cheltenham)

“It’s about feeling safe and 
secure where you live, and 
feeling at peace with life 
and yourself.” 

(Marie, 50s, Teaching Assistant,  

Forest of Dean)

P
age 24



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 21

There is a range of different determinants,  

including our:

•  education and attainment - increased levels of 

education are strongly and significantly related to 

improved health 13; 

•  employment and working conditions – having a 

job is generally good for our health but working in a 

stressful environment can have a detrimental effect 

on our mental health 14; 

•  financial and social status - socio-economic status 

is a major determinant of both life expectancy and 

healthy life expectancy 15; 

•  housing - home owners have better mental health 

and higher self-esteem  (but can be at risk of stress 

due to financial pressures) but poor housing quality, 

e.g. cold or damp, also has an impact 16;

•  the physical environment in which we live - there 

is strong evidence that access to green spaces 

improves mental health and wellbeing 17; 

•  social networks – as described in the previous 

chapter, strong and broad social networks can 

enhance mental wellbeing.

A 2014 review of evidence on the social determinants 

of mental health 18 identifies that the following factors 

can be associated specifically with a higher frequency 

of mental health conditions:

• Low educational attainment  

• Material disadvantage • Unemployment  

• Debt • For older people, social isolation.

CORE DETERMINANTS  
OF HEALTH

In Gloucester City, 53% and in Forest of Dean,  

51% of pupils achieve 5 or more GCSEs at grades 

A*-C (including English and Maths), which is worse 

thanin England;

In Forest of Dean, 73.9% of people aged 16-64 are 

in employment, which is similar to England.

5 or more A*-C GCSE grades (including English and 

Maths) are achieved by 61.4% of pupils, compared with 

57.8% in England;

10.7% of the population live in income deprived 

households reliant on means-tested benefit, which is 

better than in England. 12.4% of children in the county 

(13,080) live in low income families, which is also better 

than in England (16.8%);

THERE IS SOME VARIANCE IN THESE 
DATA WHEN WE LOOK AT THEM AT 
DISTRICT LEVEL:

IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

61.4% 
53% 

73.9% 
10.7% 

80.8% 
The percentage of people aged 16-64 who are in 

employment (80.8%) is higher than in England (74.4%)

P
age 25



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 22

There is also variance at a much smaller 

geographical level, with 13 areas of the county 

(10 in Gloucester and 3 in Cheltenham) in the 

10% most deprived nationally for the Indices 

of Multiple Deprivation. 

These 13 areas account for 20,946 people  

(3.4% of the county’s population).

From this, we can see there are likely to be mental 

health inequalities in Gloucestershire; poorer mental 

health outcomes which result from the factors that 

make up multiple deprivation. 

The 2014 review referred to above emphasises the 

importance of long-term approaches to addressing 

these determinants; building mental health into all 

policies; and taking mental health into account in a 

wide variety of sectors, including not just health, but 

also education, criminal justice, economy and welfare, 

transport and housing sectors 19. 

The Local Government Association (LGA) publication, 

Being Mindful of Mental Health 20, sets out the ways in 

which local authorities can influence mental health  

and wellbeing. 

This includes district councils’ housing and 

homelessness responsibilities, planning, economic 

development, community safety, parks and green 

spaces and culture and leisure.

Whilst this publication is aimed at local 

authorities, it is clear that other partners have 

a role to play in these areas, e.g. housing 

associations, the police, the Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) and local businesses and 

voluntary sector partners such as arts and 

natural environment organisations.

P
age 26



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 23

Gloucestershire Wildlife  
Trust’s Natural Health Service

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust recognises the wellbeing 

benefits of volunteering in conservation 21 and has  

run weekly conservation groups on its nature  

reserves for many years. 

Since 2014, two volunteer groups operating in 

Stroud District have been promoted as part of 

Gloucestershire’s social prescribing system.  

Not everyone who joins the group does so to improve 

their health and wellbeing but for some it is the primary 

reason for joining. The approach has been effective 

in reaching people who seldom engage with regular 

healthcare pathways, particularly men aged 55-75. 

The participants undertake moderate physical activity, 

benefitting from spending time in natural green spaces. 

The social networks they form, support to manage their 

own health conditions such as type-2 diabetes and 

the positive experience motivates them to continue 

participation.

Our Bright Future 

One of 31 Big Lottery funded projects in the UK, 

Our Bright Future gives young people aged 11-24 

the opportunity to engage with the natural world in 

Cheltenham, Tewkesbury and Gloucester either in 

school or at community sites.  

Participants over 16 often have anxiety or behavioural 

issues and can be socially isolated. Activities include 

learning practical skills to make bird boxes and insect 

houses, growing and selling plants and gardening tasks 

such as digging and raking, with a strong emphasis on 

team work and peer support. There is an opportunity to 

gain AQA accreditation, giving them a sense of purpose 

and achievement. Mental wellbeing is measured at 

regular intervals. 

A video, made by one of the Our Bright  

Future young people, is available here:  

https:www.youtube.com/watch?v=eLQ7NyQuo7o

Brighter Futures

Funded by the Police & Crime Commissioner in six 

locations across Gloucestershire, Brighter Futures is 

a six week course in a green space, open to all ages, 

which aims to:

• increase engagement with a local green space;

• improve employability skills;

• increase participants’ sense of place;

• reduce social isolation;

• improve participants’ wellbeing; and

• increase volunteering.

At the end of Year 1, there was an 81% improvement 

in participants’ wellbeing, 89% of participants felt 

less socially isolated and 70% started volunteering 

with Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust or with other 

organisations. 

A video about Brighter Futures is available here: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5n-_Vxg_znU

Making the most of Gloucestershire’s natural environment to improve mental wellbeing

WHAT’S ALREADY HAPPENING  
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 27



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 24

We want to continue to build on the progress 

of the GloW campaign by engaging with 

partners who have a role related to one or 

more of the wider determinants.

 This includes private sector employers, housing 

providers and district council planning and leisure 

teams. We will work with these partners to raise 

awareness of how mental wellbeing is related to their 

responsibilities and to help them to mitigate negative 

impacts and promote positive ones. 

You can help us by engaging with the GloW campaign, 

pledging an action and raising the profile of this 

important shift in focus. 

Some of our key areas of focus for the wider 

determinants over the coming months will be:

•  Reviewing the impact of and learning from the 

Stroud Money Advice for Mental Health project;

•  Supporting the Active Design workstream of 

Gloucestershire Moves, including the promotion of 

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust’s Building with Nature 

benchmark;

•  Influencing planning policy and supporting planners 

to ensure the built environment enables good 

wellbeing;

•  Ensuring that, while our mental wellbeing work will 

seek to reach the whole Gloucestershire population, 

we focus our efforts in areas where people may 

experience mental health inequalities.

OUR PRIORITIES FOR  
THE FUTURE AND HOW  
YOU CAN HELP

P
age 28



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 25

Partners in Gloucestershire have been 

working hard to reduce self-harm and suicide.

Gloucestershire residents have a lower prevalence of 

common mental health disorders (e.g. depression) than 

across England, but rates of people in the county being 

admitted to hospital having self-harmed or dying by 

suicide have been higher than the England rate for a 

number of years. 

25Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

Gloucestershire

England

Suicide: age standardised rate per 100,000 
population (3 year rolling average for 2001-2016)

20
01

-0
3

20
02

-0
4

20
03

-0
5

20
04

-0
6

20
05

-0
7

20
06

-0
8

20
07

-0
9

20
08

-1
0

20
09

-1
1

20
10

-1
2

20
11

-1
3

20
12

-1
4

20
13

-1
5

20
14

-1
6

16

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

10
0

,0
0

0

The ‘Other White’ ethnicity group  

was over-represented

Forest of Dean was the only district  

where the rate had increased

5.4% were known to  

identify as LGBT

10% were recently bereaved
A quarter had a long term  

condition or disability

Our audit of deaths by suicide in Gloucestershire between 2013 and 2015 
was published in 2017 and identified some key demographic trends:

21% were employed  

in the skilled trade

WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO  
PREVENT SELF-HARM AND SUICIDE 

4 out of 5 were men 35% were living alone
63% were single or 

 separated/divorced

P
age 29



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 26

2/5 had attended A&E in the 

12 months before their death

34% had been seen by 

secondary mental health 

services in the 12 months 

before their death

10% had been a psychiatric in-

patient at some point in the six 

months before their death

The audit also identified some important information about the way in which people 
who died by suicide accessed services in the months and years before their death:

1/5 had been seen by their GP, 

mental health services and A&E 

in the year before their death

61% had visited their GP or Practice 

Nurse in the 12 months before their 

death; 31% had visited in the month 

before their death; and 12% had 

visited in the week before their death

2 out of 3 had known  

mental health issue

22% had alcohol present at 

time of death; 1/3 of these 

people had a known alcohol 

problem

2 out of 3 Suicides occurred 

in private address

A quarter had a known 

history of self-harm or 

suicide attempt

P
age 30



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 27

Suicide is preventable but, importantly, 

this is not the responsibility of any single 

organisation or individual, rather all of us 

working together.

 In Gloucestershire, we have a long-established Suicide 

Prevention Partnership, which brings together a wide 

range of partners, including statutory organisations, 

voluntary sector groups and individuals with lived 

experience of suicidality or bereavement by suicide. 

Led by public health, the partnership works  

collectively to implement the Gloucestershire  

Suicide Prevention Strategy –  

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/suicide-prevention  

– through its shared action plan. 

The most recent iteration of this action plan has been 

informed by the findings of the suicide audit, so that 

we are focusing our efforts where they will have the 

greatest impact.

Preventing self-harm is an important aspect of suicide 

prevention because, although many people self-harm 

without the intention of taking their own life, self-harm 

is the biggest single indicator of suicide risk 22. 

It is also a signal that an individual is in emotional 

distress, even if they do not have a diagnosable mental 

illness, so early intervention and effective support when 

someone is self-harming can prevent worsening mental 

health and wellbeing.

As with the Gloucestershire suicide rate, the rate 

of admissions to hospital for self-harm is higher in 

Gloucestershire than in England, although it is lower 

than the South West rate and is declining. The majority 

of admissions are of young women, in part because 

they are more likely to be admitted repeatedly. 

There is a strong association between the highest 

rates of self-harm admissions and areas of highest 

deprivation in Gloucester and Cheltenham but this 

association is not found overall in the county.

However, as described earlier in this report, admissions 

to hospital do not tell us the whole story about self-

harm in the county. In 2017, the Gloucestershire Health 

& Wellbeing Board asked public health to work with 

local partners to better understand the drivers for this 

issue and where improvements could be made to 

prevent self-harm and make it easier to get help.

2011-12  2012-13  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16 2016-17

Year

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

Gloucestershire

South West

England

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

10
0

,0
0

0

Emergency Hospital Admissions for  
Intentional Self Harm: directly age-sex  

standardised rate per 100,000

P
age 31



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 28

During 2017/18, the public health team led 

an extensive review of the help and support 

people get when they self-harm or are 

thinking about self-harm. 

The review involved gathering data and information 

about what is happening locally and talking to a wide 

range of people, including people with lived experience, 

about what works in Gloucestershire and what could be 

improved: in prevention and early intervention; access 

to help in the community, primary and secondary 

care; the quality of treatment and care; and recovery 

from and prevention of future self-harm. This informed 

a stakeholder workshop and a resulting action plan, 

which has been agreed by the Gloucestershire Mental 

Health & Wellbeing Partnership Board.

This action plan is now being implemented by 

partners and is already leading to some tangible 

improvements, including:

•  Better information, advice and signposting for 

parents and carers of young people who are self-

harming;

•  Training sessions for GPs and Practice Nurses on 

the basics of self-harm – prevalence, why people 

do it, myth busting – and local data, advice on how 

to respond (e.g. alternative strategies and harm 

reduction) and where to signpost or refer;

•  Clearer pathways for primary care and minor injuries 

units;

•  Training for a range of professionals, such as 

teachers, school nurses, minor injuries unit staff and 

paramedics;

•  A new local online tool for front-line professionals to 

help them talk to young people about self-harm and 

get them the right level of help;

•  Additional group support for vulnerable women, 

provided by Rethink Mental Illness at the Nelson 

Trust’s Women’s Centre.

A strong message from the review and from studies 

elsewhere is that admissions to hospital can often be 

driven by the way in which services are configured and 

pathways designed. 

Commissioners are working together with providers to 

put in place small but impactful changes that should 

improve this pathway in the future.

SPOTLIGHT ON 
SELF-HARM

P
age 32



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 29

Raising awareness on  
World Suicide Prevention Day

To mark World Suicide Prevention Day 2017, Public 

Health worked with the Gloucester branch of Survivors 

of Bereavement by Suicide (SOBS) and Gloucester 

Cathedral to hold a service to celebrate the lives of 

those lost to suicide; the support received by those 

bereaved; and those who work to prevent suicide.

The service included readings from those bereaved 

and a piece of music composed by a local young 

man who died by suicide. Two choirs from 2gether 

NHS Foundation Trust and Gloucestershire Police led 

hymns and local mental health charity, Lifting the Blues, 

supported performances by blues singer, Kyla Brox.

A memorial wall allowed people to display photographs 

and memories of their loved ones and volunteers from 

organisations including Samaritans and Cruse formed a 

‘support team’ on hand for those who needed it.

Alongside the service, the Cathedral also launched a 

display of artwork by students of Creative Connections, 

a project by Gloucester Cathedral and the County 

Council’s Adult Education Service, supporting adults in 

recovery and managing mental illness.

The service was an important part of the 

Gloucestershire Suicide Prevention Partnership’s work 

to improve ‘postvention’ support (a term used to 

describe support for people bereaved by suicide) in 

the county and, alongside the art project, opened up 

the Cathedral as a place of solace and acceptance for 

people affected by mental illness and suicide.

WHAT’S ALREADY 
HAPPENING IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 33



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 30

Local partners have worked hard to develop 

and deliver a strategy to prevent suicide and 

self-harm but there is still work to do. 

Our partnership priorities for the coming years are:

•  To improve the availability of ‘postvention’ support 

(timely support for people bereaved or affected 

by suicide). This will build on and join up existing 

services, such as peer support groups delivered by 

Survivors of Bereavement by Suicide (SOBS) and 

information packs provided through the Coroner’s 

Office by local charity, Sunflowers Suicide Support, 

which also runs a range of events, activities and 

training;

•  To appoint a lead GP for suicide prevention, who will 

work with other GPs and people working in primary 

care to share learning from deaths by suicide and 

increase training and development in identifying 

suicide risk and providing effective support / making 

appropriate referrals;

•  To roll out the Suicide Prevention Partnership’s 

communications and engagement plan, targeting 

key groups identified in the suicide audit and 

including a toolkit of resources and key messages for 

use by partners;

•  To engage ‘non-traditional’ partners, who have 

responsibility for public places where people attempt 

or complete suicide, to increase the use of evidence-

based preventative measures;

•  To continue to raise awareness of the importance of 

sensitive media reporting of suicide to reduce risk to 

those who are vulnerable, balanced with the need to 

tackle stigma;

•  To deliver the agreed action plan to reduce self-harm 

in the county.

None of these actions can be achieved by a single 

organisation but the Suicide Prevention Partnership 

makes it possible for anyone who has a role to play – 

however small – to join and contribute. 

If you would like to sign up to the Partnership’s bulletins 

and receive invitations to attend future events, email 

suicideprevention@gloucestershire.gov.uk. 

OUR PRIORITIES FOR THE 
FUTURE AND HOW YOU 
CAN HELP

P
age 34



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 3131Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

The social stigma that is still attached to 

mental ill health – and the discrimination 

that often occurs as a result – is an important 

consideration. 

Not only can it prevent a person from seeking  

help when they need it, preventing the opportunity  

for early intervention, but it can also limit access to 

positive determinants of good mental wellbeing,  

such as a job or strong social relationships.

In 2008, a survey of Gloucestershire  

residents 23 identified attitudes relating to:

•  Fear and exclusion of people with  

mental health problems

• Understanding and tolerance of mental illness

•  Integrating people with mental illness  

into the community

•  Causes of mental illness and the need  

for specialist services.

This was based on a national survey, enabling 

comparison with national attitudes.

 The Gloucestershire responses showed local residents 

hold more supportive or positive views on mental 

illness (although the report acknowledges that the 

sample potentially had some bias as they had greater 

contact with people with a mental illness).

Since this survey, significant work has taken place in 

Gloucestershire to improve attitudes and tackle stigma 

and discrimination, although we are currently unable to 

measure the impact that this has had. 

“Mental wellbeing is one half of 
my overall health. It is essential 
to lead a healthy life and should 
be cared for just as much as our 
physical health.  However, it is 
something we often overlook as it 
is not something we can see and 
it’s not always clear to us what is 
wrong when we don’t feel right.” 

(Tim, 24, Actor, Gloucester)

BUILDING MENTAL HEALTH-FRIENDLY 
COMMUNITIES AND WORKFORCES 

P
age 35



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 32

Co-chaired by an Expert by Experience and 

a Director from 2gether NHS Foundation 

Trust, the Gloucestershire Tackling Mental 

Health Stigma Group brings together 

statutory and voluntary sector partners to 

coordinate activity to reduce the stigma and 

discrimination experienced by people with 

poor mental health or a mental illness.

The group has established a recognisable ‘speech 

bubble’ brand – Gloucestershire Tackles Stigma – Talk 

Mental Health – to help communicate its message to 

targeted groups, including:

•  New parents, including both new mums and their 

partners

•  Men, who the group reach through branded  

stickers and signs, e.g. ‘Kick stigma into touch’,  

at sports clubs and matches

•  Farmers and vets, primarily through events  

for agricultural students

•  Children and young people, working with SkillZone, 

the Girl Guides and local Youth Councils.

Alongside this targeted work, the group has been 

increasing its social media presence, with a dedicated 

Twitter identity (@GTacklesStigma) and hashtag 

(#glostacklestigma) to raise awareness, promote  

events and activities and signpost to support.

SPOTLIGHT ON 
TACKLING STIGMA

P
age 36



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 33

We also know that equipping people with  

the skills to spot the signs of poor mental 

health and the confidence and knowledge  

to provide access to the right support can 

make a significant difference. 

Training our workforce

Gloucestershire County Council currently commissions 

two internationally recognised training programmes 

– Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) and Applied Suicide 

Intervention Skills Training (ASIST) – so that people 

working in public or voluntary sector organisations can 

access them free of charge. 

During 2017/18, our courses equipped 449 people 

with important knowledge to help them spot the signs 

of poor mental health or suicide risk and the skills and 

confidence to provide an immediate response:

•  81 people completed one of four half day MHFA Lite 

courses (now known as Mental Health Aware) 

•  83 people completed one of six full two day  

MHFA courses

•  285 people completed one of 13 full two day  

ASIST courses.

99% of people who attended a full MHFA course said it 

improved or refreshed their knowledge and awareness 

regarding brief mental health interventions and advice 

and 96% said it improved their confidence.

86% of people who attended a full ASIST course said 

their learning had a practical use in their work life and 

67% said it also had a practical use in their personal life.

In addition to this, we fund Gloucestershire Healthy 

Living & Learning (GHLL) to provide MHFA training to 

teachers and other staff working in primary, secondary 

and special schools and further education settings 

across the county.

We are also developing other types of training and have 

recently trialled Postvention: Assisting those Bereaved 

by Suicide (PABBS) training, developed by Suicide 

Bereavement UK. 

PABBS enables attendees to recognise that supporting 

those bereaved by suicide is a key component of 

suicide prevention and increases attendees’ knowledge 

and skillset. 

Originally designed for health professionals, it is also 

relevant to a much wider audience. 

Sixteen delegates from Gloucestershire (including 

representatives from Winston’s Wish, Sunflowers Suicide 

Support, 2gether Trust, Gloucestershire Counselling 

Services, Cruse Bereavement Care, Relate, Suicide 

Crisis, the Good Grief Project and Gloucestershire 

Hospitals Trust) attended the course. 

All the feedback received has been positive, 

demonstrating an improved knowledge of suicide 

bereavement and improved skills and confidence in 

supporting those bereaved by suicide.

“For me, something I know from experience, but came 

over loud and clear was - don’t underestimate the 

power of kindness and being a supportive listener.”

“All in all a very beneficial day for me with information 

that I will incorporate into my work.”

WHAT’S ALREADY 
HAPPENING IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE?

P
age 37



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 34

The Tackling Mental Health Stigma group 

plans to continue its work, with a new focus 

on Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) to 

broaden their reach across the county. 

They have also been working with the national Time to 

Change campaign, which emphasises involvement of 

people with lived experience.

In Gloucestershire County Council, we want to 

continue offering training that contributes to a 

Gloucestershire workforce that is mental health-

aware and skilled to support people with mental 

health problems, to intervene early and prevent crisis, 

including suicide. In particular, we are using the findings 

of our recent Suicide Audit to help target ASIST courses 

to those professions that we believe could have the 

biggest impact.

Partners can help with this by promoting the training 

to their workforce and releasing their staff to attend. 

They can also help by encouraging staff who attend the 

courses to share their learning in the workplace. 

To find out more about either MHFA or ASIST courses, 

contact info@hlsglos.org. 

We are also thinking about how we can extend this 

training to Gloucestershire communities, who may 

be able to use these skills with friends, family and 

colleagues. 

We know many of our partners work closely with 

communities, as do elected members at county, district 

and parish level, and could help us to achieve this.

OUR PRIORITIES FOR THE 
FUTURE AND HOW YOU 
CAN HELP

P
age 38



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 3535Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

Are you new to public health? Some of the 

terms we use explained.

ACEs

Or Adverse Childhood Experiences, can have an  

impact on people’s health and wellbeing through their 

lives. For more information on ACEs, see the Public 

Health Wales pages.  

Public Health Wales pages

Concordat

An agreement establishing consensus, for example 

Public Health England’s Prevention Concordat for 

Better Mental Health.  

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health

Determinants

Meaning a factor that has an affect. Usually in the 

context of the wider determinants of health, meaning 

the social, environmental and economic factors that 

affect people’s health. This video will tell you more 

Healthcare pathway

The different health and care services that people might 

come into contact with through a particular experience. 

We may talk about pathways for certain conditions or 

overall.

Indices of multiple deprivation (IMD)

The English Indices of Deprivation or IMD measure 

relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 small areas or 

neighbourhoods, called Lower Super Output Areas, 

in England. These areas are usually smaller than ward 

areas and larger than postcode areas. The information 

helps the government and local authorities target and 

evaluate support. 

The English Indices of Deprivation

Intervention

We use intervention to mean a service, support or 

action taken to improve health or health prospects.

Postvention

This describes the support provided to people who 

have been bereaved or affected by suicide. Using this 

term reminds us that this is suicide prevention  

activity in itself.

Self-harm

When someone intentionally injures themselves,  

usually as a way of coping with emotional  

distress. Many people commonly think of cutting, 

but self-harm can include other behaviours,  

such as poisoning, punching or hitting or  

excessive exercise.  

The NHS has more information here.

Socioeconomic

The combination of social and economic factors, such 

as education, income levels and employment status, 

which can affect an individual’s health and quality of life. 

Whole system

We often talk about taking a ‘whole systems approach’ 

to tackling complex and multifaceted problems.  

Put simply, this means we work across all the  

different organisations and people involved and 

consider the causes and influences of the problem  

and how they interact. 

GLOSSARY

P
age 39

http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/88504
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eF7ZstmCgVs
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/self-harm/


Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 3636Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18

1.  HM Government (2011) No Health Without 

Mental Health: a cross-government mental 

health outcomes strategy for people of all ages. 

Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/no-health-without-mental-health-a-

cross-government-outcomes-strategy [Accessed 

25/07/18]

2.  Vos, T., et al. (2013) Global, regional, and national 

incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability 

for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 

188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for 

the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet. 

386 (9995). pp. 743-800

3.  WHO (2016). Mental health: A state of well-being. 

Retrieved from http://www.who.int/features/

factfiles/mental_health/en/  [Accessed 08/08/18]

4.  Mental Health Foundation (2018). Our work: 

Challenging mental health inequalities. Retrieved 

from https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/our-work/

challenging-mental-health-inequalities [Accessed 

25/07/18]

5.  Keyes, C.L. (2002) ‘The mental health continuum: 

from languishing to flourishing in life’ in Journal of 

Health and Social Behaviour, June 2002; 43(2): 207-

22

6.  New Economics Foundation (2008) Five ways to 

wellbeing. Retrieved from https://neweconomics.

org/uploads/files/8984c5089d5c2285ee_

t4m6bhqq5.pdf [Accessed 08/08/2018]

7.  HM Government (2015) Future in mind: Promoting, 

protecting and improving our children and young 

people’s mental health and wellbeing. Retrieved 

from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/

government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_

data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 

[Accessed 08/08/2018]

8.  Geulayov, G., Casey, D., McDonald, KC., Foster P., 

Pritchard, K., Wells, C., Clements, C., Kapur, N., Ness, 

J., Waters, K., and Hawton, K. (2017). ‘Incidence of 

suicide, hospital-presenting non-fatal self-harm, 

and community-occurring non-fatal self-harm 

in adolescents in England (the iceberg model of 

self-harm): a retrospective study’ in The Lancet 

Psychiatry. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/

S2215-0366 [Accessed 20/12/2017]

9.  Green, H., McGinnity, A., Meltzer, H., Ford, T. and 

Goodman, R. (2004) Mental health of children and 

young people in Great Britain, 2004. Retrieved from 

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB06116/

ment-heal-chil-youn-peop-gb-2004-rep2.pdf 

[Accessed 08/08/2018]

10.  Mental Health Foundation (2018) Children and 

young people. Retrieved from https://www.

mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/c/children-and-young-

people [Accessed 10/08/2018]

11.  Public Health Wales (2015) Adverse Childhood 

Experiences and their impact on health-harming 

behaviours in the Welsh adult population. Retrieved 

from http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/

PRIDDocs.nsf/7c21215d6d0c613e80256f490030

c05a/d488a3852491bc1d80257f370038919e/$FI

LE/ACE%20Report%20FINAL%20(E).pdf [Accessed 

10/08/2018]

REFERENCES

P
age 40



Leading the way to wellbeing  | Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18 37

12.  New Economics Foundation (2008) Five ways to 

wellbeing. Retrieved from https://neweconomics.

org/uploads/files/8984c5089d5c2285ee_

t4m6bhqq5.pdf [Accessed 08/08/2018]

13.  The King’s Fund (2013) Time to Think Differently: 

Broader Determinants of Health. Retrieved from 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-

differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 

[Accessed 16/08/18]

14.  Ibid

15.  UCL Institute of Health Equity (2012) Strategic 

Review of Health Equity. A presentation on the main 

findings of the Marmot Review

16.  Macintyre, S., Ellaway, A., Der, G., Ford, G. and 

Hunt, K. (1998) ‘Do housing tenure and car access 

predict health because they are simply markers of 

income of self-esteem?: a Scottish study’. Journal of 

Epidemiology and Community Health, vol 52, no 1, 

pp 657–64

17.  The King’s Fund (2013) Time to Think Differently: 

Broader Determinants of Health. Retrieved from 

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/time-think-

differently/trends-broader-determinants-health 

[Accessed 16/08/18]

18.  Allen, J., Balfour, R., Bell, R. and Marmot, M. (2014) 

‘Social determinants of mental health’. International 

Review of Psychiatry, August 2014, Vol. 26, No. 4 : 

Pages 392-407

19.  Horowitz, M. (2015) Social determinants of mental 

health: how our societies are making us mentally 

unwell and what we can do about it. Retrieved from 

https://www.nationalelfservice.net/mental-health/

anxiety/social-determinants-of-mental-health-how-

our-societies-are-making-us-mentally-unwell-and-

what-we-can-do-about-it/ [Accessed 16/08/2018]

20.  Local Government Association (2017) Being Mindful 

of Mental Health. Retrieved from https://www.

local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.6_

Being%20mindful%20of%20mental%20health_08_

revised_web.pdf [Accessed 16/08/2018]

21.  University of Essex (2017) The health and wellbeing 

impacts of volunteering with The Wildlife Trusts. 

Retrieved from https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/

sites/default/files/2018-05/r3_the_health_and_

wellbeing_impacts_of_volunteering_with_the_

wildlife_trusts_-_university_of_essex_report_3_0.

pdf [Accessed 21/08/2018]

22.  HM Government (2017) Preventing suicide in 

England: Third progress report of the cross-

government outcomes strategy to save lives. 

Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.

service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/

uploads/attachment_data/file/582117/Suicide_

report_2016_A.pdf [Accessed 21/08/2018]

23.  Lake Market Research (2009) Survey of Attitudes to 

Mental Health and Mental Illness in Gloucestershire: 

Research Report.

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Public Mental Health (Preventing Self-Harm Action Plan; 
GloW; Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy)

Item for 
decision or 
information?

For information

Sponsor Sarah Scott

Author Beth Bennett-Britton, Public Health Consultant, Public Mental 
Health, GCC
Frances Clark-Stone, Commissioning Officer
Suzie Lane, Outcome Manager
Karl Gluck, Lead Commissioner for Mental Health, 
GCCG/GCC

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
 Since last presenting to the Board in January 2018, the Preventing 

Self-Harm Action Plan has now been finalised.
 The Action Plan is embedded into the Public Health Business Plan and 

work to deliver the objectives within the Action Plan is progressing well.
 Since last presenting to the Board, GloW (Gloucestershire’s approach 

to the national Public Health England Prevention Concordat for Better 
Mental Health) has 30 signatories that have pledged to take action to 
promote mental wellbeing.

 The initiatives under GloW will be driven forward by the Good Mental 
Health Group, a sub-group of the Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board.

 The draft All Age Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for 
Gloucestershire, 2018-2023 is attached for information and comment.  
This strategy feeds into the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy 
development.

Recommendations to Board: 
The Board is asked to note the progress of these initiatives and continue to 
support the public mental health agenda.
The Board is asked to comment on whether they would like an annual update 
on the mental health agenda.

Financial/Resource Implications: 
These are met from within the Public Health Ring Fenced Grant and include 
officer time and funding for commissioned programmes.

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



1. Preventing Self-Harm in Gloucestershire

1.1.The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board were instrumental in 
highlighting the concern around rates of self-harm in Gloucestershire and 
supporting the Gloucestershire County Council Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities hub to lead on this issue.  

1.2. In September 2017 the Board received an over view of the issue and 
members each committed to a range of actions to improve the self-harm 
pathway or to promote or support good mental health and wellbeing.  The 
actions taken can all be found in the papers from that meeting 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8
342&Ver=4 

1.3. In January 2018 the Board received an update on the self-harm work 
programme including the comprehensive engagement work undertaken with 
stakeholders from the breadth of relevant agencies, professionals and 
citizens.  Papers from the January meeting can be found here 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8
714&Ver=4 

1.4.Since presenting to the Board in January, the Preventing Self-Harm Action 
Plan has now been finalised.  The actions were initially identified through a 
series of in depth face to face interviews with a representative range of key 
stakeholders including clinicians and commissioners, as well as an online 
survey for people with lived-experience of self-harm conducted by MHELO 
(Mental Health Experience Led Opportunities). These actions were then 
refined and developed with key individuals within health, education and the 
voluntary and community sector.  Each action holder is responsible for 
developing their action as a SMART objective, and initial reporting is due in 
November 2018. 

1.5.The finalised Action Plan has since been reviewed and approved by the 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board and the Mental Health 
Clinical Programme Group prior to coming to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and is attached for the Board’s reference.

1.6.Some examples of the actions being taken are:

 Adaptation of an online planning tool “Harmless” for children and 
young people who are self harming, which can be used by a wide 
range of professionals including GPs, education staff, MIU nurses. 
TIC+ (Teens in Crisis) are leading on this action.

Page 44

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8342&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8342&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8714&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=8714&Ver=4


 Development of the multi agency self harm policy for children and 
young people. GHT are leading on this.

 Broadening access to face to face counselling for children and young 
people.  GCCG are leading on this.

 Building capacity within the supported housing workforce and some 
VCS organisations to support people who are self harming.  Elim 
House are conducting the survey.

 Clear and comprehensive pathway for GPs on G Care.  Public Health 
are working with GCCG and GP leads to develop this.

 Identifying an alternative place to be for adults in emotional distress.  
GHT are leading on this and links to the review of urgent care..

 Reviewing existing recovery/stay well plans for children and young 
people, to include specific harm reduction guidelines for use by the 
person who is self harming and their parents/carers.  Children’s Social 
Care are working with CYPS to develop this.

 2G NHSFT are developing the Mental Health Liaison Service to move 
towards an all age service.

1.7.The most recent statistics on emergency hospital admissions for intentional 
self-harm continue to show a downward trend, however local rates in 
Gloucestershire are still significantly higher than the national average.

Source: Public Health England, Public Health Profiles 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/iid/21001/age/1/sex
/4 [accessed 25.10.18]

1.8.A helpline for people who self-harm, their friends, families and carers, has 
been commissioned by Public Health since 2012.  The service offers support 
via telephone, text and webchat. Compared to last year, the service has 
received on average 10 additional webchats per month, 30 additional texts 
per month and although the number of calls has not increased, duration of 

Page 45

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/102/are/E10000013/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4


calls has doubled from the previous year.  This increase in service use may 
be explained by the additional promotion of this service which has been done 
through the work of the Self-Harm Action Plan.   This contract expires in 2020 
and the process for reviewing and re-commissioning this service has 
commenced.

1.9.Leadership of the Action Plan is embedded into the Public Health Business 
Plan and will continue to be progressed.  The Public Health team also intend 
to host a follow-up workshop in 2019 to update stakeholders and review 
progress.

1.10. The success of this action will be monitored through three different data 
sources:
 The Public Health England indicator “emergency hospital admissions for 

intentional self-harm” which is benchmarked against all Local Authorities in 
England.

 The Gloucestershire Online Pupil’s Survey which is conducted every two 
years and surveys a large sample of children and young people aged 8 to 
18.  The Survey specifically asks whether respondents have ever self-
harmed and if so how frequently, alongside other relevant questions 
pertaining to mental wellbeing, stress and risk factors for poor mental 
health such as bullying.

 Quarterly performance monitoring data from the Gloucestershire Self-Harm 
Helpline.

1.11 As a result of Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board taking multi-
agency responsibility for preventing self-harm, and members committing to 
actions to support the agenda, we have had strong engagement from partners to 
develop the Action Plan and already made firm progress in implementing it.

1.12 This novel and comprehensive approach that Gloucestershire has taken to 
preventing self-harm has been recognised nationally with presentations being 
given at national and regional conferences.

2. Promoting wellbeing and preventing mental illness through GloW: 
Gloucestershire Wellbeing

2.1.Gloucestershire’s approach to the national Public Health England Prevention 
Concordat for Better Mental Health was presented to the Board in January 
2018 by Public Health. At this meeting the Board approved the wording of the 
‘Gloucestershire Commitment’ outlining the principles and intentions of 
Gloucestershire’s approach to promoting mental wellbeing and preventing 
mental illness.

2.2.Since January 2018 the team have progressed the following actions:

Page 46



o Formalised and published the ‘Gloucestershire Commitment’ outlining 
the principles of the Prevention Concordat and acting as a central point 
for ‘sign up’ of Gloucestershire’s approach.

o Re-branded the Prevention Concordat as ‘GloW: Gloucestershire 
Wellbeing’. This was to avoid confusion with the Mental Health Crisis 
Concordat but also to create a more ‘user friendly’ and relatable name 
for engagement with wider partners and the public.

o Held a launch event on 17th July where the Gloucestershire 
Commitment was officially launched to public sector partners. Partners 
were invited to publicly sign up to the commitment to show their support 
for working in this way.

o Each signatory submitted an action which demonstrates how they are 
putting the commitment into practice. 

o All members of the Health and Wellbeing Board have signed up.
o To date we have 30 signatories, each of whom have pledged to take 

action to implement the principles of the Gloucestershire Commitment. 
Some examples are:

 GFirst LEP: “We will continue the work of raising awareness of 
both well-being at work and mental health awareness, ensuring 
there is no stigma in our workplace.  We will do this both for our 
own staff and the businesses/organisations we work with, across 
a variety of communication channels, ensuring our staff stay well 
and are mentally healthy.”

 2gether NHS FT: “Every employee within the Trust has a right to 
regular supervision. Supervision should be a balance between 
performance management and pastoral support. As such Trust 
supervision policies should include specific statements about 
supporting the individuals ‘emotional health and wellbeing’ and 
this should be recorded to include agreed actions where an 
individual is observed to be struggling. We will therefore review 
our local policies and amend them to reflect a commitment that 
managers will proactively enquire and support staff emotional 
health and wellbeing.”

 Gloucestershire Constabulary: “The Constabulary is committed 
to promoting and supporting the positive physical and mental 
health and wellbeing of our staff and volunteers. We will achieve 
this through implementing a structured programme of evidence-
based activity that develops supportive leaders and impacts 
positively on all aspects that contribute to the wellness of our 
people.  Locally all activity will be co-ordinated through our 
Supportive Leadership & Wellbeing Steering Group and 
nationally all of our activity will be assessed through our MIND 

Page 47



(mental health) action plan and through the Emergency Services 
Blue Light (Oscar Kilo) Wellbeing Framework.”

 Gloucestershire Care Services NHS FT: “To continue supporting 
our colleagues mental health and well-being, we will implement a 
series of stress management interventions aimed at improving 
working conditions and individual coping strategies to improve 
both employee wellbeing and organisational outcomes.”

2.3.The Public Health Team are continuing to engage with partners about the 
work of GloW and have now extended engagement to VCS partners. GloW 
was officially launched with the Voluntary and Community Sector on 10th 
October (World Mental Health Day). This engagement has been very positive 
and has received a lot of interest from additional partners wishing to sign up 
to and support the work of GloW.

2.4.The Public Health team have also worked with CCG colleagues to embed the 
principles and work of GloW into the new Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for Gloucestershire. GloW features as the first two ‘themes’ of the 
strategy which are:

Theme 1: Increase the focus in the wider factors of mental wellbeing 
and promote good mental health for all.
Theme 2: Get better at spotting the signs of mental ill health and 
intervening earlier

2.5.Priorities under these themes have been developed in partnership with the 
Public Health Team and are therefore consistent with the priorities of GloW. 
These priorities include among others:

 Continuing to develop a local prevention plan which will pull together 
all existing workstreams and activity taking a prevention-focussed 
approach to promoting wellbeing. This will include the many plans 
already in place across the County which may not be thought of as 
specifically relating to ‘mental health’, but that still have an impact on 
mental wellbeing.

 Working with partners to identify gaps and mobilise the system to 
come together to address these gaps.

2.6.These priorities will be driven forward by the Good Mental Health Group 
which is chaired by Public Health (an existing sub-group of the Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership Board). This group has wide representation from 
partners working within each ‘determinant’ of mental wellbeing. However, all 
partners involved in GloW will be invited to contribute to this work, ensuring 
the system takes ownership of this issue and is mobilised to address it as a 
whole. 

Page 48



2.7.Looking to the future, the intention is to extend the engagement of GloW to 
private sector partners. 

2.8 Both the work of GloW and the Preventing Self-Harm Action Plan are 
embedded elements of the recently published Director of Public Health Annual 
Report, Leading the Way to Wellbeing.

3. All Age Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire 2018-2023

3.1 The All Age Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire 2018-2023 is 
attached for the Board to review and comment on.  This is a refresh of the previous 
strategy and feeds into the Health and Wellbeing Strategy development.

3.2 This strategy has been led by the Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership 
Board which is a sub-board of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Reporting of 
progress against this strategy will be aligned to the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
reporting process.

3.3 The Strategy’s vision is for every resident of Gloucestershire to enjoy the best 
possible mental health and wellbeing throughout the course of their life.  It is an all 
age strategy which covers prevention through to service use and recovery.  It builds 
on the national strategy, the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health.

3.4 Themes 1, 2, 5 and 7 of the Strategy form the Public Mental Health agenda, 
including the Self-Harm Action Plan and GloW.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Preventing Self-Harm Action Plan

1. Primary prevention and early intervention - a more robust and consistent 
approach    

Outcome No. Specific Action Status
Links with other actions / 
workstreams

Age 
Group

1.1 Parents and carers of children who 
are self-harming are better informed 
and equipped to support them 1.1.1

Provide improved information to parents 
and carers about self-harm and how to 
support a young person Initial meeting Future in Mind Action 1.09 CYP

 1.1.2

Deliver self-harm training and awareness 
raising sessions for parents and carers 
through schools Underway Future in Mind Action 1.09 CYP

1.2 People working in school and youth 
settings are more able to manage and 
respond to emotional distress, which 
may be displayed as self-harm 1.2.1

Deliver an anti-bullying and mental 
wellbeing platform (Toot Toot), which 
enables students to disclose their 
worries/concerns safely and confidentially 
straight to their Designated Safeguarding 
Lead (DSL) Underway  CYP

 1.2.2
Roll out the new MH e-learning package 
to all schools Underway

Future in Mind Actions 1.08, 
1.11 and 1.15 CYP

1.3 Young people can more easily 
access emotional support before they 
self-harm or before their self-harm 
escalates 1.3.1

Commission an online counselling 
platform for young people Complete

Future in Mind Actions 1.08, 
1.11 and 1.15 CYP

 1.3.2

Enable broader access to face to face 
counselling for young people below the 
eligibility threshold for CYPS Underway

Future in Mind Actions 1.08, 
1.11 and 1.15 CYP

P
age 51



 1.3.3

Clarify the offer from school nurses for 
young people who are self-harming and 
wish to access a school nurse and ensure 
it is built in to communication about 
pathways, e.g. G-Care, parents' 
information, etc. Underway

Link with Action 1.1.1 to 
ensure support and resources 
given to parents is consistent 
with that used by school 
nurses and other staff CYP

2. Improve access to care within the community and in primary and secondary care    

Outcome No. Specific Action Status
Links with other actions / 
workstreams

Age 
Group

2.1 Trauma informed support is 
provided to meet specific needs that 
are not currently met by existing 
services (NICE QS34 6 &7) 2.1.1

Pilot face-to-face support for vulnerable 
women through a partnership between 
Rethink and Nelson Trust Women's 
Centre. Evaluate and inform future 
potential support in other settings, e.g. 
accommodation based support, drug and 
alcohol services, etc. Underway  Adults

 2.1.2

Build capacity within the workforce of 
housing providers to confidently support 
self-harming residents, including 
training; improved liaison with 2g and 
clear point of contact in crisis; and use of  
assessment and referral tool Initial meeting

Link with actions 2.3.2 ,  5.1, 
2.2.5 Both

 2.1.3

Develop a proposal for a counselling pilot 
for adults in emotional distress, as an 
alternative or complement to secondary 
care mental health treatment Underway  Adults

P
age 52



 2.1.4

Develop access to emotional support for 
children and young people with long 
term physical conditions, with specific 
input on self-harm and how to manage 
difficult feelings Underway Future in Mind Action 3.1.22 CYP

2.2. Professionals across the system 
have a common understanding of a 
coherent all-age self-harm pathway 
and are confident to use it (NICE QS34 
2&3) 2.2.1

Improve the information on the primary 
care pathway on the G-Care system 
(NICE QS34 2-7) Initial meeting  Both

 2.2.2

Clarify  the self-harm pathway for Minor 
Injuries Units (MIUs) with a focus on 
improving links between MIU staff and 
other professionals involved in the care 
of the patient (NICE QS34 2-5) to include 
a simple visual resource Underway  Both

 2.2.3

Develop an overarching multi-agency 
self-harm policy to incorporate the four 
stages of the model used in this review Underway

Linked to Actions 3.1.3 and 
3.1.4, which refer to the 
specific policies for ED 
attendance and admission of 
people who self-harm Both

 2.2.4

Improve promotion of exisiting 
resources, including: Self-Harm Helpline; 
TIC+ services and CYPS Professionals 
Helpline Underway links with 2.3.1 Both

 2.2.5

Further research the needs of voluntary 
and community sector partners and 
others, e.g. housing, when seeking 
advice and guidance on how to best 
support an individual who is self-harming 
(e.g. practitioner advice) Underway  Adults

P
age 53



2.3 Non-mental health practitioners 
are confident in talking to an individual 
about their self-harm and can make 
appropriate decisions about risk and 
onward (NICE QS34 2) 2.3.1

Develop and test a local  assessment tool 
and referral mechanism for non-mental 
health practitioners working with 
children and young people, based on the 
Oxford Health tool used in Wiltshire and 
BANES Underway links with 2.2.4 CYP

 2.3.2
Test the potential for the CYP tool to be 
adapted for use with adults

Awaiting result of 
2.3.1

Reliant on delivery of Action 
2.3.1 Adults

3. Improve the quality of treatment and care within the community and in primary and secondary care
 

Outcome No. Specific Action Status
Links with other actions / 
workstreams

Age 
Group

3.1 People who present to the 
Emergency Department having self-
harmed or in extreme emotional 
distress receive good quality treatment 
and care (NICE QS34 2-5) 3.1.1

Review the provision of mental health 
liaison services for children and young 
people (including inpatient, ED and LTC), 
addressing hours of availability and 
physical location of service and 
assessment and linked to developments 
of an all-age liaison offer Underway

Delivered via the NHS 
England Transformation Fund 
Task and Finish Group (NICE 
QS34 2-3) CYP

 3.1.2

Review the GHT-led multi-agency policy 
for children and young people's self-
harm, incorporating findings of this 
project Underway  CYP

 3.1.3

Review the GHT-led multi-agency policy 
for adult self-harm, incorporating 
findings of this project Initial meeting  Adults

P
age 54



 3.1.4

Build in an alternative and appropriate 
place to be for adults in emotional 
distress to plans for the new Urgent Care 
Centre arrangements (QS34 4&5) Initial meeting  Adults

 3.1.5

Review the quality of in-patient care in 
Gloucestershire for those who have self-
harmed against NICE guidance and 
quality standards Underway  Both

 3.1.6
Review the pathway for SWAFST staff 
attending callouts involving self harm

Awaiting 
imminent MIU 
pathway 
publication Links with 2.2.2  

 

4. Helping people to recover and stay well, without further self-harm    

Outcome No. Specific Action Status
Links with other actions / 
workstreams

Age 
Group

4.1 There is a strong network of 
support around a person post 
assessment, treatment and discharge, 
which draws on the assets in the 
community and family 4.1.1

Review existing recovery plans (or 
equivalent) for adults, to ensure where 
relevant they include specific reference 
to avoiding self-harm, with appropriate 
alternative coping strategies, and are 
accesible by the individual and their carer 
(QS34 6&7) Idea  Adults

 4.1.2

Review existing care plans for children 
and young people to ensure where 
relevant they include specific reference 
to avoiding self-harm, with appropriate 
alternative coping strategies, and are 
accessible by the individual and their 
parents/carers (QS34 6&7) Initial meeting  CYP

P
age 55



 4.1.3

Consider the feasibility of commissioned 
services' discharge protocols 'keeping the 
door open' for people who have reduced 
or stopped self-harming but may need 
occasional support (QS34 8) Idea  Both

5. Developing knowledge, understanding and skills within the Gloucestershire workforce and wider community

Outcome No. Specific Action Status
Links with other actions / 
workstreams

Age 
Group

5.1 Professionals and the wider 
community are confident and skilled in 
supporting someone who self-harms 
(to an appropriate level) as a result of 
coordinated and targeted training and 
awareness raising (QS34 1) 5.1.1

Develop a training and awareness plan to 
enable the local workforce for people 
with care and support needs to respond 
with confidence to those who are in 
emotional distress/self harming. Initial meeting

Links with Crisis Concordat 
Workforce Development 
Strategy and Suicide 
Prevention Training Plan Both

 5.1.2

Provide a rolling programme of training 
to MIIU staff in how to work with patients 
who present with self harm Underway Links to 5.1.1 and 2.2.2 Both

 5.1.3

Develop proposal for pilot project to train 
and support workers within VCS and 
primary care to jointly run DBT skills 
groups on referral, initially in Gloucester 
and Forest of Dean. Initial meeting  Both

 5.1.4

Providing a rolling programme of training 
to SWAFST staff in how to work with 
patients who present with self harm Initial meeting Links to 3.1.7 and 5.1.1 Both

P
age 56



 5.1.5

Increase availability of university based 
training in mental health issues for non 
mental health trained staff (from Health 
Education South West) Initial meeting  Both

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

All Age Mental Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy for Gloucestershire

1

Vision:
For every resident of Gloucestershire to enjoy the best 
possible mental health and wellbeing throughout the 
course of their life.

2018 – 2023

P
age 59



2

Introduction 3

Gloucestershire’s long term 
ambition

3

Factors affecting a person’s 
emotional and mental wellbeing

4/5

Themes on a page 6

Theme 1: Increase the focus on the 
wider factors of mental wellbeing 
and promote good mental health 
for all

7

Theme 2: Get better at spotting 
the signs of mental ill health and 
intervening earlier

8

Theme 3: Improve the outcomes 
for people experiencing mental 
health crisis

9

Theme 4: Improve the wellbeing of 
parents, children and young people

10

Theme 5: Continue to improve 
joined up approaches to reducing 
suicide rates across Gloucestershire

11

Theme 6: Focus on recovery and 
resilience

12

Theme 7: Ensure Gloucestershire is 
a mental health friendly county

13

Delivering and measuring progress 15

Contents Foreword
I’ve lived with mental ill health for much of my life. It comes and goes, but it’s often there in some 

form. I noticed that some health care professionals would talk to me about my physical health. Other 
health care professionals would talk to me about my mental health. And these two groups of people 
didn’t spend much time talking to each other. That doesn’t make much sense. We know that people with 
a long term physical health problem will be more likely to experience poor mental health. We know that 
people with poor mental health will experience problems with their physical health. It makes sense that 
people get care that looks at them as a whole person. This doesn’t just include health care, but includes 
the whole range of biological, psychological, and societal help that people need. 

And we know that people with mental ill health still face unacceptable levels of stigma and 
discrimination. There’s been lots of work in Gloucestershire to tackle stigma and reduce discrimination, 
but we still have some way to go.

This strategy builds on innovation happening in Gloucestershire to reduce discrimination faced by those 
with mental ill health, and to make care look at the whole person, not just a diagnosis. 

Dan Beale-Cocks, Co-Chair of the Tackling Mental Health Stigma Group

Cllr. Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning and Mental Health Champion, 
Gloucestershire County Council and Chairman of Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

It is estimated that one in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem1 in 
any given year. So most people in Gloucestershire will have some experience of mental ill health, whether 
it’s their own or that of a relative, friend or colleague. For this reason, mental health and wellbeing is a 
priority for local partners.

We know that our mental health and wellbeing is influenced by a range of factors. Not just the services 
we receive but factors such as our housing and living environment; education and employment; and 
relationships with family and friends all have an impact. That’s why the Gloucestershire Health & 
Wellbeing Board believes it is so important that mental health is seen as everybody’s business. Across 
public, private and voluntary organisations and communities, we all have a part to play.

This new Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Gloucestershire sets out our collective plans for 
promoting good mental wellbeing; preventing mental illness and suicide and intervening early; 
providing good quality services for those who need them, including in a crisis; and tackling stigma and 
discrimination. It builds on a history of strong local partnership working and I am committed to  
leading our delivery of the strategy as Chairman of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

1 Mental health problem: They range from common problems, such as depression and anxiety, to rarer problems such as 
schizophrenia and bipolar disorder.

P
age 60



3

Introduction
The national context is summarised in the Five Year 
Forward View for Mental Health, a report from the 
Independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS 
in England:

‘Mental Health problems are widespread, 
at times disabling, yet often hidden. People 
who would go to their GP with chest pains 
will suffer depression or anxiety in silence. 
One in four adults experience at least one 
diagnosable mental health problem in any 
given year. 

As outlined in the Prevention Concordat for 
Better Mental Health, people in all walks 
of life can be affected at any point in their 
lives, including new mothers, children, 
teenagers, adults and older people. Mental 
health problems represent the largest single 
cause of disability in the UK.’

                   February 2016

It is known that mental illness is a risk factor 
for poor physical health, and that mental illness 
contributes to health inequality. People with 
mental ill health are more likely to have poor 
outcomes or die earlier. Evidence suggests this is 
due to a combination of clinical risk factors, socio-
economic factors and health system factors.

Gloucestershire’s 
long term 
ambitions
In the long term, we aspire to 
improve mental health and 
wellbeing in Gloucestershire, by 
developing resilient communities, activities, 
interventions and services which focus on the 
person and provide joined up care. The aspiration 
of the strategy will be to further integrate services 
for people with physical and mental health needs. 
2gether NHS Foundation Trust and Gloucestershire 
Care Services NHT Trust are working towards 
a merger, to transform the way mental health, 
community physical health and learning disability 
services are delivered. This will provide a great 
opportunity to take this aspiration forward.

We will aspire to deliver services as close to 
people’s homes as possible, within people’s local 
communities and aligned to GP practices.

To monitor the process/impact of this Strategy, we 
will engage with partners and patients through 
locality forums.

To achieve these ambitions, we will continue to 
work in partnership to build a joined up system 
and focus on the priorities in this strategy to 
take the first step on a longer journey. Whilst 
recognising that financial pressures can impact 
on individuals and families, we will work with all 
relevant agencies to minimise this impact. 

This new strategy is focused on mental health 
and wellbeing and complements and expands on 
the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
2012 – 2032 ‘Fit for the Future’ which considers 
the needs of people from pre-birth to death 
with the aim of breaking the link between early 
disadvantage and poor health outcomes.

Becoming an Integrated Care System (ICS) means 
that organisations in Gloucestershire will come 
together in a voluntary partnership to build on 
the progress made over the past few years to 
develop schemes to support self-care, prevention, 
active communities, services in the community and 
improving quality, safety and outcomes in hospital 
care. Moving forward, the ICS will mean: 

 z an even greater focus on supporting people 
to keep healthy and independent and 
developing active communities

 z joining up care and support for people with 
long term conditions in their own homes, GP 
surgery, community or in hospital

 z greater freedom to make local decisions 
about services and how we spend our 
resources

 z more opportunities to attract additional 
money to develop services and support

The Gloucestershire Mental Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership Board will continue to lead and co-
ordinate the delivery of this strategy in line with 
the aims of the Five Year Forward View and other 
key strategies.

P
age 61



4

Mental health and wellbeing are affected by individual factors, by population 
characteristics and by the socio-economic circumstances in which a person 
finds themselves. Most of these risk factors often contribute to poor mental 
health are also often outcomes of poor mental health, i.e. social isolation 
can contribute to poor mental health, but equally poor mental health can 
contribute to social isolation.

We know from national indicators that the following areas can determine 
mental health in individuals and populations, these are 
outlined in The Adult Mental Health Needs Assessment 
for Gloucestershire, inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
get/ShowResourceFile.aspx?ResourceID=1106.

Many factors can have a positive influence on 
mental wellbeing, these are considered protective 
factors and include things such as:

 z Enhancing control

 z Individual resilience, self-esteem and confidence

 z Being part of a safe and supportive community

 z Involvement in meaningful activity, i.e. 
employment, volunteering

 z Being socially included and supported

 z Good physical health

 z Economic security

 z Equality of access to services

 z Having supportive family and friends

Other factors can have a negative impact and those which 
are more significant in Gloucestershire compared to 
England are shown in bold:

 z Long-term health problems or disability

 z Adults with low education

 z Poor English language skills

 z Misuse of alcohol

 z Use of opiates and/or crack cocaine

 z Lone parent households

 z Relationship breakdown

 z People living alone

 z Older people living alone

 z Children leaving care

 z Socio-economic deprivation

Stigma is a major issue for those with a mental health condition. This can 
lead to social isolation or exclusion which can impact on things such as 
relationships and employment. This adds to the barriers that those with 
mental ill health already experience.

As outlined in the Mental Health Needs Assessment for Gloucestershire, 
there are some groups which evidence suggests are more likely to experience 
poor mental health. These groups may benefit from targeted approaches to 
promote mental health and wellbeing. 

Mental health and wellbeing can also be influenced by ‘wider’ factors such 
as employment, good housing, accessing green space, access to transport, 
good physical health and security and taking part in leisure activities.  Caring 
responsibilities can also have an impact. In the ‘State of Caring Survey’, Carers 
UK 2018, 72% of carers have experienced mental ill health as a result of caring.

Often, services, activities or interventions can support positive mental health 
outcomes without being identified as mental health interventions. 

Factors affecting a person’s emotional and mental wellbeing

P
age 62



5

A key determinant of mental health is deprivation. 
Deprivation underpins many of the factors 
described above. Deprivation is measured using 
the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measure, 
which is based on seven domains:

 z Income deprivation

 z Employment deprivation

 z Education, skills and training deprivation

 z Health deprivation and disability

 z Crime

 z Barriers to housing and services

 z Living environment deprivation

Gloucestershire is a relatively affluent county with 
an overall Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
score of 15.0 compared with English average of 
21.8. 

Physical
Health

Meaningful
Activity 

Social 
Connection 
and Leisure

Education

Financial 
Security

Accessing 
the 

Environment

Physical 
Security

Mental 
Health 

and 
Wellbeing

However, there are pockets of high deprivation in 
Gloucestershire. There are 30 neighbourhoods in 
Gloucestershire (19 in Gloucester, 8 in Cheltenham, 
2 in Tewkesbury and 1 in Forest of Dean), which 
are among the 20% of the most deprived areas in 
England.

Thirteen neighbourhoods (Lower Super Output 
Areas) in the county are identified as among the 
most deprived 10% nationally for the IMD. This 
is an increase from eight areas in 2010. These 
neighbourhoods are located within Gloucester (10 
out of 13) and Cheltenham (3 out of 13) districts.

This strategy recognises the need for increased 
focus on the wider influences of mental health and 
wellbeing, and for everyone involved in working 
with these determinants to understand their role 
in addressing them. All partners have a role to 
play in promoting good mental health for all in 
an effort to ensure mental health is everyone’s 
business.

What influences mental health

P
age 63



6

Theme 1: Increase the focus 
in the wider factors of mental 
wellbeing and promote good 
mental health for all 

Work with wider partners to raise awareness of the impact of the wider factors; promote universal interventions which 
promote good mental health; promote supportive digital solutions and technology; focus on community development 
and resilience 

Theme 2: Get better at spotting 
the signs of mental ill health and 
intervening earlier

Support workplaces to develop positive working practices; increase availability and roll out of Mental Health First Aid 
training; improve access to information and advice; increase timeliness of diagnosis; encourage the uptake of support’ 
signpost and support for carers; improve the self-harm pathway

Theme 3: Improve the outcomes 
for people experiencing mental 
health crisis

Lower age of eligibility and wider access criteria to Mental Health Acute Response Services (MHARS); Intensive Recovery 
& Intervention Service (IRIS) for children and young people; Crisis Care Workforce Development; targeted service for 
High Intensity Users; improve transport experience for people subject to the Mental Health Act; reduce number of 
people subject to Section 136 of the Mental Health Act and a coherent all age self-harm pathway

Theme 4: Improve the wellbeing 
of parents, children and young 
people

Future in Mind; Better Births, Perinatal Mental Health; resilience and good mental wellbeing; access to support in 
schools; support for those who are vulnerable or in crisis; transitions; partnership working and support for families and 
carers

Theme 5: Continue to improve 
joined up approaches to 
reducing suicide rates across 
Gloucestershire

Widen access to suicide intervention skills training, target key groups to encourage participation; improve services for 
those bereaved or affected by suicide; raise awareness of the impact of suicide and the available support for people 
and their families and address insensitive reporting; reduce the access to means of suicide, including at frequently used 
locations; increase training and support for primary care; develop a local surveillance process to improve understanding 
of patterns and trends  

Theme 6: Focus on recovery and 
resilience

Build self-resilience; promote self-help and self-management; develop peer support networks; access to help; recovery 
college; early intervention and prevention; reduce reliance on statutory services; work with drug and alcohol services; 
work alongside carers and families

Theme 7: Ensure Gloucestershire 
is a mental health friendly county

Recognition as a mental health friendly county; develop a tackling stigma hub; work closely with Time to Change; work 
with employers, primary care patient participation groups and statutory health and care workers; engage with media, 
social media and film and with a wider group of people with lived experience

Themes on a page

P
age 64



7

Theme 1: Increase the focus on the wider factors of mental wellbeing and promote good 
mental health for all 

This strategy aims to support the work of GloW (Gloucestershire Wellbeing), 
Gloucestershire’s approach to the Public Health England Prevention Concordat for 
Better Health. This aims to work across the system to increase focus on the wider 
factors of mental wellbeing, promoting the use of interventions which everyone 
can access early.

This work centres around population level approaches to promoting mental 
wellbeing. Population level approaches are ones which aim to obtain maximum 
benefit for the widest number of people, and do this by working across the 
‘system’ that exists around mental health and wellbeing. Population level 
approaches are less concerned with individual ‘treatment’ services, and aim to 
focus on universal interventions which are accessible by the whole population. 
This work may involve some targeting to specific populations which are identified 
as having greater need or face the greatest challenges.

The GloW approach is to develop a shared understanding for promoting mental 
wellbeing and preventing mental illness in Gloucestershire. Organisations have 
been invited to ‘sign up’ to this statement which can be accessed here.

There are many existing initiatives in Gloucestershire which are already doing 
great things to benefit mental wellbeing. For example:

 z The Community Wellbeing Service is working across Gloucestershire to tackle 
social isolation and loneliness, connecting residents to community groups and 
activities which they can be involved with, having a positive impact on their 
lives. This service also encourages individuals to ‘give back’ by volunteering or 
facilitating other groups in their communities, developing community capacity 
and resilience. Carers Gloucestershire are also operating a similar approach to 
‘hidden’ carers.

 z Stroud & Cotswold District Citizens Advice have been piloting a debt advice 
service for people experiencing mental health issues which is being supported 
by the Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire County Council. This 
will be evaluated in 2018/19. 

 z Churchdown Connections are working to empower patients to self-
care by training a member of staff in health coaching skills, mapping 
community assets and facilitate connections between patients and 
community-based peer support groups

Priorities within this theme:

 z Working with a wide range of partners to raise awareness of the 
impact of the wider determinants and consider opportunities to 
address these

 z Promoting universal interventions for good mental health such as the 
Five Ways to Wellbeing in a wide range of settings such as schools, 
workplaces and GP surgeries

 z Promoting opportunities to self-care through supportive digital 
solutions and technology

 z Increase community resilience through a place based approaches

 z promote self-esteem and positive body image in young people

What we will report:

 z Organisations which have signed up to GLoW

 z The impact of community based approaches to promote wellbeing

 z The number of schools achieving the Mental Health Champion Status 
through Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning 

P
age 65



8

Theme 2: Get better at spotting the signs of mental ill health and intervening earlier

The STP identifies a need for far greater emphasis on prevention, self-
care and community based support. This might include things such as: 

 z Supporting people with non-medical needs through social 
prescribing, i.e. GPs referring to sources of community support and 
community activities 

 z Promoting healthy workplaces and schools, including improving 
employee health through the workplace wellbeing charter 

 z Using innovative technologies to support self-care 

 z Raising awareness of the impact on carers and strengthening support 
for them at an early stage

The World Health Organisation (WHO) identifies three areas of activity 
that are broadly encompassed in the term ‘prevention’ when referring to 
mental health and wellbeing:

Priorities within this theme:

 z Supporting non-mental health professionals to identify and intervene early 
when someone is self-harming or at risk of self-harm

 z Promoting sport and activity for all as a way of improving wellbeing

 z Support and encourage Gloucestershire residents to improve their mental and/
or physical health and wellbeing through the Integrated Healthy Lifestyles 
services 

 z Explore opportunities to work with organisations who allow people to take an 
active role in their mental wellbeing including the voluntary and community 
sector

 z Work with the Department of Work & Pensions and other employments 
services to ensure that individual being supported into employment have 
appropriate support around their emotional health 

 z Work with our housing partners to promote mental wellbeing

 z Working with target groups such as carers to promote the Five Ways to 
Wellbeing and ways to promote and protect their own mental health

 z Promote body acceptance in young women

We will continue to support the ownership by people with lived experience of 
mental ill health for the planning of their future care.

We will report:

 z The number of Mental Health First Aid courses delivered and the number of 
participants

 z Self-harm – admission rates to hospital (all age and age 10–24) benchmarked 
against regional and national rates and the self-reported prevalence of self-
harm by young people from the on-line pupil survey

 z Numbers of employers who are engaged with the Workplace Wellbeing Charter

 z Numbers of young people reporting that they self-harm through the on-line 
pupil survey

 z Review of independent employment schemes

Mental 
health 

promotion

Mental illness 
prevention 
and suicide 
prevention

Improving 
lives, 

supporting 
recovery and 

inclusion

As in other areas of public 
health work, in mental 
health, prevention can also 
be considered across three 
levels: primary, secondary 
and tertiary prevention.

A key challenge in this 
area of work is that it is 
not the sole responsibility 
of any one organisation. 
Good mental health and 
wellbeing can be influenced 

by a wide range of factors, including employment and economic 
stability; decent housing and a good living environment and strong social 
networks. Often, services, activities or interventions can support positive 
mental health outcomes without being identified as mental health 
interventions.

P
age 66



9

Theme 3: Improve the outcomes for people experiencing mental health crisis

The Gloucestershire Mental Health & Wellbeing Partnership Board has the 
responsibility for overseeing the delivery of the Crisis Care Concordat which is 
subject to continuous review via a dedicated multi-agency steering group.

We, as partner organisations in Gloucestershire, continue to work together to 
put in place the principles of the national Crisis Care Concordat to improve 
the system of care and support so that people in crisis because of a mental 
health condition are kept safe. We help them to find the help they need − 
whatever the circumstances − from whichever of our services they turn to 
first.

We will work together to prevent crises happening whenever possible, 
through intervening at an early stage. 

We will make sure we meet the needs of vulnerable people in urgent 
situations, getting the right care at the right time from the right people to 
make sure of the best outcomes.

With partners, we have developed a number of initiatives to support people 
at risk of, or in, crisis:

 z The Alexander Wellbeing House

 z Wellbeing Café and Kingfisher Treasure Seekers

 z Co-location and joint operational working of mental health crisis services 
with other Gloucestershire emergency services

 z Street triage pilot

 z Independent Mental Health Advocacy/Advocacy

 z Recommissioning the Approved Mental Health Professional (AMHP) service

 z Multi-agency crisis care workforce strategy

 z Transport for detained patients

 z Review of self-harm pathway

 z Quality checking/high quality service

 z Ensure that providers in the county can provide skilled support to prevent 
crisis

 z Mental health helpline provider

Priorities within this theme:

 z Crisis Team and Mental Health Acute Response Service (MHARS) staff 
training 

 z Evaluate the ‘Street Triage’ initiatives to improve the relationships between 
mental health professionals and the Police which reduces the number of 
s136 detentions therefore providing better outcomes for service users

 z Implementation of the Intensive Recovery & Intervention Service (IRIS) to 
include a place of safety

 z Crisis Care Workforce Development

 z In partnership with the Police, implement a targeted case management 
approach to Section 136 and Emergency Department High Intensity Users 
– reduction in Section 136 activity

 z Transport experience under the Mental Health Act; alternatives to police 
and ambulance vehicles

 z Evaluate the 24/7 helpline pilot for service users 

 z Develop plans to help carers to and avoid and respond to crisis

 z Re-vitalising and maintaining momentum with the implementation of the 
Crisis Concordat Action Plan and widening membership.

We will report: 

Work progress on the Gloucestershire Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat to 
include:

 z Patient reported outcomes and feedback from people who use the services

 z Feedback from people with lived experience and carers of their experience 
of MHARS and other crisis support

 z Section 136 activity and the use of health-based places of safety

 z Street triage pilot and outcomes

 z Level of health transport for people subject to Section 136

 z Rate of self-harm admissions to Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust 

 z The numbers of young people (11-17 years) supported by MHARS

 z Crisis prevention level of activity of Alexander Wellbeing House.

P
age 67



10

The Gloucestershire Transformation Plan takes a whole system approach that 
is vital to transforming and making significant progress against increasing 
numbers of children with mental health difficulties.  

A Health Needs Assessment was undertaken to inform 
the Plan https://inform.gloucestershire.gov.uk/viewpage.
aspx?c=page&page=ChildrenandYoungPeople 

There are four priorities of support identified in the plan:

Priority 1: Building resilience, information and advice and early intervention

Priority 2: Joined up support – schools, communities and GPs linked to mental 
health support

Priority 3: Pathways – access, waiting times and transition

Priority 4: Vulnerable children and young people with complex needs/
intensive interventions

Improving the experience of our maternity services and the findings of the 
National Maternity Services Review: Better Births (2016) continues to be key 
drivers in our approach to improving maternity services in Gloucestershire and 
are a part of the Sustainability and Transformation plan.  

Priorities within this theme:

 z Develop an integrated specialist perinatal and infant mental health service, 
including working with VCS organisations to support women and children 
through the perinatal period

 z Develop integrated personalised commissioning for children in care

 z Implement support for children and young people with long term physical 
health conditions

Theme 4: Improve the wellbeing of parents, children and young people 

 z Roll out increased mental health support for schools via the Schools Link 
pilot across the county and via the Mental Health Champions Award 

 z Develop better information, advice and support for parents, including web 
pages

 z Improve pathway of support for eating disorders

 z Improve transition from young people to adult services

 z Broaden the gateway into services via increased capacity for early 
intervention and alternative models of working.

We will report on progress via Gloucestershire’s Future in Mind update 
reports. 

Ch
ild

re
n & Families 

Universal Su
p

o
rt  

B
uilding Resilience Inform

at
io

n 
7 

A
d

vi
ce

 GP, School
s &

Co
m

m
un

it
ie

s L
in

ke
d to Mental Health Support           Early Help

Evid
en

ce
 B

as
ed

   

    
Mental Health      H

elp & Support

Support 
in a  

Crisis

P
age 68



11

Theme 5: To continue to improve joined up approaches to reducing suicide rates across 
Gloucestershire

By 2020/21, the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health sets the ambition 
that the number of people taking their own lives will be reduced by 10% 
nationally compared to 2016/17 levels. This is equivalent to around 500–600 
deaths per year.

The latest suicide data for Gloucestershire shows a local rate of 10.8 deaths 
by suicide per 100,000 population (2014–16 average). This is consistent 
with the national average. However, the rate of deaths by suicide in 
Gloucestershire amongst men aged 35–64 is higher than the England 
average.

In Gloucestershire, we have a well-established Suicide Prevention Partnership, 
which developed a local multi-agency suicide prevention plan in 2015. 
This has been recently reviewed to ensure its alignment with national 
policy changes and based on recent evidence contained in a Suicide Audit, 
published in December 2017. We will work towards the aims of the refreshed 
Suicide Prevention National Strategy, launched in January 2017.

Risk factors can include:

 z Gender (men are 3 times more likely to die by suicide)

 z Age – the high risk age group is 45–59

 z Bereavement or relationship breakdown

 z Sexual orientation and gender identity

 z Mental illness

 z Socio-economic status – defined by job, class, education, income, 
education or housing

 z Behavioural – some patterns of behaviour can indicate a risk of suicide. 
These include use of alcohol, substance misuse, self-harm and involvement 
with the criminal justice system

 z Psychological– risk factors include perfectionism, over-thinking, feelings of 
defeat, hopelessness and being trapped

 z Long term physical health conditions

Priorities within this theme:

 z Widen access to suicide intervention skills training, targeting key groups to 
encourage participation amongst those who support or have contact with 
those most at risk 

 z Improve the availability of timely information, advice and support for those 
bereaved or affected by suicide 

 z Deliver a communications and engagement plan to raise awareness of 
the impact of suicide and the available support for those at risk of suicide, 
their friends and family and address insensitive or harmful reporting in the 
media 

 z Work with a wide range of partners to reduce access to means of suicide, 
including at frequently used locations

 z Increase training and support for primary care, including awareness of 
risk factors, referral processes and reducing access to means through 
prescribed medication and best practice for learning from deaths

 z Develop a local surveillance process to improve understanding of patterns 
and trends and help partners to respond to and prevent potential clusters 
and contagion.

We will report:

 z The suicide rate (per three year rolling average)

 z The number of hospital stays because of self-harm amongst the general 
population

P
age 69



12

Theme 6: Focus on recovery and resilience 

For people with mental ill health, the focus on recovery needs to be part 
of their care and support from the outset. In the context of this Strategy, 
‘recovery’ can be defined as a philosophy of care that focuses on how to 
support a person’s hopes, strengths, resilience and health, whether or not 
there are ongoing or recurring symptoms or problems. 

We need to enable people to recover and to be as well as possible. We need 
to work alongside people to support them and their families and carers on 
their recovery journey to ensure care is personalised to their needs. 

We know that we need to work with employers and other agencies to 
challenge discrimination and destigmatise mental health in the workplace 
and other settings by accessing more mental health focused training and 
education such as Mental Health First Aid training.

For those with the most complex mental health needs, where a number 
of factors have impacted on their lives over a longer time period, it is 
acknowledged that more intensive support helps to rebuild and stabilise 
their lives; this will include working with services that treat drug and alcohol 
misuse.

We know that nationally the rate of detentions under the Mental Health Act 
has trebled since the 1980’s and doubled since the 1990’s. The rising rate 
of detentions is reflected in Gloucestershire. Our aspiration is to reduce the 
number of individuals subject to compulsory detention and provide the least 
restrictive option whenever possible.

We recognise that recovery is different for everyone and we need to further 
develop the health and social care system to help people to recover from day 
one of their journey and that they are challenged and helped to achieve this.

Priorities within this theme:

 z Help people to build self-resilience and facilitate their recovery journey

 z Promote ways for people to self-help and self-manage their own mental 
health

 z Further develop peer support networks to reduce social isolation

 z Enable access to help and support from mental health services when it is 
needed

 z Promote the work of the Severn & Wye Recovery College including the 
support they can give carers

 z Build on early intervention and prevention services to reduce and avoid the 
development of more complex needs

 z To explore opportunities to work with organisations which allow people to 
take an active role in their recovery from mental illness to reduce reliance 
on health, social care and emergency services

 z Work with services that treat alcohol and drug  misuse to ensure services 
for people who have co-occurring mental health and drug and alcohol 
conditions are joined up

 z Encourage the use of digital therapy and self-management options

 z To minimise the need for individuals to require out of area treatment for 
acute mental health problems or specialist treatment.

 z Aim to reduce the number of compulsory admissions making the least 
restrictive option the default option

 z To develop a coherent approach to working with people with emerging 
and diagnosed personality disorder including workforce development, 
training and scoping a business case for a specialist service

 z Continue to progress the Triangle of Care approach to ensure carers are 
supported in mental health services

We will report:

 z The number of people accessing psychological therapies

 z The percentage of those undergoing Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies reporting improvement

 z Audit of quality of discharge/Rainy day plans or equivalent

 z Rates of those in employment and stable housing

 z Detention rates under the Mental Health Act and Deprivation of Liberty

 z Number of attenders and carers

P
age 70



13

Theme 7: Ensure Gloucestershire is a mental health friendly county 

Gloucestershire aims to be a mental health friendly county. This 
means that everyone living and working in Gloucestershire shares the 
responsibility for ensuring that people with mental ill health and their 
families and carers feel understood, valued, safe and able to contribute.

In order for the County to become more mental health friendly we need 
to:

 z Be more open

 z Have a range of options to keep well

 z Make reasonable adjustments

 z Encourage a work/life balance

 z Work against stigma

 z Build mental health into conversations

 z Lead by example

 z Encourage Mental Health First Aid Applied Suicide Prevention Skills 
Training (ASIST) training

 z Encourage wellbeing at work

 z Encourage awareness of how to access help and support

 z Be confident in recognising and responding to emotional distress

Priorities within this theme:

 z Develop a tackling stigma hub (as part of the national Time to 
Change programme) with broader partnerships, champions and 
stakeholders across the county 

 z Increase the work with, and inclusion of, people with lived experience

 z Increase capacity and ability to tackle mental health stigma work for 
and with people aligned to priority groups 

 z Engage a wider group of people with lived experience to become 
champions of tackling stigma activity

 z Work with Patient Participation Groups (PPG) to ensure that tackling mental 
health stigma and talking mental health messaging reaches into every GP 
practice in the county

 z Engage with media and use social media and film development to spread 
messages of positive stories 

 z Tackling stigma with statutory health and care workers in organisations in 
Gloucestershire

We will report:

 z The number of people with lived experience engaged with Mental Health 
Experience Led Opportunities (MHELO) or other independent networks of 
support among people who have had, or are experiencing mental health 
difficulties

 z The number of Patient Participation Groups in GP surgeries actively involved in 
tackling mental health stigma and talking about mental health 

 z The number of changes made as a result of quality toolkits from a patient’s 
perspective being undertaken such as the ‘15 step challenge’ 

 z The number of tackling stigma events undertaken with GP/primary care 
involvement 

 z The number of care organisations and employers actively involved 

 z The number of pledges made as a result of workshops undertaken

 z The increase in social media followers of ‘GlosTacklesStigma’ by 5% month on 
month 

 z The number of people taking champion and leadership positions including 
those from marginalised groups and Patient Participation Groups

P
age 71



14

Transformation and cultural change

Medium term:

At the end of the 5 year period covered by the strategy there will be:

 z More focus on early intervention and prevention

 z Reduced reliance on crisis and emergency services

 z A noticeable and positive change in attitudes towards mental health from initiatives in schools and workplaces

 z Greater shared accountability, cost effectiveness and efficiencies in service delivery

 z More people with access to a personal budget

 z Better understanding of and commitment to addressing the wider determinants of mental health

This is what 
you told us you 
wanted

 z Co-production

 z Person centred, holistic 
care

 z To include the views 
of people with lived 
experience

 z To challenge 
discriminatory language 
and behaviour

 z To remove stigma

 z To create better links 
with carers

 z Clear pathways

 z Early intervention

 z Care plans

 z Information sharing

 z services for people with 
personality disorders

Short term:

By midway through the life of the strategy we would expect more people to:

 z Recognise their own mental ill health and wellbeing and access support appropriate to their needs

 z Feel able to talk about how they feel with their loved ones, friends and colleagues

 z Be responsible for their own recovery journey, with support where required

 z Identify themselves as carers and feel valued and listened to

 z Have accessed Mental Health First Aid training through schools, colleges, work or other organisations they are 
linked with

Long term:

 z Beyond the life of this strategy we recognise the need to continue to transform and evolve Gloucestershire’s 
mental health services – with a whole person, whole life, whole community approach.

P
age 72



15

Delivery of this strategy will be through the 
Gloucestershire Mental Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership Board who are responsible for 
monitoring co-produced and detailed action plans 
to ensure that the strategy is delivered and makes 
a difference to people’s lives. The Mental Health & 
Wellbeing Partnership Board is accountable to the 
Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board.

A suite of performance indicators will be compiled 
which will help to monitor progress to achieve 
our vision. To complement the long term impact 
of the strategy, periodic qualitative surveys of 
service users, carers, staff groups, voluntary sector 
organisations and other interested parties will be 
undertaken on behalf of the Partnership Board. 

Narrative based updates will also help tell the story 
of Gloucestershire.

This strategy is the start 
of a journey; come on 
board and join us to 
achieve our vision

Delivering and measuring progress

P
age 73



16

To discuss receiving this information in large print or Braille 
please ring 0800 0151 548.
To discuss receiving this information in other formats please contact:

Ak si želáte získat túto informáciu v inom formáte, kontaktujte prosím

FREEPOST RRYY-KSGT-AGBR,  
PALS, NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Sanger House, 
5220 Valiant Court, Gloucester Business Park Gloucester GL3 4FE 

For further information about this strategy 
please contact the Mental Health Team at NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Sanger House, 5220 Valiant Court, Gloucester 
Business Park, Brockworth, Gloucester GL3 4FE

Tel: 0300 421 1500 or  
Email: GLCCG.enquiries@nhs.net

P
age 74



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Air quality and health in Gloucestershire

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Item for decision

Sponsor Sarah Scott

Author Dave Mc Conalogue, Consultant in Public Health
Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner Community Infrastructure
Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council, Public Health Team

Key Issues:  

- Air quality and health is an important issue for Gloucestershire, in terms 
of its impact on prevalence of disease, life expectancy and impact on 
demand for health and social care services

- A health and system impact assessment was carried out to examine air 
quality and health in Gloucestershire. The outputs from this helped to 
inform recommendations from a Members’ Task Group

- The Members’ Task Group recommendations include the development 
of a Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy, and a robust 
governance process led by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board

- Public Sector organisations have a key role in identifying actions to 
reduce the impact of their organisations on air quality and its impact on 
their staff, clients and the public

Recommendations to Board: 
Members of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board are 
recommended to:

- Review the Health and System Impact Assessment for Air Quality and 
Health in Gloucestershire, and the Member’s Task Group 
recommendations

- Approve the governance process for development and implementation 
of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

- Identify the role of their organisations in supporting improvements in air 
quality and reducing its impact on their staff and members of the public

Financial/Resource Implications: None identified

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



1. Purpose
This report describes the process and outcomes from a Members’ Task Group, 
convened by the GCC Environment Scrutiny Committee, which utilised a Health and 
System Impact Assessment to consider air quality and health in Gloucestershire. The 
report highlights the pathway for developing an approach to improving air quality and 
health in Gloucestershire, and the proposed role of the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Board in directing the development and implementation of an air quality 
and health strategy. The report also requests the engagement of members of the 
Board and their organisations to help support actions to improve air quality and to 
reduce its impact on the health of the population of Gloucestershire.

2. Background
Particulate matter (PM) and nitrogen oxides (NO) are the two key pollutants that 
affect air quality at the local level. At any level of exposure they can have a negative 
impact on health from both short term and longer term exposures. They contribute to 
the prevalence of disease, life expectancy, demand on health and social care 
services and economic productivity. It is also a source of health inequality, where the 
most deprived and those who pollute the least, have the highest exposure and the 
worst outcomes in terms of health and life expectancy. 
In October 2018 a Members’ Task Group was set up to consider air quality and 
health in Gloucestershire. The group was supported by Gloucestershire County 
Council Officers from Public Health, Community Infrastructure and Democratic 
Services. The group agreed to complete a Health and System Impact Assessment on 
air quality and health to inform recommendations on how to respond to air quality and 
its impact on health in Gloucestershire. The Health and System Impact Assessment 
covered the following areas (see appendix A and B):

- Evidence review on the relationship between air quality and health
- Data and epidemiology on air quality and health in Gloucestershire
- Review of evidence based interventions to improve air quality and/or mitigate 

its impact on health
These elements were presented at a multi-stakeholder group workshop, which was 
attended by 55 delegates including participation from: Active Gloucestershire; NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; District Councils; Gloucestershire 
County Council; Gloucestershire wildlife trust; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 
Partnership; Public Health England; Highways England; Stagecoach; and University 
of Gloucestershire. The workshop delegates considered the opportunities, 
challenges, and priorities for action around air quality and health in Gloucestershire. 
The Health and System Impact Assessment (including workshop outputs) was 
discussed by the Member’s Task Group. The group recognised the impact of poor air 
quality on the health of people living in Gloucestershire, the impact this has on health 
and social care services, and its contribution to premature mortality. The group also 
recognised the role that individual organisations in both the Public and Private sector 
have on air quality. It was felt important that Public Sector organisations should lead 
by example in how they manage their contracts and fleets to reduce emissions and 
mitigate exposure for their workforce. 
The task group agreed a set of recommendations to support improvements on air 
quality and health in Gloucestershire (appendix C):

- Development of a Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy

Page 76



- Development of a Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership to 
develop and drive the strategy

- Establish a robust governance process for the strategy, led by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with oversight and scrutiny 
provided by both the Health Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee

- Improvements to air quality monitoring 
- Improving information to the public on air quality and its impact on health 

within Gloucestershire
- Inclusion of air quality and health as a consideration in District and County 

Council planning and transport policies, and the Gloucestershire Local 
Transport Plan

- Actions to promote the uptake of electric vehicles
- Promotion of uptake of active travel
- Review of licencing of Public Transport and Public Sector fleet management to 

promote uptake of cleaner vehicles and reduction in emissions
The recommendations of the Member’s Task Group were supported by the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and by 
Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet. 

3. Implementing air quality and health recommendations
The recommendations of the Member’s Task Group which were informed by the 
Health and System Impact Assessment for Air Quality and Health in Gloucestershire 
are being taken forward by the Gloucestershire air quality and health partnership. 
This group is a pan-Gloucestershire partnership made up of organisations and 
professions from Local Authorities, NHS, community organisations, and the private 
sector. The partnership has responsibility for the development and implementation of 
the Gloucestershire air quality and health strategy. 
The partnership was set up in October 2018. The immediate objectives of the 
partnership are to: 

- Direct the establishment of three groups to develop action plans on: electric 
vehicles and clean fleet; active travel; and air quality monitoring and behaviour 
change

- Organise an air quality and health strategy development workshop: This took 
place in October and was attended by over 60 delegates from a range of 
Public Sector, community groups, and private sector. The outputs from this 
workshop are being analysed to inform the Gloucestershire air quality and 
health strategy

- Develop a Gloucestershire strategy for air quality and health
- Direct and monitor the implementation of the Gloucestershire air quality and 

health strategy

4. Role of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
The Member’s Task Group highlighted the importance of a robust governance 
process, with strong leadership provided by health bodies and the wider public 
sector. It was acknowledged that the key outcome from exposure to poor levels of air 
quality is the development of chronic health conditions and acute episodes of care. 

Page 77



The members also highlighted the impact of healthcare organisations, in addition to 
Local Authorities, on air quality and their role in improving this. 
It is proposed that as an important issue for the health of Gloucestershire, and its 
impact on health and social care organisations, that the Gloucestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Board lead the governance process for the development and 
implementation of the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 
The members of the Board also have an important role in identifying actions for their 
organisations to improve air quality in Gloucestershire, and to help protect their 
patients, clients and members of the public from exposure to poor air quality. 
The Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership will coordinate the 
development and implementation of the strategy, and agree the establishment of 
workgroups to drive forward specific elements of the strategy. The Partnership will 
report into the Health and Wellbeing Board on an annual basis. 

5. Recommendations for the Health and Wellbeing Board
Members of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:

- Review the Health and System Impact Assessment for Air Quality and Health 
in Gloucestershire, and the Member’s Task Group recommendations

- Approve the governance process for development and implementation of the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Strategy. 

- Identify the role of their organisations in supporting improvements in air quality 
and reducing its impact on their staff and members of the public

Authors
Dave Mc Conalogue, Consultant in Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner, Gloucestershire County Council
Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council

Page 78



1 
 

Review of Air Quality and Health in 
Gloucestershire 

Executive Summary 

Scope of this review 
 This review supports the air quality health and system impact assessment for 

Gloucestershire. An initial version was shared with participants of the air quality health and 
system impact assessment workshop held by Gloucestershire County Council in January 
2018. This paper is intended to inform the work of its Scrutiny Task Group on Air Pollution 
and its Impact on Public Health. 

 The review focuses on two key pollutants: particulate matter and nitrogen dioxide. These 
are the two principle pollutants affecting health of the population, and which are amenable 
to action at the local level.  

 The review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, and the 
interventions to improve air quality or mitigate its impact on health at the local level. There 
is also a review of the data on air quality in Gloucestershire, relevant health outcomes, and 
associated information including levels of active travel.   

What do we mean by air quality? 
 Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is 

pollution free. Sources of pollution can be local or regional. Locally generated pollution 
relates to the pollution levels produced within a given area. In Gloucestershire sources 
include industry, transport and agricultural. Regional pollution originates from other areas 
but can be detected within the given area. This can be seen on a regional, continental or 
global scale.  

 The key pollutants contributing to poor air quality are: particulate matter, nitrogen dioxide, 
carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide, and low level ozone. While all of these 
pollutants contribute to poor human health outcomes, the review focuses on particulate 
matter and nitrogen dioxide as these are most amenable to action at the local level in 
Gloucestershire. 

 Particulate matter describes pollution which is mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets. 
PM₁₀s and PM₂.₅s (particles less than 10 and 2.5 micrometers in diameter respectively) are of 
most interest as they are fine inhalable particles which can be absorbed into the lung tissue. 
In Gloucestershire the main local sources are from road use; combustion of fuel, road use 
and brake dust among other sources.  

 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂) is the most notable of a group of gases referred to as nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), in terms of its impact on health. The main sources of NO₂ are from petrol and diesel 
road vehicles, and power plants. In Gloucestershire the principle local source of NO₂ which 
the population is exposed to is from road transport. 

 There are both national and European directive target levels for specific pollutants. Even 
after leaving the European Union, these targets are likely to be maintained.  

 Poor air quality is the greatest environmental threat to Public’s health in the UK. It has a 
large impact on health and life expectancy in the UK. It is also has a large cost in terms of 
health and social care use, and lost productivity.  

Page 79



2 
 

The relationship between air quality and health 
 In the UK, there are approximately 340,000 life years lost, and 40,000 deaths annually from 

exposure to poor air quality (estimates principally from particulate matter and nitrogen 

dioxide). 

 Exposure to poor air quality results in both acute admissions to healthcare services, and long 

term health and social care needs. 

 Poor air quality is a source of inequality, where those who are most deprived are also the 

most likely to live in areas with the highest level of exposure. Even though they may not be 

large contributors of pollutants themselves.  

 There is no safe level of exposure to PM₂.₅ or NO₂. Even where air quality meets European 

Directive limits there is still a negative impact on health outcomes 

 PM₂.₅ (finer particulate pollution) is the most studied form of pollution, and has the 

strongest evidence base for independent causal effect on poor health outcomes. It has been 

shown to impact on the development of both pulmonary and cardiovascular diseases, as 

well as some cancers.  

 Short term exposure to PM₂.₅ has a strong relationship to myocardial infarction (heart 

attack) and myocardial ischemia (restriction of blood to the heart). Studies have also shown 

increased incidence of arrhythmias (irregular heart beat) and stroke. For longer term 

exposures, PM₂.₅ has a strong relationship to myocardial infarction, angina, and prevalence 

of atherosclerosis (build-up of plaque on inside of arteries). There has also been a strong 

relationship between long term exposure to PM₂.₅ and prevalence of chronic obstructive 

pulmonary disease. 

 There is a strong independent relationship between short term exposure to NO₂ and the 

prevalence of respiratory conditions, particularly asthma in children, and associated 

exacerbation of respiratory conditions (strongest in asthmatics). There is also evidence to 

suggest an impact on cardiovascular disease outcomes, but this is not strong enough to infer 

causality.  

 For longer term exposure to NO₂ there is likely an independent causal effect on respiratory 
disease. The evidence is also suggestive of a similar relationship to cardiovascular disease, 
although this is not currently strong enough to support an independent causal relationship. 

Air quality and health data in Gloucestershire 
 Air quality levels for PM2.5 in Gloucestershire are in line with regional averages. Estimated 

levels are highest in Tewkesbury and Cheltenham, which are both higher than regional 
averages. Modelled data for PM10 at the lower super output area (LSOA) shows the highest 
estimated concentrations in Gloucestershire are in the Churchdown and Ashchurch areas of 
Tewkesbury and the west of Cheltenham.  

 Air quality levels for nitrogen dioxide at the LSOA level are within EU directive target levels. 
The highest estimated concentrations are in North Gloucester, Cheltenham and around 
Gloucestershire Airport.  

 16 NO2 monitoring sites across the county exceeded WHO recommendations. 11 of these 
sites are located in Cheltenham district, 4 were located in Gloucester and 1 is located in 
Cotswold at the Air Balloon Roundabout. 

 There are 8 air quality management areas (where national air quality targets are not being 
achieved) in Gloucestershire. The majority are located in urban areas or in the case of 
Cotswold at a major road junction (the Air Balloon junction, Birdlip) due to high vehicle 
emissions. 

Page 80



3 
 

 People with asthma and other pulmonary conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease (COPD) are particularly vulnerable to the impact from poor air quality. In 
Gloucestershire we have 42,000 people recorded as living with asthma, and over 11,000 
people known to be living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Poor air quality 
exacerbates acute episodes as well as long term management, which can lead to higher 
health and social care use. There is also data which suggests that those who are already 
reliant on adult social care also have a higher exposure to poor air quality. 

 Within Gloucestershire there are nine Lower Super Output Areas that exceed the 
recommended levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, of these 2 are in the most deprived 20% of the 
country in terms of indices of multiple deprivation. This is higher than expected, and 
suggests a disproportionate effect on the most deprived.  

 In Gloucestershire children (who are more vulnerable to the effects of poor air quality) also 
have higher levels of exposure than other age groups.  

 Gloucestershire has high rates of car use for travel to work compared to the rest of the UK. 
Even where journeys to work are less than two kilometres, a much lower proportion are 
made on foot or by bicycle than in the rest of the UK. Levels vary significantly within the 
county between rural and urban areas. In Cheltenham over 6% of commuter trips are made 
by bicycle, compared with the national average of 2%. 

Interventions to improve air quality 
 A review was undertaken by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence to 

highlight the key interventions amenable to action at the local level to improve air quality 
and/or to mitigate its impact on health. The focus of the evidence review was on air quality 
related to road use.  

 The principle intervention areas highlighted from the review are: planning (including 
transport planning); clean air and congestion charging zones; reducing emissions from public 
sector transport and vehicle fleets; smooth driving and speed reduction; active travel; and 
awareness raising (health promotion and health education). Table 1 is a summary of the key 
interventions and the strength of the evidence regarding their effectiveness. 

 The most cost-effective interventions were: integration of air quality in local planning 
decisions; low emission zones (restriction of heaviest polluting vehicles); changing to 
emission-controlled diesel or compressed natural gas; driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling); smoothing traffic flows through speed reductions; and specific interventions 
to support active travel. 

 Promotion of behaviour change to support improved air quality, should focus on: explaining 
what air pollution is; advice on how people can protect themselves; explanation of the 
health impacts; keep it local; promote understanding of how individuals can make a 
difference; and empower communities and promote leadership. 

 It is important that action is not limited to air pollution hot spots alone. Air pollutants and 
their sources are mobile so actions in one area may affect another – it is important not to 
simply move the problem to another community. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



4 
 

Table 9: Summary of interventions to improve air quality or mitigate the impact on health 

Category Intervention Effectiveness Cost-
effectiveness 

Planning Include air pollution in local planning    
 

Road side barriers   

Street vegetation   

Bypass construction   

Clean air and congestion 
charging zones 

Low emission zones restricting certain 
classes of vehicle 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Infrastructure supporting use of zero 
and low-emission travel (e.g. charging 
points) 

  

Reducing emissions from 
public sector transport 
services and vehicle fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel 
or compressed natural gas 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling)  

  

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-
starting 

  

Smooth driving and speed 
reduction 

Individual traffic-calming measures  
 

 
 

Smoothing traffic flows through speed 
reductions 

  

Active travel Provide a choice of cycle routes 
including routes avoiding highly 
polluted roads 

  
 
 

Separate cycle routes from motor 
traffic and reduce time spent by 
cyclists in areas of high pollution 

  

Raising public awareness Providing evidence to the public    

Providing information to businesses   

Providing information to health 
professionals 

  

 

A red traffic light means this is not an effective/cost-effective intervention.  

An amber traffic light means the evidence is mixed, or that this may be an effective intervention but only in 

specific local circumstances.  

 

A green traffic light means that evidence suggests this is an effective/cost-effective intervention 

 

  

Page 82



5 
 

Multi-stakeholder Workshop on Air Quality and Health  
The Air Quality and Health impact assessment workshop was held on the 16th January 2018. The 

workshop aim was to review the relationship between air quality and health in Gloucestershire, in 

aid of developing approaches to improve local air quality and its impact on the population’s health. 

55 delegates attended from a variety of organisations and professions across Gloucestershire to 

provide a range of expertise and local knowledge. Attendees included individuals from Active 

Gloucestershire; NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; District Councils; 

Gloucestershire County Council; Gloucestershire wildlife trust; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Partnership; Public Health England; Highways England; Stagecoach; and University of 

Gloucestershire.  

The workshop was opened by the Chair of the Air Quality Member task group, Jeremy Hilton, and 

Nigel Riglar, Gloucestershire County Council Commissioning Director for Communities & 

Infrastructure. Attendees heard from Dr Adrian Davis, an independent consultant on public health 

and transport, before taking part in group discussion sessions to explore key themes. The event 

closed with Sarah Scott, Gloucestershire County Council Director of Public Health, summarising key 

feedback from the discussions.  

Workshop participants highlighted key areas for prioritisation in Gloucestershire, including:   

 Need for Leadership and Vision 

 Importance of partnership and collaboration in moving forward positively 

 Clean and accessible public transport 

 Strengthening of planning and transport policy 

 Need to engage and educate the public on air quality and health in Gloucestershire 

 Promotion of walking and cycling as a viable alternative to private cars 

 Support for increased use of electric vehicles 

 Improvements in monitoring and information sharing of air quality in Gloucestershire 

 Public sector and contractors to lead by example in terms of ‘cleaner’ fleets 
 

A summary of the workshop outputs is provided in the section on ‘Multi-stakeholder Workshop on 

Air Quality and Health’ on page 36.  

Recommendations from Air Quality and Health System Impact Assessment 
The recommendations from the air quality and health system impact assessment are based on a 

review of the outputs from the process: evidence of relationship between air quality and health; 

data and epidemiology review for Gloucestershire; evidence review of intervention to improve air 

quality and/or mitigate its impact on health; and the outputs from the multi-stakeholder workshop.  

Summaries of the sections from the health and system impact assessment were reviewed by a small 

group of officers from different departments in Gloucestershire County Council to agree key 

recommendations. The key recommendations respond to the issues and evidence raised in the 

health and system impact assessment. The following provides a short summary of the 

recommendations: 

Page 83



6 
 

Define a Gloucestershire strategy for air quality and health 

A strategy on air quality and health should be developed in the next 12 months by public and private 

bodies in a partnership approach. The County Council should facilitate a system wide approach 

through community leadership. 

Develop a model for partnership and collaboration to develop and oversee the agenda 

A model of partnership across private and public bodies needs to be established in the next six 

months to drive the development and delivery of the agenda, including the Gloucestershire strategy, 

for air quality and health in Gloucestershire. This group should report into the Gloucestershire 

Health and Wellbeing Board on strategy development and implementation. 

Promote clean and accessible public transport 

A review of interventions to accelerate the uptake of cleaner vehicles for public transport and taxis 

should be carried out, including the role of licensing policies and additional infrastructure 

requirements. The review group should also review accessibility to public transport and the 

specification of transport contracts. Recommendations should be made in respect of licensing 

policies and the specification of council-funded transport services. 

Strengthen air quality, health and active transport in planning and transport policies 

Planning and transport policies - and their operational use - at a local and county level should be 

reviewed, and frameworks developed to incorporate consideration of air quality and active travel 

into larger development proposals and highway schemes.   

The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan review should give greater recognition to the impact of 

transport on air quality and public health and set more ambitious targets for raising the proportion 

of trips made by sustainable and active travel. 

Engage and educate the public on air quality and health 

A campaign should be developed to make the public aware of the issue of air quality and health in 

Gloucestershire, and the positive actions that they can take to protect themselves and help to 

improve air quality. The promotion and engagement of the public on air quality and health should be 

targeted across the life course: schools; children/teenagers; working age adults; the elderly; hard to 

reach groups. 

Promotion of active travel and interventions to facilitate its uptake 

A programme of work should be established to promote the uptake of active travel in 

Gloucestershire. This work should engage the public, businesses, public sector, and schools in 

actions to improve active travel uptake. It should consider affordable ways of piloting 20mph zones 

and making changes to promote smoother traffic flow. This programme of work should link with 

other public health work which is already focusing on behaviour change to improve activity levels. 

e.g. Gloucestershire Moves. 

Support the uptake of electric vehicle use 

A group should be set up to explore opportunities to promote uptake of electric vehicles for both 

business and private use to coincide with investment to improve electric charging infrastructure. The 

group should also review options to incentivise electric vehicle uptake. 

Page 84



7 
 

Improve monitoring and information sharing of air quality in Gloucestershire 

A sub-group of the strategy group should be established to review deployment of air quality 

monitoring equipment to help improve understanding of air quality in Gloucestershire. The group 

should also make recommendations as to how air quality monitoring information can be shared with 

the general public in Gloucestershire so they can engage and respond to it in a timely way. 

Review public sector fleet/contractor fleets to reduce emissions 

Local public sector bodies should review their current in-house vehicle fleets and develop fleet 

replacement plans to make these cleaner. A group of public sector bodies should also review 

contracting arrangements with providers to understand how these can be used as a tool to reduce 

emissions from external contractors’ fleets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



8 
 

Introduction to Air Quality and Health 

Introduction 

Air quality and health impact assessment 
This review provides a summary overview of air quality and health in support of a Gloucestershire 

health impact assessment. A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) describes a systematic approach to 

understanding the impacts and opportunities in a project or proposal. This methodology is being 

used to help direct the development of a Gloucestershire wide approach to air quality and the 

impacts on the health of our population. The HIA will support: 

- exploration of the issue of air quality including its impact on health in Gloucestershire 

- review and summary of the evidence base regarding actions that can be taken to improve air 

quality and reduce its impact on the health of the population of Gloucestershire 

- prioritise actions to take forward and to build consensus 

The HIA requires a multi-stakeholder approach to ensure solutions are prioritised which will work for 

Gloucestershire, and to build support for taking a programme of work forward. The end result of the 

HIA is an evidence based work programme which has wide stakeholder support. 

Scope of the review 
This review forms part of the HIA. It provides broad background information for participants of the 

air quality and health workshop. It aims to give participants some basic information on the subject 

area, and to highlight the relevant evidence base.  

The review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, and the 

interventions to improve air quality or mitigate its impact on health at the local level. There is also a 

review of the data on air quality in Gloucestershire, relevant health outcomes, and associated 

information including levels of active travel.   

Whilst there are many types of air pollution, this review focuses on: particulate matter and nitrogen 

dioxide. These are the two principle pollutants affecting the health of the local population, and 

which are amenable to action at the local level.  

What is Air Quality?  
Air quality is a measure of the degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is pollution 

free from any chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural characteristics of the 

atmosphere1. The main sources of poor air quality in the UK are generated from transport, power 

generation and industrial combustion. The key air pollutants which are contribute to poor air quality 

are Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂), Particulate Matter (PM₂.₅, PM₁₀), Carbon Monoxide (CO), Carbon Dioxide 

(CO₂), Sulphur Dioxide (SO₂) and Low Level Ozone (O₃). At the local level, in the context of 

Gloucestershire, the key sources of poor air quality are nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter. 

These are also the most amenable to action at the local level, stemming principally from transport.  

                                                           
1
  Air pollution, World Health Organisation http://www.who.int/topics/air_pollution/en/ 

Page 86

http://www.who.int/topics/air_pollution/en/


9 
 

Particulate matter describes pollution which is mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets. PM₁₀s 

and PM₂.₅s (particles less than 10 and 2.5 micrometers in diameter respectively) are of most interest 

as they are fine inhalable particles which can be absorbed into the lung tissue, and for the smallest 

particles, into the blood stream. Nitrogen Dioxide (NO₂) is the most notable of a group of gases 

referred to as nitrogen oxides (NOx), in terms of its impact on health. Nitrogen oxide is currently the 

main pollutant monitored in reference to air quality. Particulate matter is currently not being 

routinely monitored at the local level, however is considered a fundamental element in poor air 

quality standards.  

Why is air quality and its impact on health important? 
This review covers in detail the relationship between air quality and health, and also summarises 

some of the potential impacts at the local level. The World health Organisation has described air 

quality has been described as the greatest environmental threat facing the public’s health. In the 

United Kingdom poor air quality has been estimated to be responsible for as many as 40,000 

premature deaths2.  Additionally, it is estimated that there is a cost in terms of health care use of 

£16bn. This does not include the cost through lost productivity, which is estimated to be £2.7bn3. 

Policy and guidance 

Gloucestershire 

Through the Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance local authorities have a duty to 

investigate the levels of pollution within their area, with the most obvious method being to directly 

measure the levels of pollutant. If a monitoring area is likely to, or has breached the European 

commission air quality standards, the local authority has a legal obligation to declare an Air Quality 

Management area (AQMA). Local authorities are then required to produce an air quality action plan 

detailing the measures put in place to reduce pollution.  

National UK 

In 2017, the UK Government released an updated air quality plan/ policy with a focus on nitrogen 

dioxide (NO2) emissions. This highlights where the UK is performing below our EU objectives, and 

sets out the approach to reduce emission levels in 29 of the 37 town and cities with non-compliant 

AQMAs to within statutory limits “in the soonest time possible”. Some of the key elements of the 

strategy include: development of clean air zones (for concentrated efforts); reduction of emissions 

from the current road transport; acceleration of road vehicle fleet turnover to cleaner vehicles; 

reduction of emissions from other forms of transport; reduction of industry emissions; and reduction 

of emissions from buildings and other stationary sources 

Role of Local Authorities 

Local authorities have a target to reduce local levels of NO₂ to comply with the European 
Commission air quality objectives. Unlike climate change gases NO2 pollution is local. The Local 
Authority controls several of the levers for improving air quality such as planning and transportation. 
They also have close partnerships with local stakeholders which are critical to help drive forward 
local positive actions. In 2017 the UK Government released a national framework with direction for 

                                                           
2
 Royal College of Physicians. Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution: Report of a working 

party. London: RCP, 2016 
3
 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2014), Valuing the Impacts of Air Quality on 

Productivity, DEFRA 

Page 87



10 
 

local authorities, and additional financial support, together with national level initiatives aimed at 
reducing emissions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



11 
 

Relationship between air quality and 
health: summary of the evidence 

Overview of approach to evidence review 

This review summarises evidence of the relationship between air quality and health, with the aim to 

describe the nature and extent of the impact of poor air quality on the health of people. The review 

focuses on two areas of air pollution which are particularly relevant to action at the local level, and 

where the highest related burden of disease is estimated: particulate matter; and nitrogen dioxide. 

The review draws mainly from other reviews of published evidence on the impacts of these 

pollutants on human health: The Lancet Commission on Pollution and Health (2017); Royal College 

of Physicians report: Every breath we take - the lifelong impact of air pollution (2016); DEFRA, PHE, 

and LGA report: Air quality – a briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017); the Committee on 

medical effects of air pollutants – statement on the evidence for the effects of nitrogen dioxide on 

health (2015); and World Health Organisation: Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution 

– REVIHAAP (2013). The review also references individual studies to evidence specific points, most of 

which are contained in the comprehensive reviews listed before.  

Page 89



12 
 

Impact of poor air quality 

Impact of poor air quality on disease and life expectancy  

There is a strong and improving evidence base of the impact of poor air quality on health in 
terms of the burden of disease and associated mortality. Estimates are normally based on 
the impact of PM₂.₅s (less than 2.5 micrometers in diameter) and/or nitrogen dioxide. The 
strongest evidence of impact comes from studies regarding PM₂.₅s, but evidence reviews 
are also suggestive of an independent impact from nitrogen dioxide4ʾ5ʾ6. The Royal College 
of Physicians (2016) estimates the combined premature mortality from poor air quality at 
40,000 deaths in the UK annually. Other estimates, suggest that there are 29,000 deaths 
from particulate matter pollution alone, with 340,000 life years lost annually3.  

There is no safe level of PM₂.₅ or NO₂. At all levels of exposure, both short and long term, 
there is a negative impact on a population’s health and life expectancy4. Air quality meeting 
the target levels set by the European Union for PM₂.₅ and N02 will still have a measurable 
impact on the health outcomes for a population.  

There is good evidence for a relationship between short and long term exposure to poor air quality 

and the development of cardiovascular and pulmonary conditions, as well as some cancers 3ʾ4ʾ5ʾ7. 

There is also an emerging evidence base for a relationship between poor air quality (mainly related 

to PM₂.₅) and the development of conditions of the central nervous system, and childhood 

developmental outcomes4ʾ 5. 

Poor air quality impact on health and social care  
The association between exposure to poor air quality and the development of pulmonary and 

cardiovascular disease results in reliance on health and social care support much earlier than would 

otherwise have been needed 8,4. This results in a substantial additional strain on health and social 

care resources, both in acute response, and providing care for conditions over many years. This 

results in a substantial resource burden on health and social care services (both publically and 

privately funded) over many years.  

Poor air quality relationship with other health stressors 
It is important that poor air quality is not viewed in isolation. It is a stressor on the health of a 

population, which interacts with other stressors, having a multiplying or co-determinant effect7,4. It 

may create susceptibility to disease in some populations, or help to accelerate the impact from other 

factors. It is also a source of inequality in populations, where those who are the most deprived are 

also the most likely to live in areas with the highest levels of exposure, and thus endure the worst 

                                                           
4
 COMMITTEE ON THE MEDICAL EFFECTS OF AIR POLLUTANTS. STATEMENT ON THE EVIDENCE FOR THE 

EFFECTS OF NITROGEN DIOXIDE. London: COMEAP, 2015 
5
 DEFRA, PHE, LGA. Air Quality: A Briefing for Directors of Public Health. London: DEFRA, 2017 

6 The Lancet. The Lancet Commission on pollution and health. London: Lancet, 2017. 

United States Environmental Protection Agency. "Integrated Science Assessment for Oxides of Nitrogen – 
Health Criteria." 2015. 

7
 World Health Organisation. Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution-REVIHAAP project: final 

technical report. Copenhagen: WHO - European Office, 2013 
8
 Royal College of Physicians. Every breath we take: the lifelong impact of air pollution: Report of a working 

party. London: RCP, 2016 

Page 90



13 
 

outcomes in a society, even though they may not themselves be substantial contributors to poor air 

quality 7, 910.  

Particulate matter and health 

Particulate matter and its impact on health 
PM₂.₅ is the most studied form of air pollution, and has the strongest evidence base for causality of 

premature mortality and poor health 7,  5, 6, 4. PM₂.₅ can be inhaled deep into the lung causing 

damage to the tissue, and the finest of these particles (PM0.1) can pass directly into a person’s blood 

stream 7, 4, 5, 6, which can have a direct impact on a person’s cardiovascular health. There is strong 

evidence of an independent link between exposure to PM₂.₅ and poor cardiovascular and pulmonary 

health7, 5, 6, 4, which in turn negatively impacts a person’s length and quality of life.  

The health impacts from PM₂.₅s can be divided into the effects from long term and short term 

exposure 7, 4, 5, 6,11. For short term exposures (ranging from hours to a few weeks), there is a strong 

relationship to the exacerbation of pre-existing respiratory conditions, particularly for asthma and 

chronic bronchitis. As a consequence there is a subsequent relationship with use of healthcare 

resources such as emergency admissions for these conditions. There is also strong relationship 

between short term exposures and myocardial infarction (heart attack) and myocardial ischemia 

(restriction of blood to the heart). Again, there is a subsequent relationship with increased 

healthcare use. Studies have also shown increased incidence of arrhythmias (irregular heart beat) 

and stroke.  

For longer term exposures (months to years) studies have shown an increased risk of coronary 

events including myocardial infarction and angina12, and a potentially related prevalence of 

atherosclerosis (build-up of plaque on inside of arteries). There has also been a strong relationship 

between long term exposure to PM₂.₅ and prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease13.  

There is an emerging evidence base, which is suggestive of a relationship between long term 

exposure to PM₂.₅ and poor childhood development and the development of conditions of the 

central nervous system such as Parkinson’s disease and Alzheimer’s. 4 

Particulate matter mechanisms of impact  
There are several mechanisms by which exposure to particulate matter causes poor health. 

Inhalation of the particles deep into lung tissue, and the damage and deterioration of the tissue has 

an impact of the development of pulmonary disease. Evidence suggests this occurs through a variety 

of mechanisms, including inflammatory response and oxidization due to free radical production, 

                                                           
9
 National Audit Office. Air Quality. London: NAO, 2017 

10
 Walker, D., Fairburn, J., Smith, G. and Mitchell, D. (2003). Environmental Quality and Social Deprivation. 

R&D Technical Report E2-067/1/TR. [online] Bristol. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/291071/se2-067-1-tr-e-e.pdf 
11

 Cesaroni, et al. "Long term exposure to ambient air pollution and incidence of acute coronary events: 
prospective cohort study and meta-analysis in 11 European cohorts from the ESCAPE Project." BMJ (2014) 
12

 chest pain/pressure, normally due to obstruction or spasm of the coronary arteries 
13

 Term for a group of conditions which cause long term breathing difficulties. It includes emphysema and 
chronic bronchitis.  

Page 91



14 
 

both of which cause damage to the lung tissue14. Much of the cardiovascular disease associated with 

PM₂.₅s is believed to stem from a build up of plaque in the arteries which leads to narrowing and 

restriction of blood flow5 . There is a related increase in oxidative stress, endothelial15 dysfunction, 

and increased propensity for blood to coagulate. These are interrelated consequences which are 

believed to be the key mechanisms leading to cardiovascular disease.  

Nitrogen dioxide and health 

Nitrogen dioxide and its impact on health 
There is a growing evidence base for an independent impact from NO₂ on the development of 

poorer health outcomes and life expectancy 6; 5; 3. COMEAP’s (2015) review of the evidence base 

concludes that it is reasonable to say that NO₂ has an independent impact on health outcomes. A 

systematic review and meta-analysis suggests that the mortality from long term exposure to NO₂ is 

likely to be on a similar scale to PM₂.₅ 16.  

NO₂ exposure has impacts on health from both short and long term exposures  4,  7,  5,  3, 6. The 

evidence base is strongest for short term exposures and particularly the respiratory impacts. Short 

term exposure to NO₂ (from less than 1 hour to several days or weeks) shows a strong positive 

relationship to prevalence of respiratory conditions, particularly asthma in children, and associated 

exacerbation of respiratory conditions (strongest in asthmatics). There is also evidence of a 

relationship to prevalence of cardiovascular disease and outcomes, although this is not sufficient to 

infer causality17,3. 

Long term exposure to NO₂, whilst having a weaker evidence base than short term exposure, shows 

strong association to poorer health outcomes and some evidence of a direct causal relationship. On 

the balance of the evidence is likely that there is an independent causal effect on respiratory 

impacts. While the evidence is also suggestive of a similar relationship to cardiovascular disease, this 

is not currently strong enough to support an independent causal relationship 3, 6. 

Nitrogen dioxide mechanisms of impact 
The evidence base on human subjects suggests NO₂ exposure is related to effects on airways 

responsiveness (airway reactions to specific stimuli), affecting asthmatics more than non-asthmatics. 

There is evidence that exposure to NO₂ causes an inflammatory response in the lungs 18, 19, 20,21, and 

promotes an oxidative stress22 response in the lungs 23 which may cause damage to tissue.  

                                                           
14

 Xing, Y., Xu, Y., Shin, M. and Lian, Y. (2018). The impact of PM2.5 on the human respiratory system. Journal 
of Thoracic Disease, [online] (E69–E74). Available at: 
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4740125/. 
15

 The inner lining of the blood vessel whose function helps ensure proper blood flow to and from the heart 
16 Faustini, A, R Rapp and F Forastiere. "Nitrogen dioxide and mortality: review and meta-analysis of long-term 

studies." Eur Respir J (2014): 744-753. 
17

 United States Environmental Protection Agency. "Integrated Science Assessment for Oxides of Nitrogen – 
Health Criteria." 2015 
18

 Devalia, J, et al. "Effect of nitrogen dioxide on synthesis of inflammatory cytokines expressed by human 
bronchial epithelial cells in vitro." Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (1993): 271–278  
19

 Blomberg, A and et al. "The inflammatory effects of 2 ppm NO2 on the airways of healthy subjects." 
American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine (1997): 418-42 

Page 92



15 
 

 

Air quality and health data in 
Gloucestershire 

Air quality data for Gloucestershire 

Modelled data  
DEFRA assesses air quality in the UK through a combination of monitoring and modelling. DEFRA has 

no monitoring sites in Gloucestershire so relies on modelling data which uses information about 

local sources of pollution and infrastructure to estimate levels of pollution.  

Current WHO Air Quality Guidelines levels for PM2.5 are set at 10 ugm-324. DEFRA estimates that in 

2015 the total annual mean PM2.5 concentration in Gloucestershire was below this level at 8.9 ugm-

3. Gloucestershire was also below the national average of 9.4 ugm-3 and in line with the regional 

average of 8.8 ugm-3.  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
20

 Ayyagari, V, A Januszkiewicz and J Nath. "Pro-inflammatory responses of human bronchial epithelial cells to 
acute nitrogen dioxide exposur." Toxicology (2004): 149–164 
21 Devlin RB, Horstman DP, Gerrity TR, Becker, S, et al. " Inflammatory response in humans exposed to 2.0 ppm 

nitrogen dioxide." Inhal Toxicol (1999): 89–109. 
 
22

 Oxidative stress is caused when antioxidant defenses in the body are not sufficient to counteract the free 

radicals produced in the body. Free radicals can damage cells.  
23 Johnston, C, G Oberdorster and J Finkelstein. "Recovery from oxidant-mediated lung injury: response of 

metallothionein, MIP-2, and MCP-1 to nitrogen dioxide, oxygen, and ozone exposures." Inhal Toxicol 
(2001): 689–702. 

 
24

 WHO Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide, World Health 
Organisation http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/69477/1/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pdf  

Page 93

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/69477/1/WHO_SDE_PHE_OEH_06.02_eng.pdf


16 
 

 

Figure 1:  Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015
25

 

The estimates suggest within Gloucestershire levels of PM2.5 are highest in Cheltenham and 

Tewkesbury where they exceed regional averages.  

 

 

Figure 2: Population weighted annual mean PM2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its districts
26

  

                                                           
25

 Modelled Background Pollution Data, Defra https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/pcm-data  
26

 Ibid. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015

South West England

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

Population weighted annual mean PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire  districts, 2015

Gloucestershire South West England

Page 94

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/pcm-data


17 
 

DEFRA also produces estimates of anthropogenic (originating from human activity) PM2.5, 

this is because estimates based on total PM2.5 might give a misleading impression of the scale 

of the potential influence of policy interventions. The estimates of anthropogenic PM2.5 

suggest that Gloucestershire in line with national averages and similar to the South West.  

 

Figure 3: Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its statistical 
neighbours

27
 

At district level Cheltenham and Tewkesbury had the highest levels of anthropogenic PM 2.5, with 

Gloucester also exceeding regional averages.  

                                                           
27

 Ibid. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 concentration, 
Gloucestershire and its statistical neighbours, 2015

South West England

Page 95



18 
 

 

Figure 4: Population weighted annual anthropogenic mean PM2.5 concentration, Gloucestershire and its districts
28

 

Estimates of particulate matter PM10 and nitrogen dioxide are also available for small areas (Lower 

Super Output Areas29). Figure 5 shows that in terms of PM10, levels are estimated to be at their 

highest in the Churchdown and Ashchurch areas of Tewkesbury and the west of Cheltenham.  

                                                           
28

 Ibid. 
29

 These are small areas based on Census 2011, and contain an average of 1,600 people. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

Population weighted annual mean anthropogenic PM 2.5 
concentration, Gloucestershire  districts, 2015 

Gloucestershire South West England

Page 96



19 
 

 

Figure 5: Modelled estimates of Particulate Matter (PM10)
30

 

Figure 6 shows that in terms of Nitrogen Dioxide, levels are estimated to be at their highest in North 

Gloucester, Cheltenham and around Gloucestershire Airport.  The current WHO Air Quality 

Guidelines levels for Nitrogen Dioxide are set at 40 ugm-3 meaning all Lower Super Output Areas in 

Gloucestershire meet recommended levels.  

                                                           
30

 CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah 

Page 97



20 
 

 

Figure 6: Modelled estimates of Nitrogen Dioxide
31

 

Monitoring air quality in Gloucestershire 
All Districts and Borough councils measure a background nitrogen dioxide level, which provides a 

general indicator of pollution levels at particular sites. Within Gloucestershire there are around 170 

monitoring sites (in some cases there are multiple monitoring sites in one location). There were 16 

sites across the county that exceed the WHO recommendations. The majority of these sites (11 of 

the 16) were located in Cheltenham district, 4 were located in Gloucester with the remaining site 

located in Cotswold at the Air Balloon Roundabout.  

                                                           
31

 Ibid. 

Page 98



21 
 

 

Figure 7: Results of Nitrogen Dioxide Diffusion Tubes, 2015
32

 

Air Quality Management Areas  
The aim of air quality monitoring is ensure that national air quality targets are achieved.  

When a local authority finds areas where the objectives are not likely to be achieved, it must declare 

an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) there. This area must be defined geographically however it 

could be just one or two streets, or it could be much bigger. The local authority must also develop a 

plan with remedial actions to bring pollution exceedance to within statutory levels. 

There are 8 AQMAs across Gloucestershire, where monitoring shows the sites do not meet the EU 

air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide.  The majority of AQMAs are located in major urban areas 

or in the case of Cotswold at a major road junction (the Air Balloon junction, Birdlip) due to high 

vehicle emissions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
32

 Sourced from district councils 

Page 99



22 
 

 

Table 1: AQMAs in Gloucestershire 
33

 

Local Authority AQMA Name Pollutants Date 

Declared 

Cheltenham Borough Council Cheltenham Whole Borough AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 18/11/2011 

Cotswold District Council Birdlip AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/04/2008 

Cotswold District Council Thames Street, Lechlade 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 02/04/2014 

Forest of Dean District Council Lydney AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 01/07/2010 

Gloucester City Council Barton Street AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/08/2005 

Gloucester City Council Priory Road AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 08/08/2005 

Gloucester City Council Painswick Road AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 05/10/2007 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Tewkesbury Town Centre AQMA 
Nitrogen dioxide NO2 05/12/2008 

Air quality and health in Gloucestershire 
Exposure to poor air quality contributes to premature mortality. Based on national modelled data 

applied to Gloucestershire (not adjusted for attributes of Gloucestershire and the local population) 

exposure to particulate matter air pollution is estimated to contribute (as one of a number of 

factors) to around 278 deaths a year, representing a annually loss of 2,848 life years. These 

estimates are based on the research evidence of mortality risk, combined with modelled levels of 

the background air pollution to which populations are exposed at local authority level. 

Table 2: Local mortality burdens associated with particulate air pollution
34

 

  
Attributable deaths35 

Associated life years 
lost36  

Cheltenham 55 579 

Cotswold 42 405 

Forest of Dean 37 368 

Gloucester 52 575 

Stroud 53 497 

Tewkesbury 39 424 

Gloucestershire                                           278                                       2,848  

England                                     25,002                                  264,749  

 

                                                           
33

 AQMAs, DEFRA 
34

 Ibid. 
35 Attributable deaths- long term exposure to anthropogenic particulate air pollution is estimated to have an 

effect on mortality risks equivalent to the number of attributable deaths. Air pollution is likely to contribute a 

small amount to the deaths of a larger number of exposed individuals rather than being solely responsible for 

the number of deaths equivalent to the calculated figure 
36

 Associated life years lost - the years of life lost to the population due to increased mortality risk attributable 
to long term exposure to particulate air pollution 

Page 100



23 
 

Table 3 presents a comparison of deaths attributable to some other key risk factors in 

Gloucestershire. It is important to note that unlike the other indicators that are based on recorded 

mortality data for specific causes of death, the figures for air pollution are estimates of mortality 

attributable to a risk factor. Deaths are not individually attributed to air pollution, rather, air 

pollution is considered to be a contributory factor in many deaths. 

Table 3: Ranking of PHOF mortality indicator for Gloucestershire, 2014-16 and 2015 for indicator 3.01
37

 

Indicator 
Mortality rate per 

100,000 population 

Preventable mortality (4.03) 167.5 

Preventable cancer <75 (4.05ii) 68.4 

Preventable CVD <75 (4.04ii) 43.5 

Preventable Respiratory disease <75 (4.07ii) 15.3 

Preventable Liver disease <75 (4.06ii) 13.9 

Mortality attributable to PM2.5 <75 (3.01) 13.2 

Suicide rate Persons (4.10) 10.6 

Communicable diseases (4.08) 7.2 

 

Air pollution affects daily quality of life as it can exacerbate lung conditions such as Chronic 

Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and asthma, resulting in increased use of medications and 

hospital admissions38.   

In 2016/17 reported asthma prevalence in Gloucestershire (from primary care registers through the 

Quality Outcome Framework (QOF)) was 6.6% of the local population equating to around 42,300 

people. Asthma prevalence in Gloucestershire was higher than the national average of 5.9%39.   In 

2012/13 there were 517 hospital admissions for asthma. This equates to a rate of 0.84 per 1,000 

population which was lower than the national rate of 1.21 per 1,000 population40. Hospital 

admissions for asthma in people aged less than 19 years was 157.6 per 100,000 in 2015/16 which 

equates to 212 admissions. The rate is lower than the national average of 198.641.  

In 2016 there were estimated to be approximately 11,370 people in Gloucestershire with chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (from primary care registers through the Quality Outcome 

Framework (QOF)), this equates to a prevalence 1.8% in which was lower than the national average 

of 1.9%42. However, the local estimate is likely to be very conservative given the high number of 

undiagnosed COPD suffers. Gloucestershire had a lower rate of emergency hospital admissions for 

COPD (292 per 100,000) than the England average (411 per 100,000) in 2015/16, this equates to 

1,121 admissions. At district level Cotswold (180.3 per 100,000), Forest of Dean (253.7 per 100,000) 

                                                           
37

 PHOF and http://www.adph.org.uk/2017/03/air-quality-a-briefing-for-directors-of-public-health/   
38 Royal College of Physicians. Every Breath We Take: The Lifelong Impact of Air Pollution.; 2016. 
39

 GP Practice Profiles, Public Health England 
40

 Public Health Profiles 
41

 Ibid. 
42

 GP Practice Profiles, Public Health England.  

Page 101



24 
 

and Stroud (226 per 100,000) have better rates of hospital admissions for COPD than 

Gloucestershire, Cheltenham (348 per 100,000) and Gloucester (254 per 100,000) had worse rates, 

while Tewkesbury have a similar rate (267 per 100,000)43.  

Air quality and vulnerable populations in Gloucestershire 
The effects of air pollution are distributed unequally across the population. The more urban and 

congested areas have higher levels of pollution, as do areas near arterial and trunk roads. This, 

therefore, impacts on the health of those that live and work next to these areas. 

Deprivation 
Studies have suggested that the most deprived areas bear a disproportionate share of poor air 

quality. Within Gloucestershire there are 9 Lower Super Output Areas that contain monitoring sites 

that exceed the target levels for Nitrogen Dioxide, of these 2 are in the most deprived 20% areas. In 

Gloucestershire Lower Super Output Areas in the most deprived 20% of the country account for 22% 

of LSOA’s that exceed recommended levels and only 8% of the total LSOAs. This suggests that 

deprived populations in Gloucestershire bear a disproportionate impact of air pollution.  

Table 4:  Deprivation and monitoring sites that exceed the recommended level for Nitrogen Dioxide
44

 

  

LSOAs that have 
monitoring sites that 

exceed the recommended 
levels for Nitrogen Dioxide 

Total LSOAs 

Quintile 1 (most deprived 20% of the country) 22.2% 8.0% 

Quintile 2 33.3% 12.1% 

Quintile 3 22.2% 23.9% 

Quintile 4 11.1% 23.9% 

Quintile 5 (least deprived 20% of the country)  11.1% 32.2% 

Additionally, the most deprived 20% of LSOAs had higher air pollution levels than the least deprived 

neighbourhoods, with a difference of 1.4 ugm/3 in terms of nitrogen dioxide.  

Table 5: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by deprivation quintile
45

 

  
Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean (ugm/3) 

Quintile 1 (most deprived 20% of the country) 9.6 

Quintile 2 8.7 

Quintile 3 7.7 

Quintile 4 7.6 

Quintile 5 (least deprived 20% of the country)  8.2 

                                                           
43

 Public Health Profiles 
44

 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015, DCLG and data sourced from districts 
45

 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2016, DCLG and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-
assets-and-hazards-ahah   

Page 102

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


25 
 

Car ownership 
Evidence suggests “communities that have access to fewest cars tend to suffer from the highest 

levels of air pollution, whereas those in which car ownership is greatest enjoy the cleanest air” and “ 

Those communities that are most polluted and which also emit the least pollution tend to be 

amongst the poorest in Britain”46. This is linked to the fact that in many places poor housing stock is 

located close to busy road networks, and occupied by more deprived communities. 

Within Gloucestershire there are 65 (17.4%) Lower Super Output Areas that have lower levels of car 

ownership than the national average. Of these areas 8 (89% of all monitoring sites) have monitoring 

sites that exceed the recommended levels of nitrogen dioxide. The modelled estimates show that in 

areas where car ownership is lower than national levels, pollution levels (from NO2) are higher.  

Table 6: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by car ownership
47

 

  

Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 
(ugm/3) 

Higher level of car ownership than nationally 7.8 

Lower level of car ownership than nationally 9.2 

  

Age  
Children tend to be more likely to live in areas where air pollution is high48, and also suffer some of 

the worst consequences. Table 7 shows levels of nitrogen dioxide are higher in areas in 

Gloucestershire that have a higher proportion of children (compared to national data), conversely 

levels of nitrogen dioxide are lower in areas that have a higher proportion of people aged 20+. 

Table 7: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by age
49

 

  

Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 
(ugm/3) 

Higher %  0-4 year olds than nationally 8.8 

Lower % of 0-4 year olds than nationally 7.7 

Higher %  5-19 year olds than nationally 8.4 

Lower % of 5-19 year olds than nationally 7.9 

Higher %  5-19 year olds than nationally 7.8 

Lower % of 5-19 year olds than nationally 8.7 

 

                                                           
46

 Mitchell, G. and Dorling, D. An environmental justice analysis of British air quality, Environment and Planning 
A 2003, volume 35, pages 909 – 929 http://www.dannydorling.org/wp-
content/files/dannydorling_publication_id1827.pdf 
47

 2011 Census and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah  
48

 Fecht, D. et al Associations between air pollution and socioeconomic characteristics, ethnicity and age 
profile of neighbourhoods in England and the Netherlands. Environmental Pollution, 2015; 198: 201. A 
summary of the article is available at: 
http://www3.imperial.ac.uk/newsandeventspggrp/imperialcollege/newssummary/news_26-1-2015-12-17-52 
49

 2016 Mid year estimates, ONS and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-
hazards-ahah 

Page 103

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


26 
 

Pre-existing conditions  
People with pre-existing conditions are more susceptible to the health effects of air pollution, 

particularly pulmonary and cardiovascular disease. Those with long term conditions often require 

increased levels of support from social care over a much longer period of time than a ‘healthy’ 

person. Table  shows levels of nitrogen dioxide are higher in areas where the rate of adult social care 

service users is higher than the county average.  

Table 8: Estimated Nitrogen Dioxide by Adult Social Care Service Users
50

 

  
Nitrogen Dioxide average annual mean 

(ugm/3) 

Higher rate of Adult Social Care Service Users  than the 
county average 8.1 

Lower rate of Adult Social Care Service Users than the 
county average 7.9 

Active travel in Gloucestershire 

Walking and cycling 
Switching journeys from cars to walking, cycling and public transport not only has a large beneficial 

impact on the individual’s health, but a wider benefit to the population health as there are 

corresponding decreases in overall air pollution levels. There are also subsequence impacts in term 

of health improvement from increased activity levels.  

Figure 6 shows that in 2011 76% of people travelled to work by car, which was higher than the 

national average of 66%. The Forest of Dean had the highest proportion of residents travelling to 

work by car (84%) closely followed by Stroud (83%), conversely Cheltenham had the lowest 

proportion of residents travelling to work by car at 64%.  

                                                           
50

 GCC Data and Analysis Team and CDRC https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-
hazards-ahah  

Page 104

https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah
https://data.cdrc.ac.uk/dataset/access-to-healthy-assets-and-hazards-ahah


27 
 

 

Figure 6: Method of travel to work, 2011
51

 

Those making short car trips are a prime target area for switching to active travel or public 

transport52. Figure 7 shows that just over 50% commutes of less than 2km were made by bicycle or 

foot, while only 2.5% were made using public transport. This is much lower than the national 

average.  

                                                           
51

 2011 Census, ONS 
52

www.sustrans.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/files/publications/Short%20journeys%20big%20savings%202
3%20AUG.pdf 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury Gloucestershire England

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

ge
d

 1
6

+ 
in

 e
m

p
lo

o
ym

e
n

t
Method of travel to work

Bicycle or on foot Public transport Driving or Passenger in car or van Other

Page 105



28 
 

 

Figure 7: Travel to work method for journeys less than 2km
53

 

 

  

                                                           
53

 Ibid. 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

ge
d

 1
6

+ 
in

 e
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t

Journeys less than 2km  

Bicycle or foot Public transport

Page 106



29 
 

Air Quality Interventions  

This evidence review looks at the interventions to support improvements in air quality or to mitigate 

its impact on health. The review focuses on measures related to pollution from road traffic. The 

review uses a number of evidence resources, but draws most heavily on the NICE guidance relating 

to outdoor air quality and health.  

The review of interventions is divided into sub-sections: planning (including transport planning); 

clean air and congestion charging zones; reducing emissions from public sector transport and vehicle 

fleets; smooth driving and speed reduction; active travel; and awareness raising (health promotion 

and health education). Table 9 is a summary of the key interventions and the strength of the 

evidence regarding their effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. 

Table 9 : Summary of interventions to improve air quality or mitigate the impact on health 

Category Intervention Effectiveness Cost-
effectiveness 

Planning Include air pollution in local planning    
 

Road side barriers   

Street vegetation   

Bypass construction   

Clean air and congestion 
charging zones 

Low emission zones restricting certain 
classes of vehicle 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Infrastructure supporting use of zero 
and low-emission travel (e.g. charging 
points) 

  

Reducing emissions from 
public sector transport 
services and vehicle fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel 
or compressed natural gas 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Driver training to address driving style 
(reduce idling)  

  

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-
starting 

  

Smooth driving and speed 
reduction 

Individual traffic-calming measures  
 

 
 

Smoothing traffic flows through speed 
reductions 

  

Active travel Provide a choice of cycle routes 
including routes avoiding highly 
polluted roads 

  
 
 

Separate cycle routes from motor 
traffic and reduce time spent by 
cyclists in areas of high pollution 

  

Raising public awareness Providing evidence to the public    

Page 107



30 
 

Providing information to businesses   

Providing information to health 
professionals 

  

 

A red traffic light means this is not an effective/cost-effective intervention.  

An amber traffic light means the evidence is mixed, or that this may be an effective intervention but only in specific 

local circumstances.  

 

A green traffic light means that evidence suggests this is an effective/cost-effective intervention 

Planning  
Considering the impact of new buildings, facilities and estates, intervening at the planning stage is 

significantly more cost-effective than installing solutions retrospectively and so should be strongly 

considered. There is a good amount of evidence on planning to guide choice of interventions. 

Methods of including air pollution in local planning 
- Local plan and other strategic planning processes can include zero- and low-emission travel 

(cycling, walking, providing charge points for electric vehicles in workplaces, supporting car 
sharing schemes or car clubs) 

- Site and design new buildings, facilities and estates to reduce the need for motorised travel 
- Minimise exposure of vulnerable groups to air pollution by not siting buildings (including 

schools, nurseries and care homes) in areas where pollution levels will be high 
- Site living accommodation away from road sides 
- Avoid street and building configurations that encourage pollution to build up where people 

spend time (e.g. deep street canyons) 

Street vegetation 
Including landscape features such as trees and vegetation in open spaces or as “green” walls or roofs 

where this does not restrict ventilation is effective (evidence from one moderate quality and 2 low 

quality modelling studies). If vegetation does not interfere with airflow in a street canyon, e.g. green 

roofs or walls, then this may reduce air pollution. However this may be prohibitively expensive to 

install, depending on local circumstances. Street trees are unlikely to reduce air pollution in most 

street designs and could worsen it in some cases (for example if they reduce airflow). 

Roadside barriers 
This is complex and depends on a range of local factors. Structures such as buildings and other 

physical barriers will affect distribution of air pollutants (evidence from low quality studies). Solid 

noise barriers probably reduce air pollution in the immediate lee of the barrier but there are higher 

levels of pollution at some distance from the barrier. Impact on health will depend on the details of 

the dispersion of air pollution downwind from a roadside barrier and on where people live or spend 

time in relation to the barrier. Cost-effectiveness is uncertain due to data quality issues. 

Bypass construction 
There is only 1 low quality UK study so evidence around improving air quality is insufficient, and 

bypass construction is extremely expensive and applicable only in specific circumstances. 

Page 108



31 
 

Benefits of including air quality in planning 
- New developments do not exacerbate poor air quality or expose people to high levels of air 

pollution  
- Reduced risk of inadvertent exposure of people to poor air quality from redistribution of 

pollution 
- Appropriate use of trees to encourage deposition of air pollutants will also have benefits in 

reducing heat stress, providing shade and creating a more attractive environment 

Potential harms of including air quality in planning 
- Using trees in areas where they do reduce ventilation and so worsen air pollution 
- Using barriers in a way that creates poorer air quality 

Clean air zones 

A Clean Air Zone “defines an area where targeted action is taken to improve air quality and 
resources are prioritised and coordinated in order to shape the urban environment in a way 
that delivers improved health benefits and supports economic growth”54. There is a 
reasonable amount of evidence around use of clean air zones with over twenty five studies 
looking at the various aspects including low-emission zones, congestion charging zones, use 
of alternative fuels, traffic restrictions, changes to fuel used in public vehicle fleets, and 
driver training. All studies were of moderate or low quality.  

Low-emission zones (LEZs)/Congestion charging 
LEZs usually involve restrictions or charges on certain classes of vehicle (congestion charging). There 

is sufficient evidence (from 4 moderate-quality and 2 low-quality studies) to show reductions in 

pollution with low-emission zones, particularly with more stringent restrictions on vehicle classes.  

While existing low-emission zones have only slightly improved air quality, this is partly due to failure 

of new technology to reduce individual vehicle emissions under real driving conditions, and partly 

due to limited scope of existing low-emission zones (classes of vehicles restricted and failure to 

address overall volume of traffic). Several studies of traffic restrictions suggest that vehicle 

restrictions or bans have little impact unless they restrict the volume of traffic substantially. It would 

be important to monitor outside the zone to identify whether traffic is moving elsewhere.  

People living in more deprived areas are likely to be exposed to higher levels of air pollution and so 

could gain more from reductions; however they may be less likely to afford new vehicles and so 

might be disadvantaged by a charging scheme. This is also a potential impact of interventions 

designed to encourage low- and zero-emission travel, such as providing parking concessions for 

electric vehicles. 

Main benefits from congestion charging schemes came from changes to traffic flow, travel time 

savings and reductions in road injuries rather than from air pollution savings. 

                                                           
54 Joint Air Quality Unit. "Clean Air Zone Framework: Principles for setting up Clean Air Zones in England." 

gov.uk. Department for Transport and Food & Rural Affairs Department for Environment. May 2017.  
www.gov.uk/government/publications 

Page 109



32 
 

Large-scale schemes like city-wide clean air zones (that can include low emission zones) can be 

expensive to set up but can deliver substantial benefits. They also target a large population so the 

cost per head of the population is likely to be relatively low. After high set up costs, running costs are 

likely to be substantially lower and potentially covered by charges or fines. If ongoing income is then 

used for other activities to reduce air pollution then this is likely to encourage public support. 

Perceptions of charging schemes may be of income generation rather than reducing air pollution, or 

that restrictions may damage economic growth and activity and so emphasizing the public health 

benefit of the schemes would be important. 

Evidence from Amsterdam suggested an annual cost of around £2 per head for the low-emission 

zone. A clean air zone involving a range of interventions (including promoting zero- and low- 

emission travel) might be more expensive but is likely to have an additive positive effect. 

Support for zero- and low-emission travel (including active travel) 
This may include providing electric charging points; encouraging walking and cycling; and developing 

integrated public transport networks based on low emission vehicles. 

Fuel-efficient driving initiatives 
These may include “no vehicle idling” areas, and driver training to improve driving style and reduce 

emissions and fuel consumption. Two low-quality studies from the US looked at anti-idling 

information campaigns for bus drivers and suggested they would probably be effective at reducing 

idling time but this is likely to have limited applicability in the UK where there isn’t the same culture 

of large fleets of school buses. Driver training to improve driving style is addressed in the next 

section. 

Benefits of clean air zones 
- Discouraging use of the most polluting vehicles by restricting their access to some areas, or 

by encouraging zero- or low-emission travel, will improve air quality 
- Increased levels of physical activity from encouraging active travel 
- Reduction in health inequalities by reducing vulnerable groups’ exposure to poor air quality 

Potential harms of clean air zones 
- Approaches covering only limited classes of vehicles or geographical areas may not reduce 

emissions sufficiently or may move pollution elsewhere 
- People who depend on highly polluting vehicles or older vehicles that do not meet current 

emission standards may not be able to afford to replace them 

Reducing emissions from public sector transport services and vehicle 

fleets 

Changing to emission-controlled diesel or compressed natural gas 
Some councils have retrofitted some or all of their vehicles to run on gas fuels (LPG, CNG or biogas) 

which emit as little as 1/30th of the particulate matter caused by diesel, and are cheaper to run as 

Page 110



33 
 

fuel costs are less 55. Four modelling studies (all of low quality) showed potential for considerable 

improvements in air quality from fuel changes if the penetration of technologies is large enough. 

Driver training 

Several aspects of driving can be improved to reduce emissions including: 

- reducing rapid accelerations and decelerations  

- correcting gear selection to improve fuel consumption 

- switching off engines when parked at roadside 

- vehicle maintenance: particularly maintaining correct tyre pressure 

There was expert advice given to the NICE committee that fuel consumption could be reduced by 

around 20-25% by adopting efficient driving techniques, with a realistic long-term reduction of 5-

10% however no studies had been found. 

Efficient driver training is likely to be cost saving. Training costs are estimated at a one-off cost of 

£25-£30 per driver with an annual fuel saving of around £96.  Views of those receiving training are 

important in determining the potential for success. Two low quality studies looked at the impact of 

information and training on driver behaviour and suggested that it may help to reduce fuel 

consumption and time spent idling. 

Procuring public sector vehicles 

Considering low emissions as criteria in procurement decisions is likely to be an effective and cost-

effective intervention. Changes to the vehicle fleet could be done as part of the usual turnover of 

vehicles. This recommendation was made by the NICE committee on the basis of expert advice. 

Amending bus routes to reduce stop-starting 

Amending bus routes to improve traffic flow and reduce stop-start driving did not have sufficient 

supporting evidence, and local factors would be particularly significant and this could involve 

considerable disruption. 

Benefits of reducing emissions from public sector vehicles 
- Increased knowledge about factors associated with fuel economy could result in lower fuel 

use and improved air quality 
- Energy-efficient driving with fewer rapid accelerations and decelerations will improve fuel 

consumption and reduce wear and tear on vehicles, leading to financial benefits; it would 
also reduce road danger 

- Training public sector staff may have the additional benefit of altering their driving habits 
outside work and making them a more general societal norm 

Smooth driving and speed reduction 
Interventions include: 

- Speed limits and average speed technology on road side 

                                                           
55

 Department for Environmental, Food & Rural Affairs. "Air Quality: a briefing for directors of public health." 
The Association of Directors of Public Health (UK). March 2017. www.adph.ogf.uk 

Page 111



34 
 

- 20mph limits without physical measures (to avoid unnecessary accelerations and 
decelerations) to reduce speeds in urban areas 

- Signs that display a driver’s current speed to reduce unnecessary accelerations 

- Physical traffic calming measures (e.g. speed bumps, pinch points) 

Two studies (one moderate quality, one low) showed that speed limits and enforcement on urban 

motorways have a small positive effect on PM10 and NO2 with emission reduction depending on the 

impact of speed management on traffic dynamics. The greater the reduction in congestion, the 

larger the reduction in emissions. Where traffic flow is not improved by changes to the speed limit, 

it is unlikely that air quality would improve. 

Economic modelling from Amsterdam suggested that reducing the speed limit from 100kph to 80kph 

on a section of motorway was highly cost effective at reducing air pollution (for every £1 invested 

they would expect £51 in economic benefits), depending on existing enforcement infrastructure and 

whether additional speed cameras are needed. 

Evidence around 20mph speed limits in relation to vehicle emissions is complex. Principally 20mph 

speed limits have been becoming increasingly popular in the UK for their impact on road traffic 

accidents. A review for the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham56, found evidence that in 

Germany when 30kmh zones were introduced in the 1980s, drivers changed gear 12% less often, 

braked 14% less often and required 12% less fuel. Results on emissions differ according to what is 

being measured – particulate emission (PM10 and PM2.5) is likely to be reduced while NO2 and CO2 

levels are unlikely to be affected either way by speed reduction. If driving style is smooth, then it 

seems that 20mph speed limits are not likely to worsen emissions57. 

However, driving style with greater braking, acceleration, deceleration and gear changes is likely to 

increase emissions (especially particulate matter). A UK modelling study looked at 9 traffic calming 

measures including road humps, pinch points, raised junctions, chicanes and mini-roundabouts. 

While there were uncertainties about the modelling, this and two other low-quality studies did 

support an increase in emissions associated with individual traffic-calming measures, although these 

were not seen in area-wide traffic calming measures. Therefore 20mph speed limit zones without 

traffic calming measures, and aimed at improving traffic flow with smooth driving, seem most likely 

to provide benefit. 

A modelling study suggested substantial benefits are possible from changes to the behaviour of a 

relatively small number of drivers, using wireless technology to identify optimum speed. Although 

this is not implementable at the moment, due to a lack of necessary technology in vehicles, a similar 

effect could be obtained by the expansion of variable speed limit control using signs outside the 

vehicle. 

                                                           
56

 London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 20mph Zones - Public Health summary of evidence. 

www.lbhf.gov.uk (accessed December 2017). 
McCoy D, Munro A, Stephan C, Grigg J. "Still failing to tackle air pollution." British Medical Journal 358 (August 
2017). 
 
57

 Imperial College London. "An evaluation of the estimated impacts on vehicle emissions of a 20mph speed 
restriction in central London." City of London. Transport and Environmental Analysis Group. April 2013. 
www.cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 112



35 
 

Benefits of traffic calming and speed reduction 
- Reducing stop-go driving will lower emissions of air pollutants from accelerations and 

decelerations, lowering exposure of the population to poor air quality 
- Reduced speeds in urban areas encourages walking and cycling (as cars travelling at high 

speeds will discourage these modes of active travel) which would reduce emissions of air 
pollutants 

- Reducing speed will reduce the number and severity of road injuries. 

Potential harms of traffic calming and speed reduction 
- Individual traffic-calming measures may increase rapid acceleration and deceleration driving 

and so increase emissions 
- On major roads where there are very few (or no) route choices the cost of using average 

speed cameras is likely to be small. However in areas like residential streets while there are 
possible benefits, implementation will be much more difficult due to the number of route 
options. Other measures (such as signs indicating current speed) may be more useful. 

Walking and cycling 
Supporting active travel (walking and cycling) is potentially a highly effective and cost-effective 

intervention with multiple knock-on benefits to health. 

Interventions which support cycling include:  
- Providing a choice of cycle routes including routes avoiding highly polluted roads and, if this 

is not possible, separating cycle routes from motor traffic and reducing time spent by cyclists 
in areas of high pollution  

- Where roads are busy, consider: 
o Providing as much space as possible between cyclist and motorised vehicles 
o Use dense foliage to screen cyclists from motor vehicles (uncertain evidence, and 

this also needs to take into account the importance of keeping cyclists visible to 
reduce risk of collisions and normalize cycling) 

o Reduce time cyclists spend at highly polluted sites, including junctions (as this has 
been shown to increase exposure to air pollutants) 

Dedicated cycle routes have been found to be effective in reducing exposure to air pollution. Six 

studies from the US, Netherlands, Canada and the UK found exposure to PM2.5 was lower on low 

traffic routes, and air pollution levels were reduced by increasing separation from traffic.  

Construction and maintenance of dedicated and separated cycle routes may entail additional costs, 

but these costs would be lower than constructing and maintaining vehicular roads. In the modelling 

by NICE, off-road cycle paths were the most cost-effective of all the interventions they looked at. In 

urban areas where specific paths are likely to be widely used, cost-benefit ratio was 1:14 (indicative 

costs in first year to total indicative benefits in the first year) with a cost per quality adjusted life year 

(QALY) gained of £5,075. This assumed that several routes are developed – a single route would cost 

less but may also be less effective as it would reach less of the population. 

Benefits of encouraging active travel 
- There is an additive impact with both reducing traffic-related air pollution and increasing 

physical activity with the resulting health benefits 
- Benefits to drivers from reducing congestion as well – one study suggested that exposure to 

air pollutants for drivers is as high as for cyclists and in fact air quality inside cars may be 
poorer than that outside 

Page 113



36 
 

- Perceptions of poor air quality put some people off cycling and so improving air quality will 
encourage more people to cycle and so further reduce air pollution. 

Potential harms of encouraging active travel 
- Increased collisions as a result of more cyclists if cycle routes are poorly designed 

Raising public awareness 
DEFRA 52 undertook qualitative research with the public to explore their understanding of air 

pollution in order to improve public communication. They identified six principles: 

A. Explain what air pollution is: what particulate matter is made of and where it goes 
B. Help people understand how they can protect themselves: don’t raise public concern 

unless you can satisfy the desire to do something to reduce their exposure 
C. Explain the health impacts: focus on what is known for certain about health consequences 
D. Make it local: talk about it as a problem linked to specific places 
E. Explain how individuals can make a difference: keep focus on actions people can take 

rather than long-term solutions 
F. Demonstrate leadership and empower communities, instead of just expecting individual 

behaviour change 
 

NICE also suggest considering giving businesses information on how they can reduce road-traffic-

related air pollution and improve fuel efficiency, e.g. helping drivers to develop an energy-efficient 

driving style; schedule deliveries to minimise congestion; encourage employees to cycle to work. 

Evidence is uncertain around the effectiveness of providing the public with information on how 

road-traffic-related air pollution affects their health and how their transport choices (e.g. driving 

during episodes of high pollution) contribute to this. However, many people do not understand the 

link between health and road-traffic-related air pollution and do not realize they can help reduce the 

pollution and their exposure to it through changes in their behaviour. For example there may be a 

lack of understanding that air pollution can be greater inside a car than outside. Without public 

understanding, it is difficult to get support for changes needed, and any changes are likely to be 

unsustainable. 

Equally the evidence is uncertain around making businesses aware of the need to reduce air 

pollution by encouraging active travel, more energy-efficient driving and scheduling deliveries to 

reduce congestion. 

Benefits of engaging the public 
- Help people, especially most vulnerable, to reduce their exposure especially when levels of 

pollution are high 
- Help people understand how to change their behaviour to reduce emissions and therefore 

reduce population-level exposure 
- Support the development of social networks which can be built on for benefits in other areas 

Potential harms of engaging the public 
- Actions to reduce the amount of polluted air from entering a home (such as closing 

windows) might increase indoor levels of air pollutants 
- Harm from unfounded concerns about the possible health effects of air pollutants 

Page 114



37 
 

Final thoughts 
- Evidence of air quality monitoring will be an important part of most large scale changes – 

before and after implementation. Currently traffic data for most roads is ad-hoc and low 
quality. 

- There is a risk that intended changes erode over time as drivers become used to the change 
and readjust their behaviours. Therefore continual monitoring and adjustments to schemes 
will be needed to ensure positive progressive effects are achieved. 

- Many small and highly localized interventions may be required with a cumulative effect. 
- Piecemeal, uncoordinated actions to tackle air pollution may make the situation worse, e.g. 

if different vehicle types are not classed in the same way in all clean air zones, then the 
overall impact will be diminished. 

 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Multi-stakeholder Workshop on Air 
Quality and Health 

Workshop overview 
The multi-stakeholder workshop took place in January 2018. The purpose of the workshop was to 

bring together stakeholders from a wide range of professions and organisations to discuss the issues 

and solution regarding air quality and health in Gloucestershire, and to help prioritise actions for the 

county.  

The workshop was attended by 55 delegates. Attendees came from organisations including: Active 

Gloucestershire; NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group; District Councils; 

Gloucestershire County Council; Gloucestershire wildlife trust; Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Partnership; Public Health England; Highways England; Stagecoach; and University of 

Gloucestershire.  

Delegates allocated to five discussion tables, which were balanced to ensure a range of organisations 

and professionals on each table. A number of ‘experts’ were also identified who could be called on 

by any table to contribute to discussions: Highways England; Local Enterprise Partnership; Public 

Health England; Independent Consultant in Health and Transport; Director of Public Health.  

Tables were allocated a facilitator, and were asked to identify a Chair Person to coordinate 

discussion and to feedback, and a scribe to agree and record key points. Each of the tables were 

asked to consider the questions in Box 1. 

Box 1: Workshop discussion questions 

 

 

 

 

5 tables 

Feedback from the tables was collated and reviewed by the Health and System Impact Assessment 

team (Dave Mc Conalogue, Phillip Williams, Rebecca McKenna, Laura Powick, Katherine Martin). Key 

themes under each of the workshop discussion questions are highlighted in the sections below.  

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse? 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air quality? 

What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air quality and reduce its 

impact on our health? 

What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in Gloucestershire? 

What are the top three changes your group would prioritise for Gloucestershire to improve 

air quality and/or reduce its impact on our health? 

Appendix B

Page 117



2 
 

Workshop discussion outputs 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse?  

 

 

 

Lack of focus on active travel 

Participants felt that there was not a strong focus on active travel in the county. They pointed out an 

underdeveloped cycle network that had substantial gaps which was undermining connectivity. They 

also highlighted that there was little promotion of active travel options to the public, and a lack of 

supporting infrastructure e.g. secure cycle storage etc. Participants spoke about active travel in 

terms of cycling rather than walking.  

No consideration of air quality in new developments 

Participants fed back that consideration of the impact on air quality and health did not feature 

strongly in planning review of new large developments. There was a policy and expertise gap to 

Figure 9:  Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are we doing in Gloucestershire to make air quality 

worse?’ 

 

Page 118



3 
 

ensure that developments included and were scrutinised on measures to positively impact air 

quality in Gloucestershire. They felt that there was little consideration across the county about how 

new developments connect with the wider infrastructure across housing, services, and employment. 

New developments were felt to often be sited ‘out of town’, with poor public transport access, 

which necessitated extra car travel.  

Lack of investment 

Most tables noted that there was little investment in improving air quality in Gloucestershire that 

they were aware of. It was felt that having a budget line to improve to support interventions to 

improve air quality was key to change.  

Infrastructure and traffic flow 

Some gaps in infrastructure were noted by the groups. There was particular attention given to the 

rail access and how this could be better connected to make it a more viable option for daily use. 

Other gaps were highlighted for further consideration: M5 junctions, and the A417 missing link.  

Most of the discussion in this thematic area focused on the necessary infrastructure to enable use of 

electric vehicles in the county. It was felt that there was limited and poorly distributed electric 

charging infrastructure, and that this would need to be evaluated and promoted before electric 

vehicle use could be a viable option for most people in Gloucestershire.  

Groups also highlighted giving better consideration to traffic flow when planning new developments 

and roads.  The scheduling of road works was also noted as a disruption to traffic flow and public 

transport. It was felt that consideration of the impact of road works on traffic flow could be an easy 

win.  

Public transport investment 

The need for more investment in Public Transport was a strong theme on most tables. Participants 

identified the need for fleet modernisation, to incorporate newer cleaner technology. They also 

highlighted Public Transport as the key alternative to car travel and a support for active travel. It was 

felt that a reducing bus service undermined accessibility to public transport particularly in rural 

areas.  

Awareness of the impact of poor air quality on health 

Participants felt that there was not a good understanding of the impact of poor air quality on health, 

and how exposure was impacting on their lives. Groups highlighted a lack of awareness across 

private and public organisations and professionals, as well as the general public.  

Lack of partnership and collaboration 

It was felt that there was not a unified approach across Gloucestershire. Where work was happening 

it was being developed by organisations or departments independently, without consideration of a 

wider picture. Several groups used the term ‘silo working’, and cited the need for a partnership 

approach across organisations. It was also noted that there was not a strategy to draw efforts 

together across the county.  

Page 119



4 
 

Parking policies undermining public transport and active travel 

Participants talked about the accessibility of Gloucester and Cheltenham to cars. They felt this was 

supported by inexpensive and accessible parking, which meant that car travel was often the most 

convenient and cheapest option for travel.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 120



5 
 

What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air 

quality? 

Figure 10: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to 

improve air quality?’  

 

The suggestions from participants in this section were a lot lighter, possibly highlighting that this was 

felt to an area in an early stage of development. A couple of themes emerged across the groups. 

Joint working across District and County 

Participants across the groups were very positive about the developing partnership between county 

and district levels of local authority. The joint core strategy for Gloucestershire was felt to be a major 

Page 121



6 
 

step forward in considering development across a wider footprint, and an opportunity to be more 

proactive in improving air quality.  

Monitoring of air quality 

There was an acknowledgement that monitoring of air quality was limited across the county, and 

only included nitrogen dioxide. However, there had recently been new investment in mobile air 

quality monitoring, which would give much more robust assessment of the quality of air in 

Gloucestershire 

Use of new technologies 

The use of smart technologies was commented on by several tables. It was felt that these presented 

good opportunities for people to make healthy choices and to aid behaviour change. However, it 

was also noted that there was much more development needed in this area to take advantage of the 

potential of such personal technologies.  

New technologies enabled monitoring devices to be attached to lampposts to record information 

which could be used to support awareness raising and behaviour change.  

Active travel support infrastructure 

There was some acknowledgement that Gloucestershire has some infrastructure to support active 

travel, but that this is often fragmented and inadequate in terms of volume and reach. Some of the 

interventions noted includes: bike racks; school active travel plans; cycle schemes; and GCC think 

travel coordinator.  

Other positive actions  

There were a range of other positive aspects raised, although most of these were only raised by one 

group: green infrastructure benchmark; enabling active communities programme; engagement with 

schools on air quality pilot; resident parkin zones (increasing use of park and ride); and investment in 

more fuel efficient bus vehicles 

.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



7 
 

 

What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air quality and 

reduce its impact on our health? 
 

 

Figure 11: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve 

air quality and reduce its impact on our health?’ 

Strategy and policy 

The strongest theme across all of the groups was the need to have a unifying strategy on air quality 

to drive change across Gloucestershire. It was felt that this needed to go beyond local authority and 

engage with the full spectrum of stakeholders in both public and private sectors, and the local 

Page 123



8 
 

community. A Gloucestershire strategy for air quality would give a necessary long term vision and 

approach to improving air quality in Gloucestershire. In addition to an overarching strategy for 

Gloucestershire, participants also noted the need for consideration of air quality in other policies, 

particularly regarding consideration of planning applications. This was also extended to budget 

commitments in local authorities which did not include any consideration of air quality.  

Participants also identified the need for policies in organisations around travel, parking and hot-

desking to try to encourage more sustainable forms of transport.  

Partnership and collaboration 

All groups referred to the importance of a collaborative approach to driving forward the air quality 

and health agenda. This was felt to be a weakness in the current approach, which was related to the  

lack of a joined up approach across the county. It was felt that the development of a strategy by a 

multi-stakeholder group was critical to the development of a collaborative approach. 

Planning policies 

All of the groups discussed the importance of changes to planning policy to better support 

consideration of air quality and its impact on health. Participants suggested a number of 

interventions to improve planning approach: incorporation of a validator checklist for all new large 

developments; health impact assessments for all new large development plans; policies to support 

incorporation of measures to mitigate any potential negative impacts at the planning stage; and 

policy to review traffic claiming/smooth driving measures in transport planning.  

Improvements to public transport and taxis 

All groups highlighted the importance of improvement to public transport to support a change away 

from car travel, and also as a major source of pollution. Making public transport more accessible to 

the population of Gloucestershire was seen as critical so that it can become a viable alternative to 

care travel. Groups noted the importance of changes to: cost of bus services; frequency of services; 

and the reach of services (particularly into rural areas). There was also strong support for 

improvements in the public transport and taxi fleet, to have vehicles which were more fuel efficient 

and polluted less.  

Groups also noted the importance of changes to taxi services, particularly around modernisation of 

the current fleet. One group discussed the role of taxi licensing to help incentivise ‘cleaner’ taxi fleet. 

Examples from Warwickshire and Stroud where licensing criteria includes strict vehicle emission 

standards were highlighted.  

Information and education 

Participants discussed the air quality monitoring information, which was felt to be sporadic in 

spread, and also not publically accessible. Better monitoring information is required to identify areas 

with poor air quality. It was also felt that this information could be used to drive forward 

interventions to tackle problem areas.  

There was strong support for making air quality data more accessible to the public so that they could 

become aware of air quality issues and make informed choices. It was also felt that this would be an 

important precursor to positive behaviour change in terms of protecting themselves from exposure 

to poor air quality, and to making choices to improve air quality. Related to this theme was the need 

Page 124



9 
 

to educate the public and organisations based in Gloucestershire on the issue of air quality, and its 

impact on health. Participants felt that the evidence was extremely compelling, but that most people 

were not aware of the issue or the impact on them personally and their communities, employees 

etc. 

Behaviour change  

Strongly related to ‘information and education’ participants discussed the importance of behaviour 

change initiatives. These were focused mainly on driver behaviour in private vehicles and also of 

business related transport. The emphasis being on how the individual drives to ensure smoother 

more fuel efficient driving which is related to lower emissions. The role of employers in supporting 

less travel was also noted. Groups noted the importance of home-working policies and hot-desking 

across sites (and even organisations) to reduce travel.  

Participants also noted the importance of behaviour change interventions to encourage uptake of 

active travel options (walking and cycling).  

Support for active travel 

All groups supported improvements to aid more active travel. The principle suggestions were around 

improvements to the cycle infrastructure; principally cycle routes and a joined up cycle network 

across the county. There was also support for promotion of cycling through events and initiatives to 

increase cycle to work. Groups also suggested a bike hire scheme similar to the ‘Boris bike’ scheme 

operating in London.  

Commitment to electric vehicles 

Most of the groups noted the importance of investment in infrastructure to support electric vehicles. 

Most notable was support for a wider electric vehicle charging network. There was also some 

support for initiatives to incentivise use of electric vehicles such as free parking, use of bus lanes etc. 

Schools 

Schools were highlighted as being a potential  area to direct interventions (working with pupils, 

administration and parents to improve behaviours) and also as a key source of pollution because of 

the associated travel with pupil attendance. School selection was discussed at length as this often 

requires travel across the county were pupils attend schools which are not close to their home. 

However, this is a national policy which canno0074 be addressed at the local level. Other ideas such 

as staggered school start times to reduce congestion and improve traffic flows was highlighted.  

Other 

A number of other areas were highlighted by participants: improving green infrastructure (e.g. more 

tree planting); clean are zones (banning most high polluting vehicles from some areas); and changing 

parking strategy (dis-incentivising care travel, and/or encouraging use of ‘cleaner’ vehicles).  

 

 

 

Page 125



10 
 

What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in 

Gloucestershire? 

 

Leadership and political will 

The strongest theme from the groups was the challenge of getting political buy in to the importance 

of air quality at the local level. It was felt that the Member-led task group was a very positive sign of 

political intent. Participants felt that leadership across private and public sectors was essential, as 

well as from the local community. It was also felt that at the moment leadership of this agenda was 

absent.  

Silo working 

Participants felt that a very strong partnership approach across private and public organisations, and 

with local communities, was essential to drive forward actions to improve air quality and reduce its 

Figure 12: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are the challenges and barriers to making positive 

changes in Gloucestershire?’  

Page 126



11 
 

impact on health. Partnerships and a collaborative approach have not yet been established. Groups 

felt that this would be critical to developing and delivering on an air quality and health strategy. 

Planning policies 

Planning policies and frameworks were felt to be weak on Air quality and health. As highlighted in 

previous feedback, participants felt that this area was key to delivering on improvements to air 

quality in Gloucestershire. One of the major challenges highlighted by participants was multiple 

layers of planning authorities in the county; a single tier for planning would make a joined up 

strategic approach much more viable.  

Public awareness and buy in 

Participants talked about the need for a change in mind-set across the county, which had to be led 

by the public. It was felt that the public were not aware of the issue of poor air quality and the 

impact on them personally and their community. The public have a key role in solving the issue of 

poor air quality, but needed information and education so they can become informed. Groups talked 

about the lack of champions on this theme in the public, but felt that this was critical.  

Private and public sector buy in  

Participants feedback that there was a lack of understanding among both private and public sector 

organisations of the commercial advantages of clean air and some of the interventions to deliver 

clean air (e.g. active travel). This is leading to a very short term immediate gains approach, which 

acts against improvements to air quality and the longer term health and wealth of the county. The 

short term view of development is also partially the result of the lack of strategy and vision for air 

quality and health for Gloucestershire.  

Active travel development 

Participants felt that active travel plans were key to any approach to improve air quality and reduce 

its impacts on the health of Gloucestershire. However, there was not a plan for a comprehensive 

cycling and walking network. The current cycle network was felt to be poor and underinvested, and 

would require substantial attention to make improvements.  

Resources/funding 

The challenge of resource allocation and funding was heighted by most groups as a key enabler. It 

was felt that the county is starting from a low base, with relatively low investment from both public 

and private n sources to support interventions to improve air quality. Participants feedback:  this 

area did not have a budget line in local authority budget allocations, which is potentially exacerbated 

by a focus on budget reduction rather than investment; there is limited staffing dedicated to support 

the air quality and health agenda in private and public organisations; and there is limited available 

expertise in air quality and health in Gloucestershire. 

Rural – urban split in Gloucestershire 

It was recognised by the groups that the combination of rurality and urban conurbations was a 

challenge in developing solutions. An approach that worked across both aspects of the county was 

required. It was also noted that Gloucestershire has a large geographical area, which provides a 

challenge for active travel.  

 

Page 127



12 
 

What are the top three changes your group would prioritise for 

Gloucestershire to improve air quality and/or reduce its impact on our 

health? 

 

Figure 13: Word Cloud for discussion ‘What are the top three changes your group would prioritise 

for Gloucestershire to improve air quality and/or reduce its impact on our health? 

  

Page 128



13 
 

County wide strategy for air quality and health 

The need for a strategy to present a vision and approach to driving this agenda forward was strongly 

prioritised by all groups. It was felt that this could not be a local authority strategy, but rather had to 

embody a partnership/collaborative approach across public and private sectors and the public.  

Community ownership and awareness 

This was felt to be critical to driving forward change. Groups wanted engagement of the public on 

this issue to help change the mind-set from ‘car is king’ to more sustainable and healthy approaches. 

Getting community buy in and developing leadership was felt to be key to any approach described in 

the strategy. Giving people an understanding of the positive actions that they can take on a personal 

level and as a community to help tackle poor air quality and their exposure to it.  

It was felt that understanding and effectively communicating the evidence on the impact of poor air 

quality on health was key to any approach. 

Travel and connectivity 

Groups described the importance of public transport, active travel and electric cars to support 

‘cleaner’ travel. The key point was that there should be more consideration of connectivity between 

developments, so that ‘car-free’ or ‘clean’ travel was both convenient and affordable. Participants 

highlighted the need for more accessible public transport, which used new ‘cleaner’ technologies, 

which was affordable and reliable. There is also need for more investment in the active travel 

infrastructure. This includes dedicated cycle and walking routes, which enable travel between 

developments. The need for a joined up network for electric charging was seen as critical to enabling 

electric vehicles as a choice for transport.   

Partnership and collaboration 
Participants all talked about multi-organisational and professional collaboration and partnership to 

drive the agenda forward. This included pooling of resources and commitment across the private 

and public sector, and the community. They also requested an ongoing multi-stakeholder forum with 

a similar makeup and format to the workshop. There were suggestions that this could run annually 

or every 6 months.  

Strengthening the planning process 

Groups felt that planning processes should have include proper consideration and incentivisation of 

air quality and travel behaviour. It was felt that this would help to integrate good planning practice 

into all planning decisions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



14 
 

Summary Recommendations from Air 
Quality and Health System Impact 

Assessment 

Summary recommendations 
Table 10 summarises the key issues from the health and system impact assessment and makes 

corresponding recommendations. The issues and corresponding recommendations were identified 

by the health and system impact assessment team following review of the summary report sections.  

Table 10: Summary of key issues and recommendations from the air quality and health system 

impact assessment 

Issue highlighted  Recommendation 

Leadership and vision 

There is a lack of leadership and vision 
around air quality and health. It was felt by 
participants that a unifying vision for air 
quality and health across Gloucestershire for 
private and public bodies and the general 
public was required to move the agenda 
forward.  

A strategy on air quality and health should 
be developed in the next 12 months through 
the participation of a broad range of 
stakeholders across public and private 
bodies in a partnership approach. This is an 
opportunity for the County Council to 
facilitate a system wide approach through 
community leadership. 

Partnership and collaboration 

Work which contributes to improving air 
quality and mitigating its impact on health is 
happening, but in relative isolation. There 
needs to be a much greater emphasis on 
partnership and collaboration driving 
towards a united vision for Gloucestershire.  

A model of partnership across private and 
public bodies needs to be established in the 
next six months to drive the development 
and delivery of the agenda for air quality and 
health in Gloucestershire. The partnership 
approach should be used to develop the 
Gloucestershire air quality and health 
strategy, and to oversee its implementation, 
reporting into the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board on strategy 
development and implementation.  

Clean and accessible public transport 

Clean and accessible public transport use is 
critical to reducing reliance on private motor 
vehicle. Issues around accessibility to public 
transport were highlighted, particularly for 
more rural communities, as well as cost.  

The evidence review and the workshop also 
stressed the importance of modern and 
‘clean’ taxi and bus fleet. In particular 

As one of the work streams of the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health 
Strategy, a group should review 
interventions to accelerate the uptake of 
cleaner vehicles for public transport and 
taxis, including the role of licensing policies 
and additional infrastructure requirements.  

The group should also review accessibility to 
public transport and the specification of 

Page 130



15 
 

reviewing licensing policies for taxis to 
promote uptake of cleaner vehicles, and 
investment/funding for bus fleet 
improvements were highlighted.  

transport contracts to better understand the 
effects of stricter emissions standards on 
areas of poor air quality and any implications 
for accessibility. Recommendations should 
be made in respect of licensing policies and 
the specification of council-funded transport 
services. 

Planning and transport policy 

Planning and transport policies do not 
promote consideration of impacts on air 
quality of new schemes or developments. 
This is the most cost-effective intervention 
available at the local level to improve air 
quality, but is not currently being taken 
advantage of. This is also supportive of 
‘active travel’ interventions which is also a 
cost-effective area for investment.  

Planning and transport policies - and their 
operational use - at a local and county level 
should be reviewed, and frameworks 
developed to incorporate consideration of 
air quality and active travel into larger 
development proposals and highway 
schemes.   

The Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan 
review should give greater recognition to the 
impact of transport on air quality and public 
health and set more ambitious targets for 
raising the proportion of trips made by 
sustainable and active travel. 

Public awareness and engagement 

The public in Gloucestershire are not 
engaged in air quality and health. Even 
though it is their enthusiasm and action that 
will ultimately result in positive change. It 
was felt that they weren’t aware of the issue 
in Gloucestershire, or informed of the 
impact on their health. Additionally, the 
public were not educated on positive actions 
they can take to reduce their exposure to 
poor air quality, or to contribute to 
improving air quality.  

A campaign should be developed to make 
the public aware of the issue of air quality 
and health in Gloucestershire, and the 
positive actions that they can take to protect 
themselves and help to improve air quality. 
As part of this approach the public should 
have the opportunity to engage in the issue, 
and to lead interventions to improve air 
quality in their communities.  

The promotion and engagement of the 
public on air quality and health should be 
targeted across the life course: schools; 
children/teenagers; working age adults; and 
the elderly.  

Active travel (walking and cycling) 

Gloucestershire has low use of active travel 
(walking and cycling) compared to the rest of 
England, even for short trips. Replacing car 
use, particularly for commuting trips, with 
walking and cycling has a strong evidence 
base for improving air quality.  

A programme of work should be established 
to promote the uptake of active travel in 
Gloucestershire. This work should engage 
the public, businesses, public sector, and 
schools in actions to improve active travel 
uptake. It should consider affordable ways of 
piloting 20mph zones and making changes to 
promote smoother traffic flow, as a means 
to improving health outcomes and reduce 
pollution. This programme of work should 
link with other public health work which is 

Page 131



16 
 

already focusing on behaviour change to 
improve activity levels. e.g. Gloucestershire 
Move.  

Support for electric vehicle use 

Supporting infrastructure and incentivisation 
of electric vehicle use is largely absent in 
Gloucestershire. The evidence suggests that 
electric vehicles can be a key intervention to 
reduce vehicle pollution, but this is currently 
not supported in Gloucestershire. The 
charging infrastructure is sporadic and 
poorly advertised, and there is limited 
incentivisation for electric vehicle use.  

The Gloucestershire County Council budget 
allocation for electric vehicle infrastructure 
represents a unique and major opportunity 
to promote electric vehicle use.  

A strategy sub-group should be set up to 
explore opportunities to promote uptake of 
electric vehicles for both business and 
private use to coincide with the improving 
electric charging infrastructure.  

The groups should also review options to 
incentivise electric vehicle uptake.  

Monitoring of air quality in Gloucestershire 

There is relatively little known about air 
quality in the county. This is mainly due to 
limited coverage of air quality monitoring. 
There is also very little information available 
to the public on air quality in 
Gloucestershire, particularly in ‘real time’. 
The public’s timely access to air quality 
monitoring data is key to how they adapt 
their behaviour to protect themselves from 
exposure, and to take positive action to 
improve air quality.  

Additional mesh pod air quality monitoring 
equipment has been purchased for use in 3 
areas of Gloucester. These measure gases 
and particulates including PM2.5.  

A sub-group of the strategy group should be 
established to review deployment of air 
quality monitoring equipment to other 
districts to help improve understanding of 
air quality in Gloucestershire. The group 
should also make recommendations as to 
how air quality monitoring information can 
be shared with the general public in 
Gloucestershire so they can engage and 
respond to it in a timely way. 

Public sector fleet/contractor fleets 

Public sector vehicle fleets are a key 
opportunity to ‘lead’ by example in terms of 
switching from diesel to cleaner fleet 
vehicles. There are also a substantial number 
of contracts from public sector bodies locally 
(County Council, Districts, and NHS) which 
include transport and delivery services, 
many of which may not be using the cleanest 
options for fleet.   

Public sector bodies should review their 
current in-house vehicle fleets and develop 
fleet replacement plans to make these 
cleaner. A group of public sector bodies 
should also review contracting arrangements 
with providers to understand how these can 
be used as a tool to reduce emissions from 
external contractors’ fleets.  

 

 

 

Page 132



1

 
Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Scrutiny Task Group

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 On 12 July 2017, the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
received a report on the Air Quality Schools Pilot Project. Following a 
discussion, the Committee agreed that a task group should be established 
to consider further issues relating to air pollution. The minutes for the 
meeting can be accessed at: 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId
=8403&Ver=4 

1.2 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee agreed to the 
establishment of a scrutiny task group on air pollution and its impact on 
public health. The ambitions of the task group were to:

- Understand the effects of air pollution on public health and which 
communities within the County are particularly affected;

- Consider actions Gloucestershire County Council and partners could 
take to reduce air pollution and its effects on public health, taking into 
account national legislation on air pollution and the evidence base for 
effective interventions;

- Consider how to improve collaborative working with partners and how 
to channel existing funds and secure national funding to effectively 
reduce the harmful impacts of air pollution within the County;

- Understand how to effectively engage and enable the public to reduce 
air pollution and the impact on their health;

- Complete a Health and Systems Impact Assessment on Air Quality and 
Health in Gloucestershire; and 

- To identify Council policy areas which could contribute to air quality 
improvements, e.g. new housing development, transport, parking and 
energy.

1.3 Membership of the Task Group

Councillors Carole Allaway Martin, Matt Babbage, Rob Bird, Iain Dobie, 
Terry Hale, Jeremy Hilton (Chair), Keith Rippington and Rachel Smith.

Page 133

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8403&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8403&Ver=4


2

1.4 Who did the Task Group speak to?

- Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure 
- Director of Public Health
- Lead Commissioner Community Infrastructure
- Consultant in Public Health
- Data and Analysis Manager (Place)
- Dr Adrian Davis BA, PHD, FFPH, Visiting Professor of Transport and 

Health, and Senior Fellow at the University of the West of England
- Key stakeholders from district councils, partner organisations, and local 

businesses. 

1.5 The following report considers the evidence behind air pollution and its 
impact on public health in Gloucestershire, and sets out the findings and 
recommendations of the task group. A number of the task group’s 
recommendations are focused on the establishment of a Gloucestershire 
Air Quality Monitoring Group, and a Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health 
Partnership, in addition to the development of a county-wide strategy to 
address air pollution and health in Gloucestershire. 

2 BACKGROUND

Air Quality

2.1 As defined by the World Health Organisation, air quality is a measure of the 
degree to which the surrounding air in a given location is pollution free from 
any chemical, physical or biological agent that modifies the natural 
characteristics of the atmosphere. 

2.2 Air pollution is a combination of particles and gases that contribute to poor 
air quality, and can have adverse effects on health. Particulate matter (PM) 
and Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) are the most significant primary air pollutants 
within the UK.

2.3 PM consists of particles from combustion products, soot, part-burnt diesel 
and petrol compounds, rubber and other waste matter from road surfaces, 
and can be generated through construction and agricultural processes. 
PM10 and PM2.5 are of most concern as these particles, due to their size, 
can be inhaled deep into the lungs. NO2 is a gas which, as highlighted by a 
growing evidence base, has a significant impact on public health. One of 
the main sources of NO2 is petrol and diesel road vehicles. Whilst NO2 

emissions have fallen by 69% and PM emissions by 73% since 1970, poor 
air quality continues to be an issue in areas across the country.

Page 134



3

2.4 Air quality objectives for England determine the legal limits pollutant 
concentrations should not exceed in a given area. However, even exposure 
to air pollution measuring below the legal limits can still have an effect on 
health. 

Impact of Pollutants on Public Health

2.5 Evidence has increasingly highlighted the significant impact of air pollution 
on public health. Even exposure over a short time period or to low levels of 
air pollution can impact on health. According to Public Health England, poor 
air quality is the largest environmental risk to public health in the UK. The 
Royal College of Physicians has also estimated that poor air quality is 
responsible for 40,000 premature deaths in the UK annually. In 
Gloucestershire, national modelled data suggests that exposure to PM is 
estimated to contribute to around 278 deaths a year (as referenced in Table 
2, p.22 of Appendix A). 

2.6 Exposure to air pollution can contribute to the development of 
cardiovascular disease, lung cancer, and respiratory diseases, and can 
limit an individual’s quality of life. Those who may be at particular risk from 
the effects of poor air quality include older people, children, people with 
pre-existing lung and heart conditions, and people on lower incomes. 

National Policy 

2.7 In July 2017, the government published the ‘UK plan for tackling roadside 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations’, which sets out the government’s ambition 
for a better environment and cleaner air.

2.8 As detailed in the publication, the government has committed over £2.7 
billion to fund air quality and cleaner transport schemes, including:

-  £1 billion to invest in ultra low emission vehicles (ULEVs);
- £290 million to the National Productivity Fund for reducing transport 

emissions;
- £11 million awarded through the Air Quality Grant scheme to help local 

authorities improve air quality; and
- £1.2 billion identified through the Cycling and Walking Investment 

Strategy which may be invested in cycling and walking from 2016-2021.

2.9 The publication also sets out the requirement for local action plans to be 
developed to deliver the national plan, recognising the importance of action 
at the local level and highlighting the vital role of local authorities in 
addressing air pollution. 

Page 135



4

2.10 Additionally, the government published the ‘Clean Growth Strategy – 
Leading the Way to a Low Carbon Future’ in October 2017, and is expected 
to publish a further strategy on the pathway to zero emission transport for 
all road vehicles by March 2018. The government is also expected to 
release a wider Clean Air Strategy in 2018 setting out how the UK will meet 
its international commitments to significantly reduce emissions of five 
damaging air pollutants by 2020 and 2030.

Air Quality in Gloucestershire

2.11 The main sources of air pollution in Gloucestershire are transport and 
farming. Estimates suggest that levels of PM2.5 are highest in Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury, where they exceed regional averages, whilst NO2 levels 
are estimated to be at their highest in north Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
around Gloucestershire Airport. Evidence also indicates that deprived 
populations in Gloucestershire disproportionately bear the impact of air 
pollution, and levels of NO2 are higher in areas in Gloucestershire where 
there are a higher proportion of children.

2.12 The legal obligation to monitor air pollution lies with the district councils in 
the County. If the legal limits for air pollutants are exceeded, the district 
councils have a responsibility to declare an air quality management area 
(AQMA). There are a number of AQMAs across the County, including:

- a town wide AQMA in Cheltenham;
- at Painswick Road, Barton Street and Priory Road in Gloucester;
- the town centre in Tewkesbury; 
- Lydney town centre in the Forest of Dean; and 
- at the Air Balloon roundabout in the Cotswolds.  

2.13 The issue of poor air quality within Gloucestershire has also been 
highlighted by a recent High Court ruling in London on 21 February 2018. 
The ruling orders ministers to require local authorities to investigate and 
identify measures to tackle illegal levels of pollution in 33 towns and cities 
as soon as possible. Cheltenham is one of the areas affected by the ruling. 

Action to Address Air Pollution within the County

2.14 A number of strategies have already been implemented within the County 
by Gloucestershire County Council to address the issue of poor air quality.

2.15 In particular, the 2016/17 Council budget included £50,000 to carry out an 
independent study of air quality outside schools. As part of the Air Quality 
Schools Pilot Project, the Council worked with district councils and schools 

Page 136



5

in Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Cheltenham to examine solutions to reduce 
pollution levels outside primary and secondary schools in AQMAs.

2.16 Other actions to tackle air pollution by the Council include investment into 
cycling and walking projects, subsidised transport projects, and reviewing 
specifications in transport contracts.

3 MULTI-STAKEHOLDER WORKSHOP ON AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH

3.1 In order to gain an understanding of the relationship between public health 
and air quality, to examine the evidence base on the issue, and to prioritise 
actions to take forward, the task group hosted a health and systems impact 
assessment stakeholder workshop on air quality and health in 
Gloucestershire.

3.2 The workshop took place on 16 January 2018 and was attended by 55 
delegates representing a wide range of organisations, including 
Gloucestershire County Council, the district councils, GFirst LEP, NHS 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, South West Highways 
England, Public Health England, Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust, 
Stagecoach, and the University of Gloucestershire. 

3.3 An evidence pack (Appendix A) was collated and shared with the task 
group and stakeholders prior to the workshop to inform discussions. 
Following a presentation by Dr Adrian Davis BA, PHD, FFPH, Visiting 
Professor of Transport and Health, and Senior Fellow at the University of 
the West of England, delegates were allocated to five discussion tables and 
were asked to consider the following questions:

- What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is making air quality worse?
- What are we doing in Gloucestershire that is helping to improve air 

quality?
- What changes should we make in Gloucestershire to improve air 

quality and reduce its impact on our health?
- What are the challenges and barriers to making positive changes in 

Gloucestershire?
- What are the top three changes you would prioritise for Gloucestershire 

to improve air quality and/ or reduce its impact on our health?

3.4 The outcomes from the workshop were collated into a report (Appendix B), 
which was presented to the task group to inform their findings. 

Page 137



6

4 FINDINGS

4.1 When considering its recommendations, the task group reflected on the 
outcomes and recommendations from the multi-stakeholder workshop, 
which provided the group with an understanding of the relationship between 
air quality and public health, and the actions that could be taken forward to 
address the issue of air quality in Gloucestershire. 

Air Quality Monitoring

4.2 The task group understands that the evidence for air pollution levels in 
Gloucestershire is currently heavily based on modelled data. The 
monitoring of air quality is limited across the County, and only includes 
NO2.The task group recognises the importance of improving air quality 
monitoring, in order to develop a comprehensive evidence base on air 
pollution levels. Considering that the strongest evidence base for the 
impact on the public’s health is related to PM, it is particularly important that 
this is addressed in the approach to monitoring. 

4.3 The collection of data through increased air quality monitoring will 
contribute to a better understanding of air quality issues within the County, 
including the identification of areas particularly affected by air pollution. The 
data can be used to develop effective strategies to address poor air quality 
and to measure the success of these strategies. The data can also be 
shared with the public to inform behaviour choices and action to address air 
pollution by communities and individuals. 

4.4 The task group welcomes the recent investment by the Council into 
additional mesh pod air quality monitoring equipment, which can be used to 
measure gases and particulates, including PM2.5, across three areas in 
Gloucestershire. However, the task group believes that, given the 
considerable risk posed to public health by air pollution, and in particular 
PM, further work needs to be carried out to improve monitoring across the 
County.

Recommendation 1: The task group recommends that a 
Gloucestershire Air Quality Monitoring Group, comprising of relevant 
officers from the district and county councils, be established by the 
end of September 2018 to:

- Evaluate how to improve air quality monitoring across 
Gloucestershire;

- Focus air quality monitoring on PM;

Page 138



7

- Review the deployment of air quality monitoring equipment across 
Gloucestershire to improve understanding of air pollution levels;

- Analyse the data collected across the County to develop 
objectives to address air pollution levels;

- Monitor the impact of interventions to improve air quality across 
the County; and to

- Consider how air quality monitoring information can be shared 
with the public.

Leadership and Collaboration 

4.5 The task group recognises that partnership working across both public and 
private sector organisations is crucial to drive forward strategies to improve 
air quality and to reduce the impact of air pollution on public health in 
Gloucestershire. Leadership to develop this collaboration is vital.

4.6 There are already good examples of collaborative working across 
Gloucestershire, such as the development of the Joint Core Strategy 
between Gloucester City Council, Cheltenham Borough Council, and 
Tewkesbury Borough Council. The multi-stakeholder workshop also 
highlights the enthusiasm across organisations to work collaboratively 
towards improving air quality and reducing the impact on public health 
within the County. Nevertheless, the task group feels that there is still too 
much ‘silo working’, with organisations and departments working 
independently to address the issues. 

4.7 The group believes that there needs to be a partnership approach across 
organisations to address air quality in the County, which includes the 
development of a wider, unifying air quality strategy. The County Council 
should have a leading role in facilitating this partnership approach.

Recommendation 2: The task group recommends that a 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership, comprising of 
representatives from both public and private sector organisations, 
including the relevant Gloucestershire County Council Cabinet 
Member, be established by December 2018 to drive the development 
and delivery of the agenda for air quality and health in 
Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 3: The task group recommends that the terms of 
reference and membership for the Gloucestershire Air Quality and 
Health Partnership be presented for consideration at a meeting of the 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee.

Page 139



8

Recommendation 4: The task group recommends that the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership develop a strategy 
to address air quality and health within Gloucestershire by June 2019. 

Recommendation 5: The task group recommends that the 
Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership report into the 
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board on strategy development 
and implementation. Updates on progress should also be reported 
and scrutinised at both the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee and Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
the County Council. 

Public Awareness and Engagement 

4.8 Increased public awareness of air pollution and its impact on health is 
crucial in order to change the public mind-set towards the issue. The task 
group notes that, currently, the public is not fully aware of the impact of 
poor air quality on communities and the health of individuals.

4.9 Information on air quality needs to be made more accessible to the public, 
and should include data on air pollution levels across the County. This 
information will enable the public to make informed choices regarding their 
behaviour, such as their method of travel, and will help the public to 
develop actions to reduce air pollution and the impact it has on health. 

Recommendation 6: The task group recommends that a website and 
information material be developed by the Gloucestershire Air Quality 
Monitoring Group to provide the public with information on air quality 
and its impact on health within Gloucestershire, including access to 
real-time air quality monitoring data in open data format, and actions 
members of the public and private sector can take to address the 
issue. 

Planning and Transport Policies 

4.10 The task group understands that current planning policies do not explicitly 
promote consideration of air quality in the development of new schemes. 
However, the group feels that this area is key to delivering improvements to 
air quality in Gloucestershire, by addressing the issues earlier rather than 
later in the planning process when it may become too difficult or expensive.

4.11 The task group recognises the opportunity to promote air quality objectives 
through Joint Core Strategy development plans, however believes there 
should be wider consideration of air quality in the development of other 

Page 140



9

planning policies. The consideration of air quality should also be included in 
the development of transport policies, such as the Gloucestershire Local 
Transport Plan. 

4.12 The task group also understands the effects of traffic congestion on 
increased air pollution levels, which subsequently impacts on health. The 
task group believes that interventions should be developed to tackle 
congestion on the roads, which will improve air pollution levels across the 
County. 

Recommendation 7: The task group recommends that the district and 
county councils in Gloucestershire take account of air quality when 
developing planning and transport policies, including consideration 
of the impact of additional traffic on air quality, and active travel into 
larger development proposals and highway schemes. 

Recommendation 8: The task group recommends that greater 
recognition of the impact of transport on air quality and public health 
is included in the review of the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan. 
This should include more ambitious targets set for trips made by 
sustainable and active travel.

Recommendation 9: The task group recommends that 
Gloucestershire County Council consider highways interventions to 
reduce congestion and pollution across Gloucestershire. 

Electric Vehicles

4.13 The task group recognises the importance of investment into infrastructure 
to support the use of electric vehicles in the County, and welcomes the 
investment of £470,000 by the Council in its 2018-19 budget into an Electric 
Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Delivery Programme to include on-street 
charging points and the provision of Council electric vehicles. The task 
group feels that additional work should be undertaken to further explore the 
opportunities to promote the uptake of electric vehicles.

Recommendation 10: The task group recommends that a sub-group of 
the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership be established 
to explore opportunities to promote uptake of electric vehicles for 
both business and private use, and to review options to incentivise 
electric vehicle uptake. 

Page 141



10

Active Travel 

4.14 Active travel, such as walking and cycling, is a cleaner and healthier way 
for members of the public to travel. The task group identifies the promotion 
of active travel as an important intervention to improve air quality and 
reduce reliance on car use. The task group also recognises the benefits of 
active travel for other public health concerns, such as obesity. 

4.15 Current measures to promote active travel within Gloucestershire include 
school active travel plans, the establishment of a Cycling Advisory Group 
by the Council, and the development of a Think Travel Coordinator role at 
the Council. Additionally, some infrastructure to support active travel 
already exists, however it is often fragmented and inadequate in terms of 
capacity and range. The task group therefore supports further 
improvements to promote and enable active travel in Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 11: The task group recommends that 
Gloucestershire County Council establish a programme of work to 
promote the uptake of active travel in Gloucestershire. This work 
should engage the public, local businesses, the district councils, 
other public sector organisations, and schools. This programme of 
work should also link with other public health schemes that are 
already focusing on behaviour change to improve activity levels, such 
as Gloucestershire Moves. 

Public Transport and Public Sector Fleets

4.16 The task group recognises the role of public transport in contributing to a 
change in travel behaviour to reduce air pollution, and the significance of 
making public transport more accessible so that it can become a viable 
alternative to car travel. Members of the task group also support 
improvements to the public transport and taxi fleet in the County so that 
vehicles are more fuel efficient and emit less pollution. 

4.17 Finally, the task group also feels that the vehicle fleets used by the Council, 
district councils, and NHS within Gloucestershire should be fuel efficient 
and less polluting. By reviewing its fleet and developing plans to reduce the 
emissions of its vehicles, the Council can lead by example and promote the 
adoption of cleaner vehicles to other organisations within Gloucestershire. 

 
Recommendation 12: The task group recommends that a sub-group of 
the Gloucestershire Air Quality and Health Partnership be established 
to review:

Page 142



11

- Interventions to accelerate the uptake of cleaner vehicles for 
public transport and taxis, including the role of licensing policies 
and additional infrastructure requirements; 

- The specification of transport contracts to better understand the 
effects of stricter emissions standards on areas of poor air 
quality, and any implications for accessibility;

- County Council, district council and NHS vehicle fleets, and 
develop plans to reduce the emissions of these fleets; and

- County Council, district council, and NHS contracting 
arrangements with providers to reduce emissions from external 
contractors’ fleets.

 
The sub-group is to make recommendations to the County Council, 
district councils and NHS in respect of its findings.

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy development update

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  

The report contains an update of progress on the Gloucestershire Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy development. It presents a proposed vision for health 
and wellbeing, branding for the strategy, a definition of prevention and outlines 
next steps in the development process. 

Recommendations to Board: 

1. To note the progress made in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
development

2. To agree the proposed vision (paragraph 9)
3. To agree the proposed branding logos (figure 1)
4. To agree the ‘prevention’ wording for the strategy and as a shared 

understand of what we mean be prevention (paragraph 13)

Financial/Resource Implications: 

Resource implications for engagement and consultation requirements. These are being 
kept to a minimum and will be met from within the existing Public Health Grant 
Allocation.

The main body of the report starts here. Please use plain English with all acronyms 
explained and please number paragraphs.

Please use Arial font size 12. 

Page numbers are not required.

Page 145

Agenda Item 10



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy development – 
update report

Purpose
1. To purpose of this paper is to provide a timely update on the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy development. The paper also outlines and seeks the Health 
and Wellbeing Board’s agreement on the following:
 A proposed vision statement 
 Branding design / logo to be used in communications on the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy
 A definition for prevention

Background
2. The Local Government Association Prevention System Peer Challenge in 

February 2018 made nine key recommendations. Alongside the need to refresh 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy with greater community input, the 
recommendations also included the need to set out a fuller vision for health and 
wellbeing, define ‘prevention’ clearly, include the wider determinants of health and 
make greater use of the voluntary and community sector to provide community 
insight. 

3. The July 2018, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed a plan for developing the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy through an approach aimed at strengthening 
local area working, community input and working with the voluntary and 
community sector. Additional, there was agreement on the principles for ways of 
working as a Health and Wellbeing Board and a systems operating model to work 
towards.

4. A strategy development steering group has been established and the Prevention 
and Self Care Board has fulfilled a working group role for the development 
process. Links have been made through district councils and the District Council’s 
Strategic Directors group has been established as a communication mechanism. 

5. The Health and Wellbeing Board see that the forthcoming Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy would be ideally positioned to act as a mechanism for 
delivering the Vision 2050 ambition of a ‘healthy and happy’ Gloucestershire. 

6. Following agreement on the strategy development plan, the next stage has 
included setting a vision, designing the brand image for the strategy, mapping and 
understanding previous health and wellbeing community engagement findings 
and developing a stakeholder and community engagement plan. 

7. A Health and Wellbeing Board development session was held in September 2018 
and provided initial input into the vision statement and branding for the strategy. 
These elements have been further developed through the Prevention and Self 
Care Board. 

8. The current stage of the strategy development includes conducting workshops 
with communities and wider stakeholders to understand what they view as the 
health and wellbeing priorities.

Page 146



Proposed vision 
9. It is proposed that the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets the following 

vision statement:

‘Gloucestershire is a place where everyone can live well,         
be healthy and thrive’

Proposed branding logo
10.Branding the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy will provide a clear identity and 

is an initial stage in part of a wider communications plan. It will help create 
cohesion across the strategy messages. 

11.Gloucestershire County Council communications team developed a number of 
brand logos which were shared at the Health and Wellbeing Development session 
and later refined through the Prevention and Self Care Board (see figure 1). The 
Prevention and Self Care Board suggested that the wording was ‘wellbeing and 
health’ as oppose to ‘health and wellbeing’ to place a greater emphasis on the 
‘wellbeing’ aspect. 

Figure 1: Branding logo design

Clarify a definition of prevention
12.Prevention and encouraging people to be more proactive about their health and 

wellbeing is also central to the vision. The Local Government Association Peer 
Challenge recommended that a clear and consistent definition of ‘prevention’ 
should be developed, owned and used by all partners. It is proposed that the 
following paragraphs are used in the strategy:

13.Prevention means different things to different people. The framework of primary, 
secondary and tertiary prevention is useful for helping to define what we mean by 
prevention: 

 Primary prevention includes health improvement and requires action on the 
determinants of health to prevent disease occurring. It has been described 
as refocusing upstream to stop people falling in to the waters of disease.

 Secondary prevention is essentially the early detection of disease, followed 
by appropriate intervention, such as health improvement activity or 
treatment.

Page 147



 Tertiary prevention aims to reduce the impact of the disease and promote 
quality of life through active rehabilitation.

14.At a population level health improvement opportunities look to prevent the need 
for treatment services are more cost effective than treating people. 

Community and other stakeholder engagement activity
15.The Local Government Association Prevention System Peer Challenge 

recommended: 
‘greater community input to ensure that there is a clear focus on the population’s 
health and wellbeing’ 

and to make ‘greater use of 
‘the voluntary and community sector to provide community insight on needs and 
for local delivery of priorities and plans’

Previous consultation
16.Acknowledging that there has been a wealth of previous engagement and 

consultation about health and wellbeing with various populations within 
Gloucestershire, there has been an attempt to gather these and summarise the 
findings. The scope of this included findings from the engagement events and 
consultations which occurred and were analysed between January 2017 and 
August 2018. The purpose was to assess which communities have already 
responded in relation to what is important to them for health and wellbeing and to 
identify any specific populations to target in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy development. 

17. In summary, most to the previous engagement and consultant activity assessed 
focused on service delivery and does not help to identify what the health and 
wellbeing priorities through the perspective of our communities. However, mental 
health, loneliness, social and community connections where key themes in many 
of the consultations reports. The summary report is in the process of being 
finalised. 

Strategy development engagement activity
18.The engagement plan for developing the strategy focuses on using opportunities 

where groups are already meeting. Figure 2 shows the different types of groups 
we have mapped for engagement. At a place based level, strategic level district 
boards and the Integrated Locality Boards (ILBs) have been included. At a 
neighbourhood and community level, groups and forums have been identified 
through the district councils, the Prevention and Self Care Board and the Enabling 
Active Communities Board. 

Page 148



Figure 2: Various levels of stakeholder and community engagement

Community

Neigh-
bourhood

Place

System

19.The protected characteristics identified in the Equality Act 2010 has been taken 
into consideration to ensure robust engagement and consultation. 

20.Between October and December 2018, community and stakeholder engagement 
focuses on identifying what the high level priorities are for health and wellbeing. 
This is through workshops at the various identified forums and groups. 

21.Newly formed data profile packs at a district level have been created to be used 
at the priority themed workshops. These include the wider determinants of health 
and wellbeing.

Next steps
22.Findings from the priority identifying workshop sessions will be themed and 

reported back to the Health and Wellbeing Board in January 2019. 

23.A priority setting framework will be formed, of which community and wider 
stakeholder voice will form one of the criteria. 

24.Between February and March 2019, the same identified forums and groups will 
be involved in developing a local understand of what the priorities mean to them 
and how these translate into local objectives. 

25.The strategy will be drafted in spring 2019 and the same forums and groups will 
be presented with the draft strategy as part of the wider formal consultation. 

26.The information gathered at a community and neighbourhood level, will help to 
inform the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment going forward. The refresh of this 
will start spring 2019. 

- End 

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title General Report on Activity on HWB related matters in 
Gloucestershire 

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor

Author Mary Hutton, Accountable Officer Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Organisation

Key Issues:  
At the Board development session on 17 July 2018 it was agreed that it would 
be useful to include information on the agenda on Board related matters for 
information.

Recommendations to Board: 

The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report and identify any 
other areas for information that it would want included in future reports.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None

Page 151

Agenda Item 11



1. Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England Consultations

Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 
available via the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations

Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS England 
website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/

These websites also include responses to closed consultations.

 Calorie labelling for food and drink served outside of the home
            https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/calorie-labelling-for-food-and-
drink-served-outside-of-the-home

This consultation is seeking views on making places that serve food and drink 
outside of the home show calorie information (calorie labelling). 
            This consultation closes at 11:59pm on 7 December 2018.

 Ending the sale of energy drinks to children
            https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ending-the-sale-of-energy-
drinks-to-children
            The government is seeking views on whether the sale of energy drinks to 
           children should be stopped.
            This consultation closes at 11:59pm on 21 November 2018

 Department of Health and Social Care Policies

The following web link provides access to Department of Health and Social Care 
Policies:
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=depart
ment-of-health 

2. Gloucestershire’s Joint Strategy for Children & Young People with 
Additional Needs, Including Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) 
2018-2021

 The Special Educational Needs (SEND) reforms introduced in 2014 expected 
effective multi-agency working in local areas to meet the needs of children and 
young people 

 Gloucestershire local area had a successful Ofsted & CQC SEND inspection 
in June 2016 and our successful joint working needs to continue to improve 
outcomes for children and young people to meet statutory requirements.

 The rise in the number of children and young people with additional needs 
and/or SEND and the stable (or reducing) budget across organisations is 
requiring a more significant shift in how the needs of children and young 
people are identified and met through effective multi-agency planning and 
commissioning

 This strategy sets out the county’s vision to develop and provide services that 
achieve positive outcomes for children and young people with additional 
needs. It has been developed as a partnership with all stakeholders including 

Page 152

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/calorie-labelling-for-food-and-drink-served-outside-of-the-home
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/calorie-labelling-for-food-and-drink-served-outside-of-the-home
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ending-the-sale-of-energy-drinks-to-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/ending-the-sale-of-energy-drinks-to-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=department-of-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies?keywords=&organisations%5B%5D=department-of-health


parents and carers, schools and colleges, health and social care. It replaces 
the county’s SEND strategy taking into account the engagement with children 
and young people and their families through our work with the Parent Carer 
Forum and direct discussions with other parent carers and children and young 
people’s groups (through schools and youth groups).   

 Delivery of this strategy will be through existing resources across both 
organisations, and all other services currently supporting children and young 
people with additional needs

 One-off project funding for specific pieces of work (i.e. Quality Lead role and 
co-producing participation strategy) will be funded through the 2018/19 SEND 
Reform Grant held by the County Council.

The strategy is available at this link 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s48713/StrategyFinal16Aug_18%20
2.pdf. 

3. England/Wales Cross-border Healthcare
There are currently approx. 8,800 residents in Gloucestershire who are registered
with a GP practice that is registered with the NHS in Wales.

Whilst NHS Gloucestershire CCG remains the legally responsible commissioner for 
this population, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board commission and pay for 
health services for these residents on the CCG’s behalf.

Following an inquiry by the Welsh Affairs Committee, the UK Government 
recommended further work should be undertaken nationally to review health care 
arrangements for patients living on both sides of the border.

A Statement of Values and Principles (SVP) has now been developed, replacing the 
Protocol for Cross-Border Healthcare Services 2013. The SVP aims to ensure 
smooth and efficient interaction between health care organisations on both sides of 
the England/Wales border, supporting better outcomes for patients and avoiding the 
fragmentation of care.

These arrangements ensure that Gloucestershire residents, who are registered with 
a Welsh registered GP practice, are able to receive secondary care in accordance 
with their rights under the NHS Constitution.

4. GP Patient Survey 2018
The GP Patient Survey (GPPS) is an England-wide survey, providing practice-level 
data about patients’ experiences of their GP practices. Ipsos MORI administers the 
survey on behalf of NHS England. For more information about the survey please visit 
https://gp-patient.co.uk// 

The survey questionnaire has been redeveloped for 2018 in response to significant 
changes to primary care services as set out in the GP Forward View, and to provide 
a better understanding of how local care services are supporting patients to live well, 
particularly those with long-term care needs. The questionnaire (and past versions) 
can be found here: https://gp-patient.co.uk/surveysandreports.

The GP Patient Survey measures patients’ experiences across a range of topics, 
including:

Page 153

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s48713/StrategyFinal16Aug_18%202.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s48713/StrategyFinal16Aug_18%202.pdf
https://gp-patient.co.uk//
https://gp-patient.co.uk/surveysandreports


 Making appointments
 Perceptions of care at appointments
 Managing health conditions

The GP Patient Survey provides data at practice level using a consistent 
methodology, which means it is comparable across organisations.
The survey has limitations:

 Sample sizes at practice level are relatively small.
 The survey does not include qualitative data which limits the detail provided by
 the results.
 The data is provided once a year rather than in real time.

However, given the consistency of the survey across organisations, GPPS can be 
used as one element of evidence. It can be triangulated with other sources of 
feedback, such as feedback from Patient Participation Groups, local surveys and the 
Friends and Family Test, to develop a fuller picture of patient journeys.

Practices and CCGs can then discuss the findings further and triangulate them with 
other data – in order to identify potential improvements and highlight best practice.

The results of the National GP Patient Survey 2018 were published on 9 August
2018. In NHS Gloucestershire CCG, 20,334 questionnaires were sent out, and 8,987 
were returned completed. This represents a response rate of 44%.

Gloucestershire CCG achieved above the national average (positive results) for all 
questions overall in the survey in 2018. The results below are a selection of results 
from the survey questionnaire, which represent the overall GCCG results. It should 
be noted there is variation between practices within Gloucestershire. Results for 
individual practices can be found on the GP Patient Survey website. 

 Overall experience of GP practice
89% of Gloucestershire respondents rated their overall experience as good
(compared to national average of 84%).

 Ease of getting through to the GP practice on the telephone
83% of Gloucestershire respondents said it was easy to get through (compared to
national average of 70%).

 Helpfulness of receptionists
93% of Gloucestershire respondents said receptionists were helpful (compared to
national average of 90%).

 Ease of use of practice website to look for information or access services
85% of Gloucestershire respondents said it was easy to use their practice website
(compared to national average of 78%).
17

 Overall experience of making an appointment
76% of Gloucestershire respondents said they had a good experience of making
an appointment at their GP practice (compared to national average of 69%).

 Mental health needs recognised and understood

Page 154



90% of Gloucestershire respondents felt that the healthcare professional had 
recognised and/or understood any mental health needs they had (compared to 
national average of 87%)

 Support with managing long term conditions (last 12 months)
84% of Gloucestershire respondents said they had enough support from local 
services or organisations to help them to manage their condition/s (compared to 
national average of 79%).

5. Safeguarding
The Annual Report of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board is available 
at this link https://www.gscb.org.uk/gloucestershire-safeguarding-children-
board/annual-report-and-business-plans/. 

The Annual Report of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board is available at 
this link https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-
board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/.

Page 155

https://www.gscb.org.uk/gloucestershire-safeguarding-children-board/annual-report-and-business-plans/
https://www.gscb.org.uk/gloucestershire-safeguarding-children-board/annual-report-and-business-plans/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/safeguarding-adults-board/safeguarding-adults-annual-reports-and-strategic-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 2017/18
	7 Self Harm Update
	Preventing Self-Harm Action Plan V7
	Mental Health Strategy [5]

	9 Air Quality and health deep dive
	Appendix A - Air Quality and Health in Gloucestershire Report
	Appendix B - Workshop Outcomes Report
	Appendix C - Air Pollution Task Group Final Report

	10 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWBS) update
	11 General Report on Activity on HWB matters in Gloucestershire



